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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K
ANNUAL REPORT
pursuant to Section 13 or 15 (d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002

1-2360
(Commission file number)

INTERNATIONAL BUSINESS MACHINES CORPORATION

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

NEW YORK 13-0871985
(State of Incorporation) (IRS Employer Identification Number)
ARMONK, NEW YORK 10504
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

914-499-1900
(Registrant's telephone number)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Voting shares outstanding Name of each exchange
Title of each class at February 28, 2003 on which registered
Capital stock, par value $.20 per share 1,726,322,381 New York Stock Exchange

Chicago Stock Exchange
Pacific Stock Exchange

6.45% Notes due 2007 New York Stock Exchange

5.375% Notes due 2009 New York Stock Exchange

7.50% Debentures due 2013 New York Stock Exchange
8.375% Debentures due 2019 New York Stock Exchange
7.00% Debentures due 2025 New York Stock Exchange
6.22% Debentures due 2027 New York Stock Exchange
6.50% Debentures due 2028 New York Stock Exchange
7.00% Debentures due 2045 New York Stock Exchange
7.125% Debentures due 2096 New York Stock Exchange

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 ath#&5(d) of
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required
to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Xes |

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contamed herei
and will not be contained, to the best of registrant's knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by
reference in Part Ill of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form £g-K.

Indicate by check mark whether registrant is an accelerated filer (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 1Z&}2).N@s

O

The aggregate market value of the voting stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant at February 28, 2003 was
$134.6 billion.

Documents incorporated by reference:

Portions of IBM's Annual Report to Stockholders for the year ended December 31, 2002 into Parts I, Il and IV of
Form 10-K.

Portions of IBM's definitive Proxy Statement dated March 10, 2003 into Part Il of Form 10-K.
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Iltem 1. Business:

International Business Machines Corporation (IBM) was incorporated in the State of New York on June 16, 1911, as the
Computing-Tabulating-Recording Co. (C-T-R), a consolidation of the Computing Scale Co. of America, the Tabulating
Machine Co., and The International Time Recording Co. of New York. In 1924, C-T-R adopted the name International
Business Machines Corporation.

IBM uses advanced information technology to provide customer solutions. The company operates primarily in a single
industry using several segments that create value by offering a variety of solutions that include, either singularly or in some
combination, technologies, systems, products, services, software and financing.

Organizationally, the company's major operations comprise a Global Services segment; three hardware product
segments—Systems Group, Personal Systems Group and Technology Group; a Software segment; a Global Financing
segment and an Enterprise Investments segment. The segments are determined based on several factors, including customer
base, homogeneity of products, technology and delivery channels.

IBM offers its products through its global sales and distribution organizations. The sales and distribution onganizatio
have both a geographic focus (in the Americas, Europe/Middle East/Africa, and Asia Pacific) and a specialized and global
industry focus. In addition, these organizations include a global sales and distribution effort devoted exclusively td small an
medium businesses. IBM also offers its products through a variety of third party distributors and resellers, as well as through
its on-line channels.

While the company's various proprietary intellectual property rights are important to its success, IBM believes its
business as a whole is not materially dependent on any particular patent or license, or any particular group of patents or
licenses. IBM owns or is licensed under a number of patents, which vary in duration, relating to its products. Licenses under
patents owned by IBM have been and are being granted to others under reasonable terms and conditions. These protections
may not prevent competitors from independently developing products and services similar to or duplicative of the company's
nor can there be any assurance that these protections will adequately deter misappropriation or improper use of the company's
technology. Also, there can be no assurances that IBM will be able to obtain from third parties the licenses it needs in the
future.

IBM's businesses employ a wide variety of components, supplies and raw materials from a substantial number of
suppliers around the world. Certain of the company's businesses rely on a single or limited number of suppliers, although the
company makes every effort to assure that alternative sources are available if the need arises. The failure of the company's
suppliers to deliver components, supplies and raw materials in sufficient quantities and in a timely manner could adversely
affect the company's business.

IBM's revenues are affected by such factors as the introduction of new products, the length of the sales cycles and the
seasonality of technology purchases. As a result, the company's results are difficult to predict. These factors histerically ha
resulted in lower revenue in the first quarter than in the immediately preceding fourth quarter.

The value of unfilled orders is not a meaningful indicator of future revenues from the company's product offerings due
to the significant proportion of revenue from services, the volume of products delivered from shelf inventories, and the
shortening of product delivery schedules. With respect to the company's Global Services segment, in 2002 the company
signed contracts totaling $53 billion, which contributed to a services backlog at December 31, 2002 of $112 billion,
compared with $102 billion at the end of 2001.

The company operates in businesses that are subject to intense competitive pressures. The company's businesses face ¢
significant number of competitors, ranging from Fortune 50 companies to

1




Prepared by Merrill Corporation at www.edgaradvantage.com Printed: 10-Mar-2003;14:03:18 (v1.37) HTML Page: 3
File: DISK038:[03NYC7.03NYC1807]DA1807A.;36 Created: 10-MAR-2003;11:30 Chksum; 438485 Folio: 2
User: SGUNTHE EFW: 2102367 Client: 1BM CORPORATION Doc# 1

an increasing number of relatively small, rapidly growing and highly specialized organizations. The company believes that its
combination of technology, performance, quality, reliability, price and the breadth of products and service offerings are
important competitive factors.

Intense competitive pressures could affect prices or demand for the company's products and services, resulting in
reduced profit margins and /or loss of market opportunity. Unlike many of its competitors, the company has a portfolio of
businesses and must allocate resources across these businesses while competing with companies that specialize in one or
more of these product lines. As a result, the company may not fund or invest in certain of its businesses to the same degree
that its competitors do and these competitors may have greater financial, technical and marketing resources available to them
than the businesses against which they compete.

The company operates in more than 160 countries worldwide and derives more than half of its revenues from sales
outside the United States. Changes in the laws or policies of the countries in which the company operates could affect the
company's business in that country and the company's results of operations. The company's results of operations also could b
affected by economic and political changes in those countries and by macroeconomic changes, including recessions and
inflation.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors approved the categories of all non-audit services performed by the
company's independent accountants during the period covered by this report.

The following information is included in IBM's 2002 Annual Report to Stockholders and is incorporated herein by
reference:

Segment information and revenue by classes of similar products or services—Pages 100 to 104.
Financial information by geographic areas—Page 104.

Amount spent during each of the last three years on research and development activities—Page 90.
Financial information regarding environmental activities—Page 87.

The number of persons employed by the registrant—Page 60.

The management discussion overview—Pages 43 and 44.

Available information—Page 107.

Forward-looking and Cautionary Statements: Certain statements contained in this Annual Report may constitute
"forward-looking statements" within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 ("Reform Act").
The company may also make forward-looking statements in other reports filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, in materials delivered to stockholders and in press releases. In addition, the company's representatives may
from time to time make oral forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements provide current expectations of future
events based on certain assumptions and include any statement that does not directly relate to any historical or current fact.
Words such as "anticipates,” "believes," "expects, " plans," "projects," and similar expressions, may

estimates,” "intends,
identify such forward-looking statements. The company assumes no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking
statements. In accordance with the Reform Act, set forth below are cautionary statements that accompany those
forward-looking statements. Readers should carefully review these cautionary statements as they identify certain important
factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements and from historical
trends. The following cautionary statements are not exclusive and are in addition to other factors discussed elsewhere in this
Annual Report, in the company's filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission or in materials incorporated therein
by reference.

New Products and the Pace of Technological Change: The company's results of operations depend on the continued
successful development and marketing of new and innovative products and services. The development of hew products and
services requires significant capital investments by the company's various businesses and the success of these products and
services depends on their acceptance by customers and business partners. Further, the company's businesses are characteri:
by rapid technological changes and corresponding shifts in customer demand, resulting in unpredictable product
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transitions and shortened life cycles and increasing emphasis on being first to market with new products and services.

There can be no assurance that the company will successfully introduce new products and services, that these products
and services will be accepted by customers, or that the company's businesses will recoup or realize a return on their capital
investments. In addition, from time to time the company may experience difficulties or delays in the development, production
or marketing of new products and services.

Volatility of Stock Prices: The company's stock price is affected by a number of factors, including quarterlysvariation
results, the competitive landscape, general economic and market conditions and estimates and projections by the investment
community. As a result, like other technology companies, the company's stock price is subject to significant volatility.

Dependence on and Compensation of Key Personnel: Much of the future success of the company depends on the
continued service and availability of skilled personnel, including technical, marketing and staff positions. Experienced
personnel in the information technology industry are in high demand and competition for their talents is intense. There can be
no assurance that the company will be able to successfully retain and attract the key personnel it needs. Many of the
company's key personnel receive a total compensation package that includes stock options and other equity awards. New
regulations, volatility in the stock market and other factors could diminish the value of the company's equity awards, putting
the company at a competitive disadvantage or forcing the company to use more cash compensation.

Currency and Customer Financing Risks: The company derives a significant percentage of its non-U.S. revenues from
its affiliates operating in local currency environments and its results are affected by changes in the relative value$of non-U
currencies and the U.S. dollar. Further, inherent in the company's customer financing business are risks related to the
concentration of credit risk and the creditworthiness of the customer, interest rate and currency fluctuations on thet associate
debt and liabilities and the determination of residual values. The company employs a number of strategies to manage these
risks, including the use of derivative financial instruments. Derivatives involve the risk of non-performance by the
counterparty. In addition, there can be no assurance that the company's efforts to manage these risks will be successful.

Distribution Channels: The company offers its products directly and through a variety of third party distributors and
resellers. Changes in the financial or business condition of these distributors and resellers could subject the comgsny to loss
and affect its ability to bring its products to market.

Acquisitions and Alliances: The company has made and expects to continue to make acquisitions or enter into alliances
from time to time. Acquisitions and alliances present significant challenges and risks relating to the integration of the
business into the company, and there can be no assurances that the company will manage acquisitions and alliances
successfully.

Item 2. Properties:

At December 31, 2002, IBM's manufacturing and development facilities in the United States had aggregate floor space
of 34 million square feet, of which 23 million was owned and 11 million was leased. Of these amounts, 4 million square feet
was vacant and 2 million square feet was being leased to non-IBM businesses. Similar facilities in 16 other countries totaled
15 million square feet, of which 10 million was owned and 5 million was leased. Of these amounts, 1 million square feet was
vacant and 2 million square feet was being leased to non-IBM businesses.

Although improved production techniques, productivity gains and infrastructure reduction actions have resulted in
reduced manufacturing floor space, continuous upgrading of facilities is essential to maintain technological leadership,
improve productivity, and meet customer demand. For additional information on expenditures for plant, rental machines and
other property, refer to "Investments" on pages 56 of IBM's 2002 Annual Report to Stockholders which is incorporated
herein by reference.
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Executive Officers of the Registrant (at March 10, 2003):

Officer

Age since
Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer
Samuel J. Palmisano 51 1997
Senior Vice Presidents:
Nicholas M. Donofrio, Group Executive 57 1995
Douglas T. Elix, Group Executive 54 1999
J. Bruce Harreld, Strategy 52 1995
Paul M. Horn, Research 56 1996
Jon C. lwata, Communications 40 2002
John R. Joyce, Chief Financial Officer 49 1999
John E. Kelly 1ll, Group Executive 49 2000
Abby F. Kohnstamm, Marketing 49 1998
J. Michael Lawrie, Group Executive 49 2001
Edward M. Lineen, General Counsel 62 2002
Mark Loughridge, Group Executive 49 1998
J. Randall MacDonald, Human Resources 54 2000
Steven A. Mills, Group Executive 51 2000
Robert W. Moffat, Jr., Group Executive 46 2002
Linda S. Sanford, Group Executive 50 2000
Stephen M. Ward, Jr., Group Executive 47 2003
William M. Zeitler, Group Executive 55 2000
Vice Presidents:
Daniel E. O'Donnell, Secretary 55 1998
Jesse J. Greene, Jr., Treasurer 57 2002
Robert F. Woods, Controller 47 2000

(1) Member of the Board of Directors.

All executive officers are elected by the Board of Directors and serve until the next election of officers in @onjuncti
with the annual meeting of the stockholders as provided in the By-laws. Each executive officer named above, with the
exception of J. Randall MacDonald and Jesse J. Greene, Jr. have been an executive of IBM or its subsidiaries during the past
five years.

Mr. MacDonald was with GTE (now Verizon Communications), a telecommunications company, as executive vice
president of human resources and administration until joining IBM in 2000. He was with GTE for 17 years holding positions
of increasing responsibility. Before joining GTE, Mr. MacDonald held human resources positions at Ingersoll-Rand
Corporation and Sterling Drug, Inc.

Mr. Greene was with Compaq Computer Corporation (now a part of Hewlett-Packard Company), a computer company,
as Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer until joining IBM in 2002. He was with Compaq for two years. Before
joining Compag, Mr. Greene served as Corporate Senior Vice President and Director of Business Strategy and Information
Technology at Eastman Kodak Company. During six years at Kodak, Mr. Greene held a number of financial positions
including Vice President of Finance and Treasurer. Before joining Kodak, Mr. Greene spent 23 years at IBM in a variety of
financial positions including Assistant Treasurer.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings:

Refer to note O "Contingencies and Commitments" on page 88 of IBM's 2002 Annual Report to Stockholders which is
incorporated herein by reference.
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Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders:

Not applicable.

PART Il
Item 5. Market for the Registrant's Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters:

Refer to pages 106 and 107 of IBM's 2002 Annual Report to Stockholders which are incorporated herein by reference
solely as they relate to this item.

IBM common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange, Chicago Stock Exchange and Pacific Stock Exchange.
There were 680,296 common stockholders of record at February 28, 2003.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data:

Refer to pages 105 and 106 of IBM's 2002 Annual Report to Stockholders which are incorporated herein by reference.
Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations:

Refer to pages 43 through 63 of IBM's 2002 Annual Report to Stockholders which are incorporated herein by reference.
Item 7a. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risks:

Refer to the section titled "Market Risk" on pages 58 and 59 of IBM'S 2002 Annual Report to Stockholders which is
incorporated herein by reference.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data:

Refer to page 42 and 64 through 104 of IBM's 2002 Annual Report to Stockholders which are incorporated herein by
reference. Also refer to the Financial Statement Schedule on page S-1 of this Form.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure:

Not applicable.

PART Il
Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant:

Refer to pages 5 through 7 of IBM's definitive Proxy Statement dated March 10 2003, which are incorporated herein by
reference. Also refer to Item 2 entitled "Executive Officers of the Registrant” in Part | of this Form.

Item 11. Executive Compensation:

Refer to pages 12 through 21 of IBM's definitive Proxy Statement dated March 10, 2003, which are incorporated herein
by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters:

Refer to the section titled "Ownership of Securities" appearing on pages 10 and 11 of IBM's definitive Proxy Statement
dated March 10, 2003, which is incorporated herein by reference. Also refer to the section titled "Equity Compensation Plan
Information" appearing on page 25 and 26 of IBM's definitive Proxy Statement dated March 10, 2003, which is incorporated
herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions:

Refer to the section entitled "Other Relationships" appearing on page 9 of IBM's definitive Proxy Statement dated
March 10, 2003, which is incorporated herein by reference.
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Item 14. Controls and Procedures

Based on their evaluation of the company's disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days of the filing
this Report, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that such controls and procedures are
effective. There were no significant changes in the company's internal controls or in other factors that could significantly
affect such controls subsequent to the date of their evaluation.

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules, and Reports on Form 8-K:

(@) The following documents are filed as part of this report:

1. Financial statements from IBM's 2002 Annual Report to Stockholders which are incorporated herein by
reference:

Report of Independent Accountants (page 42).

Consolidated Statement of Earnings for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 (page 64).
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position at December 31, 2002 and 2001 (page 65).

Consolidated Statement of Stockholders' Equity at December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 (pages 66 through 68).
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 (page 69).

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (pages 70 through 104).

2. Financial statement schedules required to be filed by Item 8 of this Form:

Schedule
Page Number
13 Report of Independent Accountants on Financial Statement
Schedule.
14 Report of Independent Auditors.
S-1 Il Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves.

All other schedules are omitted as the required matter is not present, the amounts are not significant or thomiisformati
shown in the consolidated financial statements or the notes thereto.

3. Exhibits:

Included in this Form 10-K:

12 — Computation of Ratio of Earnings From Continuing Operations to Fixed Charges and
Earnings From Continuing Operations to Combined Fixed Charges and Preferred Stock
Dividends.

13 — IBM's 2002 Annual Report to Stockholders, certain sections of
which have been incorporated herein by reference.

21 — Parents and Subsidiaries.

23.1 — Consent of Independent Accountants.

23.2 — Consent of Independent Auditors.

24.1 — Powers of Attorney.

24.2 — Certified Resolutions of the IBM Board of Directors authorizing execution of this report by
Powers of Attorney.

99.1 — Certification by CEO pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

99.2 — Certification by CFO pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted

pursuant to Section 906 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
6
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Not included in this Form 10-K:

The Certificate of Incorporation of IBM is Exhibit (3)(i) to Form 8-K
filed April 28, 1999, and is hereby incorporated by reference.

The By-laws of IBM as amended through January 1, 2003, is
Attachment Ill, Exhibit 99.3 to Form 8-K dated January 16, 2003, and is
hereby incorporated by reference.

The IBM 2001 Long-Term Performance Plan, a compensatory plan, is
contained in Registration Statement No. 333-87708 on Form S-8, filed
on May 7, 2002, and is hereby incorporated by reference.

The IBM 1999 Long-Term Performance Plan, a compensatory plan, is
contained in Registration Statement No. 333-30424 on Form S-8, filed
on February 15, 2000, and is hereby incorporated by reference.

The IBM 1997 Long-Term Performance Plan, a compensatory plan, is
contained in Registration Statement No. 333-31305 on Form S-8, filed
on July 15, 1997, and is hereby incorporated by reference.

The IBM PwCC Acquisition Long-Term Performance Plan, a
compensatory plan, is contained in Registration Statement

No. 333-102872 on Form S-8, filed on January 31, 2003, and is hereby
incorporated by reference.

Board of Directors compensatory plans, as described under "Directors'
Compensation" on pages 9 and 10 of IBM's definitive Proxy Statement
dated March 10, 2003, and is hereby incorporated by reference.

IBM Board of Directors Deferred Compensation and Equity Award
Plan is Exhibit X to Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1996,
and is hereby incorporated by reference.

The IBM Non-Employee Directors Stock Option Plan is Appendix B to
IBM's definitive Proxy Statement dated March 14, 1995, and is hereby
incorporated by reference.

The IBM Executive Deferred Compensation Plan is contained in
Registration Statement No. 333-33692 as Exhibit 4 on Form S-8, filed
March 31, 2000, and is hereby incorporated by reference.

The IBM Supplemental Executive Retention Plan is Exhibit VII to
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999, and is hereby
incorporated by reference.

The IBM Extended Tax Deferred Savings Plan is Exhibit X to
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1994, and is hereby
incorporated by reference.

The IBM 2000 Employees Stock Purchase Plan, as set forth in
Exhibit A of IBM's definitive Proxy Statement dated March 13, 2000,
and is hereby incorporated by reference.

The Employment Agreement for L. V. Gerstner, Jr. is Exhibit 19 to
Form 10-Q dated March 31, 1993, and is hereby incorporated by
reference.

Amendment to Employment Agreement for L. V. Gerstner, Jr. dated as
of January 1, 1996, is Exhibit Xl to Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 1995, and is hereby incorporated by reference.
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— Second Amendment to Employment Agreement for L. V. Gerstner, Jr.
dated as of November 17, 1997, is Exhibit VI to Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 1997, and is hereby incorporated by reference.

— Third Amendment to Employment Agreement for L. V. Gerstner, Jr.
dated as of January 29, 2002, is Exhibit 10 to Form 10-Q dated May 15,
2002, and is hereby incorporated by reference.

— The instruments defining the rights of the holders of the 7.50%
Debentures due 2013 are Exhibits 4(a) through 4(I) to Registration
Statement No. 33-49475(1) on Form S-3, filed May 24, 1993, and are
hereby incorporated by reference.

— The instruments defining the rights of holders of the 8.375%
Debentures due 2019 are Exhibits 4(a)(b)(c) and (d) to Registration
Statement 33-31732 on Form S-3, filed on October 24, 1989, and are
hereby incorporated by reference.

— The instruments defining the rights of holders of the 7.00% Debentures
due 2025 and the 7.00% Debentures due 2045 are Exhibit 2 and 3 to
Form 8-K, filed on October 30, 1995, and are hereby incorporated by
reference.

— The instrument defining the rights of holders of the 7.125% Debentures
due 2096 is Exhibit 2 to Form 8-K/A, filed on December 6, 1996, and is
hereby incorporated by reference.

— The instruments defining the rights of the holders of the 6.45% Notes
due 2007 and the 6.22% Debentures due 2027 are Exhibits 2 and 3 to
Form 8-K, filed on August 1, 1997, and is hereby incorporated by
reference.

— The instruments defining the rights of the holders of the 6.50%
Debentures due 2028 is Exhibit 2 to Form 8-K, filed on January 8,
1998, and is hereby incorporated by reference.

— The instruments defining the rights of the holders of the 5.375% Notes
due 2009 is Exhibit 2 to Form 8-K, filed on January 29, 1999, and is
hereby incorporated by reference.

— IBM's definitive Proxy Statement dated March 10, 2003, certain
sections of which have been incorporated herein by reference.

(b) Reports on Form 8-K:

The company filed Form 8-K on October 16, 2002, with respect to the company's financial results for the periods ended
September 30, 2002, and included unaudited Consolidated Statement of Earnings, Consolidated Statement of Financial
Position and Segment Data for the periods ended September 30, 2002. In addition, IBM's Chief Financial Officer John R.
Joyce's third quarter earnings presentation to securities analysts on Wednesday, October 16, 2002, was filed as Attachment Il
of the Form 8-K.

The company filed Form 8-K on October 29, 2002, announcing that Samuel J. Palmisano had been elected chairman of
the board, effective January 1, 2003, succeeding Louis V. Gerstner, Jr. No financial statements were filed with this Form 8-K.

The company filed Form 8-K on November 4. 2002, publishing its 2001 financial statements as a result of the
company's decision to sell its disk drive operations to Hitachi, Ltd., which under generally
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accepted accounting principles will be accounted for as discontinued operations. The following financial statements and
exhibits were filed with this Form 8-K.

1. IBM's audited financial statements and accompanying notes, and the management discussion for 2001, 2000 and
1999 reclassified to reflect the company's continuing and discontinued operations.

2. Computation of Ratio of Income from Continuing Operations to Fixed Charges for the years 2001 through 1997.

3. Consent of Independent Accountants.

The company filed Form 8-K on November 14, 2002, with respect to certain remarks delivered by IBM's Chief
Financial Officer, John R. Joyce, at IBM's Fall 2002 Securities Analysts meeting on Wednesday, November 13, 2002. Also
filed were charts from the presentations by John R. Joyce, Ginny Rometty GM, IBM Business Consulting Services and
Dr. John E. Kelly 1, Senior Vice President and Group Executive, Technology Group. No financial statements were filed
with this Form 8-K.

The company filed Form 8-K/A on November 26, 2002, to amend page 3 of its Current Report on Form 8-K, dated
November 20, 2002, due to inadvertent submission of the date thereof. The registrant also amended item 7 of its Current
Report on Form 8-K dated November 20, 2002, due to the inadvertent failure to mention inclusion of Exhibit 3 thereto. No
financial statements were filed with this Form 8-K.

The company filed Form 8-K on November 26, 2002, to incorporate by reference into Registration Statement No
333-37034 on Form S-3, effective June 20, 2000, the following documents:

1. Underwriting Agreement dated November 20, 2002, among International Business Machines Corporation, J.P.
Morgan Securities Inc., Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated, Salomon Smith Barney Inc., ABN AMRO
Incorporated, Banc of America Securities LLC, Banc One Capital Markets, Inc., Banca IMI S.p.A., Banca
Nazionale del Lavoro S.p.A., Barclays Capital Inc., Bayerische Hypo-und Vereinsbank AG, Bear Stearns &

Co. Inc., BNP Paribas Securities Corp., Caboto IntesaBci-Sim S.p.A, Credit Suisse First Boston Corporation,
Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., Dresdner Kleinwort Wasserstein-Granchester, Inc., Fleet Securities, Inc., Goldman,
Sachs & Co., HSBC Securities (USA) Inc., ING Financial Markets LLC, Lehman Brothers Inc., Merrill Lynch
Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, RBC Dominion Securities Corporation, The Royal Bank of Scotland plc,
UBS Warburg LLC, Utendahl Capital Partners, L.P. and The Williams Capital Group, L.P.,

2. Form of 4.750% Note due 2012,

3. Form of 5.875% Debenture due 2032,

relating to $2,000,000,000 aggregate principal amount of debt securities of the registrant. No financial statements were filed
with this Form 8-K.

The company filed Form 8-K on December 4, 2002, regarding its plan for pension funding. Also filed was IBM's Chief
Financial Officer John R. Joyce's presentation on December 4, 2002, to securities analysts, regarding the registrant's plan for
pension funding. No financial statements were filed with this Form 8-K.

The company filed Form 8-K on December 31, 2002, regarding the sale of its disk drive operations to Hitachi, Ltd. No
financial statements were filed with this Form 8-K.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

INTERNATIONAL BUSINESS MACHINES CORPORATION
(Registrant)

By: /sl SAMUEL J. PALMISANO

(Samuel J. Palmisano)
Chairman of the Board,
President and Chief
Executive Officer

Date: March 10, 2003

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ JOHN R. JOYCE Senior Vice President, Chief March 10, 2003
(John R. Joyce) Financial Officer
/sl ROBERT F. WOODS Vice President and Controller March 10, 2003

(Robert F. Woods)

CATHLEEN BLACK Director
KENNETH I. CHENAULT Director
NANNERL O. KEOHANE Director
CHARLES F. KNIGHT Director
LUCIO A. NOTO Director By: /s/ DANIEL E. O'DONNELL
JOHN B. SLAUGHTER Director :
SIDNEY TAUREL Director (DANEL E.O PONNELL)

. ttorney-in-fact
ALEX TROTMAN Director March 10. 2003
CHARLES M. VEST Director ’
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14 OR 15D-14 OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Samuel J. Palmisano, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of International Business Machines Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were
made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and
for, the periods presented in this annual report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officers and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this annual report is being prepared;

b. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior to
the filing date of this annual report (the "Evaluation Date"); and

c. Presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures
based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

5. The registrant's other certifying officers and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant's
auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the
registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for the registrant's
auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the registrant's internal controls; and

6. The registrant's other certifying officers and | have indicated in this annual report whether or not there were significant
changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of
our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material
weaknesses.

Date: March 7, 2003

/sl SAMUEL J. PALMISANO

Samuel J. Palmisano
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

11




Prepared by Merrill Corporation at www.edgaradvantage.com Printed: 10-Mar-2003;14:03:18 (v1.37) HTML Page: 13
File: DISK038:[03NYC7.03NYC1807]DI1807A.;9 Created: 10-MAR-2003;11:10 Chksum; 942161 Folio: 12
User: JLAWRENA EFW: 2102367 Client: 1BM CORPORATION Doc# 1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14 OR 15D-14 OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, John R. Joyce, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of International Business Machines Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were
made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and
for, the periods presented in this annual report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officers and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this annual report is being prepared;

b. Ealuated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior to
the filing date of this annual report (the "Evaluation Date"); and

c. Presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures
based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

5. The registrant's other certifying officers and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant's
auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the
registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for the registrant's
auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the registrant's internal controls; and

6. The registrant's other certifying officers and | have indicated in this annual report whether or not there were significant
changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of
our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material
weaknesses.

Date: March 6, 2003

/sl JOHN R. JOYCE

John R. Joyce
Senior Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS ON
FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of
International Business Machines Corporation

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements referred to in our report dated January 16, 2003, except for note Y, as to
which the date is February 21, 2003, appearing on page 42 of the 2002 Annual Report to Stockholders of International
Business Machines Corporation, (which report and consolidated financial statements are incorporated by reference in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K) also included an audit of the Financial Statement Schedule listed in Item 15(a)2 of this

Form 10-K. In our opinion, this Financial Statement Schedule presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set
forth therein when read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

New York, New York

January 16, 2003, except for note Y, as to which the date is February 21, 2003

13
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF
INTERNATIONAL BUSINESS MACHINES CORPORATION:

We have audited the statement of assets and liabilities of the Business Consulting Services Reporting Unit (the "Reporting
Unit") (a reporting unit as defined in Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142), of International Business
Machines Corporation (the "Company") as of December 31, 2002 and the related statement of revenues and expenses
(collectively, the "statements") for the three months then ended (not separately presented herein). These statements are the
responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these statements based on our
audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

The statements were prepared for the purpose of complying with the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission (for use by the Company in connection with its various filings with the Commission). Certain corporate assets,
liabilities and corporate expenses, that are not the responsibility of the Reporting Unit, and which have not been allocated,
have been excluded from the statements. Accordingly, these statements are not intended to be a complete presentation of the
financial position or results of operations of the Reporting Unit.

In our opinion, the statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the assets and liabilities and the
revenues and expenses of the Reporting Unit as of December 31, 2002 and for the three months then ended, in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Ernst & Young LLP
New York, New York
January 16, 2003
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SCHEDULE Il

INTERNATIONAL BUSINESS MACHINES CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS AND RESERVES
For the Years Ended December 31:
(Dollars in Millions)

Additions
Balance at Charged Balance at
Beginning to Costs End
Description of Period and Expenses Write-offs Other (A) of Period
Allowance For Doubtful Accounts
2002
—Current $ 984 $ 628 $ 349 $ 49 $ 1,312
—Noncurrent $ 97 $ 45 $ 54 $ 21 $ 109
2001
—Current $ 860 $ 418 $ 269 $ (25)9% 984
—Noncurrent $ 87 $ 73 $ 49 % (@(14)9%
2000
—Current $ 854 $ 286 $ 247 $ (33)% 860
—Noncurrent $ 158 $ (15) % 45 $ (@(A1)s$
Allowance For Inventory Losses
2002 $ 726 $ 780 $ 790 $ (20) $ 696
2001 $ 695 $ 590 $ 582 $ 23 $ 726
2000 $ 869 $ 527 $ 643 $ (58) % 695

(A) Primarily comprises currency translation adjustments.

S-1
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Reference

Number per

Item 601 of
Regulation SK

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Number
Description of Exhibits in this Form 10-K

(2)
3)

(4)

(9)
(10)

Plan of acquisition, reorganization, arrangement, liquidation
or succession Not applicable
Certificate of Incorporation and By-laws

The Certificate of Incorporation of IBM is Exhibit (3)(i) to
Form 8-K filed April 28, 1999, and is hereby incorporated

by reference

The By-laws of IBM as amended through January 1, 2003,
is Exhibit 99.3, Attachment Ill to Form 8-K dated

January 16, 2003, and is hereby incorporated by reference
Instruments defining the rights of security holders

The instruments defining the rights of the holders of the
7.50% Debentures due 2013 are Exhibits 4(a) through 4(l)
to Registration Statement No. 33-49475(1) on Form S-3,
filed May 24, 1993, and are hereby incorporated by
reference

The instruments defining the rights of the holders of the
8.375% Debentures due 2019 are Exhibits 4(a)(b)(c) and (d)
to Registration Statement No. 33-31732 on Form S-3, filed
on October 24, 1989, and are hereby incorporated by
reference

The instruments defining the rights of the holders of the
7.00% Debentures due 2025 and the 7.00% Debentures due
2045 are Exhibits 2 and 3 to Form 8-K, filed on October 30,
1995, and are hereby incorporated by reference

The instrument defining the rights of the holders of the
7.125% Debentures due 2096 is Exhibit 2 to Form 8-K/A,
filed on December 6, 1996, and is hereby incorporated by
reference

The instruments defining the rights of the holders of the
6.45% Notes due 2007 and the 6.22% Debentures due 2027
are Exhibit 2 and 3 to Form 8-K, filed on August 1, 1997,
and is hereby incorporated by reference

The instrument defining the rights of the holders of the
6.50% Debentures due 2028 is Exhibit 2 to Form 8-K, filed
on January 8, 1998, and is hereby incorporated by reference
The instrument defining the rights of the holders of the
5.375% Notes due 2009 is Exhibit 2 to Form 8-K, filed on
January 29, 1999, and is hereby incorporated by reference
Voting trust agreement Not applicable
Material contracts

The IBM 2001 Long-Term Performance Plan is contained in
Registration Statement No. 333-87708 on Form S-8, filed

on May 7, 2002, and is hereby incorporated by reference*
The IBM 1999 Long-Term Performance Plan is contained in
Registration Statement No. 333-30424 on Form S-8, filed

on February 15, 2000, and is hereby incorporated by
reference*
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The IBM 1997 Long-Term Performance Plan is contained in
Registration Statement No. 33-331305 on Form S-8, filed
on July 15, 1997, and is hereby incorporated by reference*
The IBM PwCC Acquisition Long-Term Performance Plan
is contained in Registration Statement No. 333-102872 on
Form S-8, filed on January 31, 2003, and is hereby
incorporated by reference*
Board of Directors compensatory arrangements as described
under "Directors' Compensation” on pages 9 and 10 of
IBM's definitive Proxy Statement dated March 10, 2003,
and is hereby incorporated by reference*
The IBM Supplemental Executive Retention Plan is Exhibit
VIl to Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999,
and is hereby incorporated by reference*
The IBM Executive Deferred Compensation Plan is
contained in Registration Statement No. 333-33692 as
Exhibit 4 on Form S-8, filed March 31, 2000, and is hereby
incorporated by reference*
The IBM Board of Directors Deferred Compensation and
Equity Award Plan is Exhibit X to Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 1996, and is hereby incorporated by
reference*
The IBM Non-Employee Directors Stock Option Plan is
Appendix B to IBM's definitive Proxy Statement dated
March 14, 1995, and is hereby incorporated by reference*
The IBM Extended Tax Deferred Savings Plan is Exhibit X
to Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1994, and is
hereby incorporated by reference*
The IBM 2000 Employees Stock Purchase Plan, set forth in
Exhibit A of IBM's definitive Proxy Statement dated
March 13, 2000, and is hereby incorporated by reference*
The Employment Agreement for L. V. Gerstner, Jr. is
Exhibit 19 to Form 10-Q dated March 31, 1993, and is
hereby incorporated by reference*
Amendment to Employment Agreement for L. V. Gerstner,
Jr. dated as of January 1, 1996, is Exhibit XI to Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 1995, and is hereby
incorporated by reference*
Second Amendment to Employment Agreement for
L. V. Gerstner, Jr. dated as of November 17, 1997, is
Exhibit VI to Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
1997, and is hereby incorporated by reference*
Third Amendment to Employment Agreement for
L. V. Gerstner, Jr. dated as of January 29, 2002, is Exhibit
10 to Form 10-Q dated May 15, 2002, and is hereby
incorporated by reference*

(11) Statement re computation of per share earnings
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The statement re computation of per share earnings is note t,
"Earnings Per Share of Common Stock" on page 93 of

IBM's 2002 Annual Report to Stockholders, and is hereby
incorporated by reference

(12) Statement re computation of ratios 12
(23) Annual report to security holders 13
(18) Letter re change in accounting principles Not applicable
(19) Previously unfiled documents Not applicable
(21) Subsidiaries of the registrant 21
(22) Published report regarding matters submitted to vote of
security holders Not applicable
(23.1) Consent of experts and counsel 23.1
(23.2) Consent of experts and counsel 23.2
(24.1) Powers of attorney 24.1
(24.2) Certified Resolutions of the IBM Board of Directors
authorizing execution of this report by Powers of Attorney 24.2
(28) Information from reports furnished to state insurance
regulatory authorities Not applicable

(99.1) Certification by CEO pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,

as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley

Act of 2002. 99.1
(99.2) Certification by CFO pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as

adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002. 99.2

*  Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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QuickLinks-- Click here to rapidly navigate through this document
EXHIBIT 12

COMPUTATION OF RATIO OF EARNINGS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS TO FIXED CHARGES AND
EARNINGS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS TO COMBINED FIXED CHARGES AND PREFERRED
STOCK DIVIDENDS

(Unaudited)
Years Ended December 31:
(Dollars in millions)
2002 2001 2000 1999 1998

Income from continuing operations before
income taxes (1) $ 7537 $ 11,488 $ 11378 $ 11653 $ 8,068
Add:

Fixed charges, excluding capitalized interest 1,237 1,639 1,872 1,911 2,031

Income as adjusted before income taxes $ 8,774 $ 13,127 $ 13250 $ 13,564 $ 10,099
Fixed charges:

Interest expense $ 778 $ 1,198 $ 1,427 $ 1,455 $ 1,558

Capitalized interest 35 33 20 23 28

Portion of rental expense representative of

interest 459 441 445 456 473
Total fixed charges $ 1272 $ 1672 $ 1,892 $ 1934 $ 2,059
Preferred stock dividend (2) — 14 29 32 30
Combined fixed charges and preferred stock
dividends $ 1272 $ 1,686 $ 1,921 $ 1,966 $ 2,089
Ratio of income from continuing operations to
fixed charges 6.9 7.9 7.0 7.0 4.9
Ratio of income from continuing operations to
combined fixed charges and preferred stock
dividend 6.9 7.8 6.9 6.9 4.8

(1) Income from continuing operations before income taxes excludes (a) amortization of capitalized interest and (b) the
company's share in the income and losses of less-than-fifty percent owned affiliates.

(2) Included in the ratio calculation are preferred stock dividends of $10 million for 2001, $20 million for 2000, 1999 and
1998, respectively, or $14 million for 2001, $29 million in 2000, $32 million in 1999 and $30 million in 1998
representing the pre-tax income that would be required to cover such dividend requirements based on the company's
effective tax rate for 2001, 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively.
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Report of Management

Responsibility for the integrity and objectivity of the financial information presented in this Annual Report lrel#witanagement. The
accompanying financial statements have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles, apipl\eéstincatés and
judgments as required.

IBM maintains an effective internal control structure. It consists, in part, of organizational arrangements witle€ileed lines of responsibility and
delegation of authority, and comprehensive systems and control procedures. We believe this structure provides reasorabtbaidsanaactions are
executed in accordance with management authorization, and that they are appropriately recorded in order to permit dréparai@rstatements in
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles and to adequately safeguard, verify and maintain accountabtiftyAri aaportant element of
the control environment is an ongoing internal audit program.

To assure the effective administration of internal controls, we carefully select and train our employees, devessramatel written policies and
procedures, provide appropriate communication channels, and foster an environment conducive to the effective functidnitg v¥edrelieve that it is
essential for the company to conduct its business affairs in accordance with the highest ethical standards, as setBifttiBusithess Conduct
Guidelines. These guidelines, translated into numerous languages, are distributed to employees throughout the world aaimtdetbmmpigh internal
programs to assure that they are understood and followed.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, independent accountants, is retained to examine IBM's financial statements. Its agcepgaisybased on an
examination conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, including a review of the internal comg@redrtests of accounting
procedures and records.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors is composed solely of outside directors, and is responsible for reupmontea@oard the
independent accounting firm to be retained for the coming year, subject to stockholder approval. The Audit Committeeauieett/@erd privately with
the independent accountants, with the company's internal auditors, as well as with IBM management, to review accoungn@tecrtiticontrol
structure and financial reporting matters.

/fmtz/ ot e Ry

JOHN R. JOYCE
SAMUEL J. PALMISANO Senior Vice President

Chairman of the Board, Chief Financial Officer
President and Chief Executive Officer

Report of Independent Accountants
To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of International Business Machines Corporation:

In our opinion, based on our audits and the report of other auditors, the accompanying consolidated financia atgiearérg on pages 64 through
104 present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of International Business Machines Corporation aay suipsjinies at December 31,
2002 and 2001, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ende81D208&\ia conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. These financial statements are the resptmsibditypainy's management;
our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We did not audit théafieramecitd of the company's
Business Consulting Services Reporting Unit (which includes the consulting practice acquired from us as discussed in thet¢h@dononths ended
December 31, 2002, which statements reflect total revenues of 4.3 percent of the related consolidated total in the pBeagmbaded1, 2002. Those
statements were audited by other auditors whose report thereon has been furnished to us, and our opinion expresseathasdtelases to the
amounts included for the company's Business Consulting Services Reporting Unit is based solely on the report of themh@&euadiiducted our
audits of these statements in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of Americareviahweguian and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatementluslesiedrinaing, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting prind@emifeethaestimates made
by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits and the reparditdrstipeovide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

4«.«”&‘1«-«.&.,,_ PR o

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP

New York, New York

January 16, 2003,

except for note Y, as to which the date is February 21, 2003
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Management Discussion
Road Map

The financial section of the International Business Machines Corporation (IBM) 2002 Annual Report consisting ofatiesniglat Discussion, the
Consolidated Financial Statements that follow and the related notes thereto comprises 64 pages of information. This Riesgigdeg ie provide you
with some perspective regarding the information contained in the financial section and a few helpful hints for readingdigese 64

IBM's Business Model

IBM's business model is built to support two principal components: helping customers become more efficient aridecthmpegit the use of
information technology (IT) solutions; and providing long-term value to shareholders. In support of these objectivesetiterhodel has been developed
over time through strategic investments in services and technologies that have the best long-term growth and profitadlitybyased on the value they
deliver to customers.

The model is designed to allow for flexibility and periodic rebalancing, as demonstrated in 2002 with the acdjisitiewaterhouseCoopers
Consulting (PwCC), the agreement to acquire Rational Software Corp. (Rational), and the divestiture of the company'drhardHIBR) business.

The company's portfolio of capabilities ranges from services that include business transformation consultingetohswoéiware, fundamental
research, financing and the component technologies used to build larger systems.

In terms of financial performance, this breadth of capabilities generally results in less volatile returns, béceageabélity has unique financial
attributes. Some involve contractual long-term cash and income streams while others involve cyclical transactional-bEsett ggiderms differently in
strong and weak economic environments.

In terms of marketplace performance—i.e., the ability to deliver customer value—it is important to understaniditidantiestal strength of this
business model is not found in the breadth of the portfolio alone, but in the way the company's components work in haeatnusiess solutions.

Transparency

Transparency is a primary goal of successful financial reporting. The following are additional improvements yolinvthif year's Annual Report.

. In the 2001 Annual Report, the company introduced a Road Map section that included a list of certain recurring and gateewuriihese
items may contribute to or reduce earnings, sometimes in unpredictable or uncontrollable ways. This "Road Map table itérespevese
also used in the company's 2002 quarterly earnings presentations.

For 2002, the following are examples of such items:

Page
Higher provision for bad debts 51
Lower goodwill expense 51
Lower intellectual property and custom development income 52
Lower foreign currency transaction gains 52
Lower net realized gains from certain real estate activities 52
Lower writedowns on certain equity investments 52
Lower net gains on sales of securities and other investments 52
Lower retirement-related plans income 52 and 53

It is management's responsibility to deal with these events over time within the context of the company's businkss, inodever, just as or more
important to maintain a longer-term perspective and to consider income from continuing operations in the context of revastué @mdA
fundamentally sound and strong company should have strength in all three of these measures.

. The Results of Continuing Operations section of the Management Discussion from pages 44 to 53 is expanded to incluveeviekrief the
company's and each segment's business model and key success drivers. The goal is to enable the reader to understahdethe! tsistori
well as a new forward-looking section in the context of the business drivers.

. The Management Discussion contains a new separate section dedicated to the company's Global Financing business oonyzg68.60 thr
This section includes a Global Financing balance sheet.

. In order to help readers of the Annual Report place IBM's services accounting policies in the proper context, the déd@ipsoservices
revenue recognition accounting policies has been explained in additional detail on page 70.

Helpful Hints

ORGANIZATION OF INFORMATION

. This Management Discussion section provides the reader of the financial statements with a narrative on the companyésfiitanttial
contains the results of operations for each segment of the business and is followed by a description of the companyeditiancalwell as
certain employee data. The new section dedicated to the company's Global Financing business follows the employeeefatao ltdadishe
Management Discussion in conjunction with note X, "Segment Information," on pages 100 to 104.
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. Pages 64 through 69 include the Consolidated Financial Statements. These statements include an overview of the compamylscastom
flow performance and its financial position.

. The notes follow the Consolidated Financial Statements. Among other things, the notes contain the company's accoust{pggesidie to
75), detailed information on specific items within the financial statements, certain contingencies and commitments (pa@&3, &hedrihe
results of each IBM segment (pages 100 to 104).

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On December 31, 2002, the company sold its HDD business to Hitachi, Ltd. (Hitachi). The HDD business is being accouatéiddontisued operation
under generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). This means that income statement and cash flow information weeel fefoathgears
presented to separate the divested business from the company's continuing operations. This presentation is required biaGlkatesahistorical and
future trend analysis of IBM's continuing operations. On page 80 the company discusses this transaction and the actoentivestdure.

Forward-Looking and Cautionary Statements

Certain statements contained in this Annual Report may constitute forward-looking statements within the meaRirigadé tBecurities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995. These statements involve a number of risks, uncertainties and other factors that could cause attula¢ nesuéisally different, as
discussed more fully elsewhere in this Annual Report and in the company's filings with the Securities and Exchange Conufndsigrihe company's
2002 Form 10-K filed on
March 10, 2003.

Results of Continuing Operations

Description of Business

As mentioned in the "IBM's Business Model" section of the Road Map on page 43, IBM's strategy is to lead custamness ar@ of business
transformation and computing. The company calls this e-business on demand. An on demand business is an enterprisgtatactias pracesses
end-to-end inside the company and across its extended value chain. On demand businesses manage themselves as a feadmdrel@tewraning they
are able to respond with flexibility and speed to customer demands, market opportunities or external threats. Thereyattrioutdseof an on demand
business:

. ResponsiveOn demand businesses seem to have the ability to sense and respond to dynamic, unpredictable changes in demandgsupply, pricin
labor, competitor's moves, capital markets and the needs of all its constituencies—customers, partners, suppliers and employees

. Variable: On demand businesses use variable cost structures and adapt processes flexibly. This flexibility will enable themsk eedlide ri
business at high levels of productivity, cost control, capital efficiency and financial predictability. The company'smugiijirg
offerings—which allow customers to pay for only the processing, storage, or applications that they use—are one wayxibiityldriie
variability into their cost structures.

. Focused:On demand businesses concentrate on their core competencies and the things that set them apart in the marketplaceini¢ the same
they forge tightly integrated partnerships and allow third parties to manage selected tasks such as manufacturing ddgiticeat) or HR
and financial operations.

. Resilient:On demand businesses manage changes and threats—from the ebb and flow of system usage to viruses or natural disasters—with
consistent availability and security.

Key business drivers that will influence IBM's future results are: the continued adoption of open technology sttidanidgly innovations; IBM's
internal business transformation and efficiency initiatives; and the external economic environment and corporate IT budgets.

. Open Technology Standards'Open standards" is not a complex high technology catch phrase. The way we use electricity is a good example
of an open standard. The outlets in each house and business universally accept any electrical appliance. An examplaerafaridsedsld
be if every television maker required people to buy a certain type of electricity, perhaps from the television makeifitgalf vé&mted to
switch television brands, you would also need to rewire your house's electricity. In many ways, this is how the technstiggig itodiay .
Many different software products do not run on certain hardware or are not compatible with other software. Certain hasdwaire doe
communicate with other hardware. Open standards will solve this situation.

The broad adoption of open standards is essential to the computing model for e-business on demand. Withoutrterdpehattanable all manner
of computing platforms to communicate and work with one another, the integration of any customer's internal systemsnspplitptimcesses remains a
monumental and expensive task. The broad-based acceptance of open standards—rather than closed, proprietary architatituwwesheatemputing
infrastructure to more easily absorb new technical innovations. IBM is committed to fostering open standards becausét thestdrapre$, because they
are vital to the on demand computing model, and because their acceptance will expand growth opportunities across tineesttiye 1T
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. Technology Innovations4BM has been moving away from commoditized segments of the IT industry and into areas in which it can
differentiate itself through innovation, and by leveraging its investments in research and development (R&D). Examplé&Ntislude
leadership position in the design and fabrication of Application Specific Integrated Circuits; work on designing small@ngdfaste
lower-power-consuming semiconductor devices (using such innovations as copper technology, silicon on insulator, silicamgerchani
low-K dielectric); work to design "autonomic"or self-managing computing systems and build the "grid" computing networksvthat al
computers to go beyond sharing communications and actually combine processing power; and the company's efforts to advance open
technology standards such as Linux.

. Internal Business Transformation and Efficiency Initiative&-eritical element of the company's strategy to improve shareholder value is
improving productivity and efficiency. The company continues to execute on the following three ongoing initiatives.

1. Internal implementation of the same business transformation activities that the company provides for its customerpa§iventhe
years, IBM's cost and expense infrastructure has been improved by numerous simplification and transformation effortairignar®llo
a few examples:

. Internal IT Infrastructure—nternal MVS/VM host data centers reduced from 155 to 11.
. Customers—More than 80 percent of sales to business partners are achieved through the Web.
. Suppliers—Number of electronically connected suppliers now exceeds 31,000.

. Employees—eLearning represents almost 50 percent of all employee training.

2. Outsourcing or process redesign of certain hardware manufacturing to lower-cost contract manufacturers in order teeincrease t
variability of the company's manufacturing cost structure. An example is the company's 2002 outsourcing of desktop pgrsteral com
manufacturing to Sanmina-SCl.

3. Intense focus on improving employee and process productivity in order to drive a more efficient expense structure.

. Economic Environment and Corporate IT Spending Budgets—Although the diverse nature of IBM's capabilities somewhat mitigates th
economic volatility of IBM's results, the company's financial performance is impacted by overall marketplace spending. IAlgprrgling
is an important driver of IBM's financial results, a key objective is to outperform key competitors and gain market sigesgahgiand weak
economic environments.

Historical Results

(dollars in millions except per share amounts)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31: 2002 2001 2000
Revenue $ 81,18 $ 83067 $ 85,089
Cost 50,902 51,178 53,511
Gross profit 30,284 31,889 31,578
Gross profit margin 37.3% 38.4% 37.1%
Total expense and other income 22,760 20,439 20,167
Income from continuing operations before income taxes $ 7524 $ 11,450 $ 11411
Income from continuing operations $ 5334 $ 8,146 $ 7,874
Earnings per share of common stock from continuing operations:

Assuming dilution $ 3.07 $ 459 $ 4.32

Basic $ 313 % 469 $ 4.45

The average number of common shares outstanding assuming dilution was lower by 40.3 million shares in 2002 \srdWO2Daillion shares in
2001 versus 2000, primarily as a result of the company's common share repurchase program. To the extent the compargpnlrdnsesaditional
funds to its pension plans in 2003, such actions may impact the amount of common shares that will be repurchased durifbehieyision to fund the
pension plans will depend upon economic conditions, employee demographics, mortality rates and investment performanage Therdarof common
shares outstanding assuming dilution was 1,730.9 million, 1,771.2 million and 1,812.1 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000glsespectiv

Revenue in 2002 totaled $81.2 billion, a decline of 2.3 percent (3 percent at constant currency) compared with $8@ehbélion in 2001. This
was primarily attributable to lower corporate spending on IT. Despite this decline, the company estimates that it is gnafrgaining market share in
most of its key business areas. Global Services and Software revenue grew year over year, but was more than offset thywéoevantialobal
Financing revenue.
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The following table presents each segment's revenue as a percentage of the company's total:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31: 2002 2001 2000
Global Services 448% 42.1% 39.0%
Hardware 33.8 36.8 40.5
Software 16.1 15.6 14.8
Global Financing 4.0 4.1 4.1
Enterprise Investments/Other 1.3 1.4 1.6
Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

In the Americas, full-year 2002 revenue was $36,423 million, down 2.7 percent (1 percent at constant currencyp)d@dnpéhnied. Revenue from
Europe/Middle East/Africa was $24,260 million, an increase of 1.1 percent (down 4 percent at constant currency). Astv€tagifideclined 0.5 percent
(flat at constant currency) to $17,153 million. Original equipment manufacturer (OEM) revenue decreased 24.1 percent @4cpestant currency) to
$3,350 million.

The reference to constant currency is made so that a segment can be viewed without the impacts of changingefurgigrotimmge rates and
therefore facilitates a comparative view of business growth. The U.S. dollar generally weakened against other curren2@@2dsorgrowth at constant
currency exchange rates was lower than growth at actual currency exchange rates.

The overall gross profit margin of 37.3 percent decreased 1.1 points from 2001, following a 1.3 point increaseisu@0®100. The decrease in
2002 gross profit margin was primarily driven by lower gross profit in Global Services and Hardware, partially offset bydmgmss profit margins in
Software and Global Financing. The increase in 2001 gross profit margin was primarily driven by improvement in Globalt$sdieas, Software and
Global Financing gross profit margins.

Total expense and other income increased primarily due to the company's special actions associated with itsodicsdeieision, productivity
initiatives, and the PwCC acquisition. The provision for bad debts also increased in 2002. These increases were offsatvgrisivg expense, the
elimination of goodwill amortization and continued ongoing business transformation and efficiency initiatives as descabes 50 @and 51.

Looking Forward

The outlook for 2003 is dependent upon the following key factors, among others:

. The market for IT products and services and the company's ability to gain market share
. The acceptance of open standards such as Linux
. The ability to continue converting the company's technology leadership into product and services leadership

. The transformation of IBM's business into an on demand business and the streamlining and cost reduction initiativesvatistioéated
company's Integrated Supply Chain

The following discussion is based on the Consolidated Financial Statements on pages 64 through 69, which refletrial edspects, the
company's segment results on an external basis. Additional financial information about each segment including the méainltnircempany
transactions is included in note X, "Segment Information," on pages 100 to 104. The Global Financing results of opeiratiadsdie the new Global
Financing section on pages 60 through 63.

Global Services
DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Global Services is an important part of the company's strategy of providing insight and solutions to custometfigafioe appechnology is
becoming increasingly critical to customers' advantage in the marketplace. As a result, the value that customers pladrisiméB#issight and
solutions is increasing. As the company continues to evolve, the expectation is that Global Services will play a latgefaifey iwith IBM's customers.
Global Services comprises three main lines of business:

. Strategic Outsourcing Services (SO) provides customers with competitive cost advantages by outsourcing customers' grogessisnan

. Business Consulting Services (BCS), formerly Business Innovation Services, delivers value to customers through busmeswopaiites
application enablement and integration services. The acquisition of PwCC greatly enhances IBM's capabilities in these areas.

. Integrated Technology Services (ITS) designs, implements, and maintains customers' technology infrastructures.

HISTORICAL RESULTS

(dollars in millions)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31: 2002 2001 2000
Global Services revenue $ 36,360 $ 34,956 $ 33,152
Global Services cost 26,812 25,355 24,309
Gross profit $ 9548 $ 9,601 $ 8,843
Gross profit margin 26.3% 27.5% 26.7%

Global Services revenue increased 4.0 percent (3 percent at constant currency) in 2002 over 2001 and 5.4 pererha{b@pstant currency) in
2001 over 2000. The increase in 2002 resulted from the acquisition of PwCC on October 1, 2002 and growth in the SO bbsin®ssviGds revenue,
excluding maintenance, increased 4.5 percent (4 percent at constant currency) in 2002 versus 2001 and 6.8 percentt(@ans¢aoeicuarency) in 2001
versus 2000. Maintenance revenue improved 1.3 percent to $5,070 million (1 percent at constant currency) in 2002 versde@0tddzh?2 percent (up
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2 percent at constant currency) in 2001 when compared to 2000.

SO revenue increased 2.4 percent to $14,995 million (2 percent at constant currency) in 2002 versus 2001. S@acivaitts@istomers in both
strong and weak economies.
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SO revenue in 2001 increased versus 2000 primarily as a result of strong growth in Asia Pacific.

BCS revenue increased 8.8 percent to $9,331 million (7 percent at constant currency) in 2002 versus 2001. Twasrredeehe addition of
PwCC results in the fourth quarter. BCS revenue excluding PwCC would have declined year over year. BCS continues to lyithpacthdtry
pressure on consulting services. The integration of PwCC is on schedule. BCS revenue in 2001 increased versus 200@usinef@02 results of
BCS, which include the PwCC business acquired from PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) on October 1, 2002, were not auditedtbgdwachresults
were audited by another Big 4 auditing firm.

ITS revenue, excluding maintenance, increased 5.1 percent to $6,593 million (4 percent in constant currencyysn20QMeThis revenue growth
resulted from increases in the deployment of network hardware and connectivity services, business continuity serviceslikantt&EN & revenue
increased in 2001 versus 2000 in support of server consolidations, business continuity services and OEM alliances.

Global Services gross profit dollars decreased 0.6 percent in 2002 compared to 2001 and increased 8.6 percergts 200Q.VvThe gross profit
margin decreased 1.2 points in 2002 versus 2001 and increased 0.8 points in 2001 versus 2000. The declines in bottighass gnafigross profit
margins in 2002 were attributable to market conditions, particularly in the Communications and Financial sectors, andweakinesslin the consulting
and systems integration businesses. These declines were partially offset by improvements in gross profit for maintenanceasaased productivity
and lower parts costs. The increases in both gross profit dollars and gross profit margin in 2001 versus 2000 werenesoiadfjirecreased productivity
and lower parts costs across all geographies for maintenance offerings and cost reductions across all services offerings.

GLOBAL SERVICES SIGNINGS

(dollars in millions)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31: 2002 2001

Longer-term* $ 33,068 $ 32,016
Shorter-term* 20,020 19,261
Total* $ 53,088 $ 51,277

* Longer-term are contracts generally 7 to 9 years in length and represent SO contracts and those BCS contracts wittuénel (G8vérament and
its agencies. Shorter-term are contracts generally 3 to 9 months in length and represent the remaining BCS contractsteawddTS co

In 2002, the company signed Global Services contracts totaling $53 billion as compared to $51 billion in 2001inS2@0Rgscluded 42 contracts
in excess of $100 million, five of which exceeded $1 billion, as well as $1.2 billion of new signings during the fourttagsactated with the acquired
PwCC business. The pace of signings accelerated in the fourth quarter of 2002. Contracts totaling $3.1 billion acquivethashve@C acquisition are
not included in the signings number. Instead, these contracts were added as an adjustment to backlog. Backlog estifjeates ateasgle and are
affected by currency assumptions used in the company's plans, changes in the scope of contracts—mainly long-term compieaicidic-aalidations.
After adjustments for changes in the scope of contracts, the estimated backlog including SO, BCS, ITS and maintenandslieasst Tlecember 31,
2002, as compared to $102 billion at December 31, 2001.

LOOKING FORWARD

The addition of PwCC into IBM Global Services on October 1, 2002, will play a significant role in the companyts &lelftycustomers transform
themselves into on demand businesses. As of the acquisition date, the company added about 30,000 professionals bremwimpwétnytispecific
business transformation skills that can leverage existing IBM and business partner capabilities to deliver e-business soiudiemsind

Hardware

The company recently changed the names of its hardware segments, whereby Enterprise Systems is now the SystdrReGomab @amd Printing
Systems is now the Personal Systems Group.

DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Systems Group

The Systems Group comprises eServer and Storage products. eServers are based upon IBM operating systems @$es)eaameilSas UNIX
(pSeries) and the Microsoft Windows operating system (xSeries). All of these server lines have the capability to runeyirnperastandard operating
system. Data storage products include disk, tape and storage area networks included within the Storage brand.

The Systems Group provides business solutions to customers. Approximately half of the Systems Group's sales aisn#actiagyh business
partners and approximately 40 percent direct to customers, slightly more than half of which are through the Web at itadditom, Iwhile appropriately
not reported as external revenue, hardware is also deployed internally in support of IBM Global Services offerings aad contract

Personal Systems Group

The Personal Systems Group includes the company's lines of personal computers, printers and point-of-sale terp@rsdsal bomputer business
is characterized by a high degree of commoditization, short product life cycles, and intense price competition. Leadexa icopgpsters execute intense
cost control and generate customer loyalty through the offering of differentiated features such as the company's new Jdiiekctiantagies, superior
post-sale support, and maintenance.
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Technology Group

The Technology Group, primarily consisting of the Microelectronics Division, provides leading semiconductor techackagyng solutions and
engineering technology services to OEM customers and, although appropriately not reported as external revenue, to theQystdras G
Microelectronics Division develops and manufactures products in three general categories:

Application Specific Integrated CircuitsFhe company manufactures and tests customized semiconductor products for customers. The customers
design these customized product solutions using IBM's suite of design tools and portfolio of intellectual property ({iR) ingsisker speeds to market for
the customers.

Foundry—Semiconductor customers provide IBM with their product designs based upon the customer's product IP. Using the cusgomi&nd desi
provides a full suite of semiconductor manufacturing and integrated supply chain services to deliver the product to the custome

Standard products—Fhese are semiconductors that are manufactured and designed primarily based upon IBM's Power PC platform. Minor
customization is performed for customers.

In addition, Technology Group launched in 2002 its new Engineering and Technology Services Division that providasdsgst@ponent design
services, strategic outsourcing of customers' design teams, and technology and manufacturing consulting services.

HISTORICAL RESULTS

(dollars in millions)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31: 2002 2001 2000
Hardware revenue $ 27,456 $ 30,593 $ 34,470
Hardware cost 20,020 21,231 24,207
Gross profit $ 7,436 $ 9362 $ 10,263
Gross profit margin 27.1% 30.6% 29.8%

Hardware revenue declined 10.3 percent (11 percent at constant currency) in 2002 versus 2001 and declined (8 [p=neat constant
currency) in 2001 compared with 2000.

In 2002, Systems Group revenue declined 8.0 percent (10 percent at constant currency) to $12,646 million frolov206% t#crease of 3.2
percent in 2001 versus 2000. Revenue from the majority of the Systems Group products was affected by the continuing mdiag tluspg 2002.
zSeries revenue declined in 2002 following an increase in 2001. Total deliveries of zSeries computing power increasedelprpeircant as measured
in MIPS (millions of instructions per second) versus 2001, while the price per MIP continued to decline from 2000 throuRgved02. from pSeries
UNIX servers decreased in 2002 versus 2001 although high-end pSeries server revenue increased in 2002 versus 2001. 200®tlerdmenpany
announced a new mid-range p650 server with Power 4 engines, which generated strong demand. Revenue from pSeries sgiceesalediale market
conditions, although high-end server revenue increased in 2001 versus 2000. Revenue from iSeries servers declined i 200 deesto weak
volumes across all product lines. Revenue from iSeries servers also declined in 2001 versus 2000. These declines inerpeetiaiéy/voéfiset by
increased revenue from xSeries servers, primarily in the high-end servers. The company expects to have gained mariSgrgmseimers in 2002
against competitors. xSeries revenue declined in 2001 versus 2000, reflecting the competitive environment in the Intekbasadkease

Revenue from storage products decreased in direct access storage device (DASD) and tape product lines in 2@2astsas@mMpany
experienced weakness in this business consistent with general industry trends whereby the impact of price declines erueacteaf tr@ume growth as
measured in terabytes. In 2001, revenue increased primarily as a result of higher revenue from high-end storage pro@068. versus

Personal Systems Group revenue declined 7.8 percent (9 percent at constant currency) in 2002 to $11,049 milibnféitow2@ a decrease of
20.6 percent in 2001 versus 2000 with personal computers, retail stores solutions and printer systems all showing deaisesal bemputer revenue
decline was primarily driven by the continued demand weakness and price erosion in the industry.

The Technology Group no longer includes HDDs and comprises mainly the company's Microelectronics Division fatsairpeented. Technology
Group revenue in 2002 decreased 23.6 percent (23 percent at constant currency) to $3,935 million when compared witivi2@04 deticease of 0.7
percent in 2001 versus 2000. The decline in Technology Group revenue was primarily a result of the divestiture of mutijpkeponeimesses over the
past twelve months, including display and card manufacturing. These decreases were partially offset by increased reve&Miofjanp@ducts driven
by demand for the company's copper products and its growing foundry business. The decline in 2001 revenue was primayithesexmere slowdown
in the semiconductor industry in 2001.

Hardware gross profit dollars decreased 20.6 percent in 2002 from 2001, following an 8.8 percent decrease irs2ZIOvditsel Hardware gross
profit margin decreased 3.5 points in 2002 following an increase of 0.8 points in 2001 versus 2000. The decline in gdo#iangrafid gross profit
margin in 2002 was primarily driven by lower volumes in the company's microelectronics business and lower gross profim&ysiesis Group
products, primarily pSeries and storage products, which more than offset the benefits from hardware manufacturing iefcsttuetiuctions.

The decline in gross profit dollars in 2001 was primarily due to lower volumes in the company's Technology Gricipgpcegsures in personal
computers.

The increase in 2001 gross profit margin was primarily driven by a shift in the company's revenue toward serversrfgoass profit margin
products, such as personal computers.
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LOOKING FORWARD

. Two key product lines recently announced product refreshes. As discussed on page 48, the company experienced strongsiasand for
pSeries products announcement in November. In January 2003, the company announced a major refresh of its iSeries mickringeh@iodu
allows customers to buy and pay for only the computing capacity they need.

. Indications are that Linux is gaining additional support and popularity and is recognized as an open standard operatBgssysteGroup
servers are compatible with Linux.

. The new Engineering and Technology Services Division is bringing entirely new value offerings to a broader customertizattcthalty
associated with the Technology Group. These new offerings have the potential to generate more stable financial returasteritticha
similar to a services business.

. Autonomic computing is a key competitive differentiator for the company.

. The company outsourced its desktop manufacturing in January 2002 and recently announced an agreement to outsourceuttiregnofaufact
significant portion of its low and midrange xSeries servers and to outsource certain mobile PC configuration procestedite e 2003.
The outsourcing initiatives will increase the company's responsiveness to changes in demand. These initiatives alomgittiatiezs to
streamline the company's integrated supply chain have yielded, and will continue to yield, additional cost savings.

Software

DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

The Software business consists primarily of middleware and operating systems. Middleware software enables cangragegtocesses and the
flow of information as well as to collaborate. Operating systems are the software engines that run computers. Middlewiacua®nds

. WebSphere (facilitates customers' ability to manage a wide variety of business processes through the Web)
. Data Management such as DB2 database software
. Tivoli (enables customers to centrally manage and efficiently utilize their network and storage)

. Lotus (increases customer's ability to communicate, collaborate and learn in an effective manner)

Sales channels include direct to end users (70 percent) and business partners (21 percent). The remainder,nalély appreported as external
revenue, is deployed internally in support of Global Services offerings and contracts. Approximately 40 percent of saftwiarectates to one-time
charge (OTC) arrangements whereby the customer pays one up-front payment for a lifetime license. Typically, arrangemeats &r@i C software
include one year of maintenance. The customer can also purchase ongoing maintenance after the first year, which inctudsg adeduand technical
support. The remaining software is sold on a monthly license charge arrangement.

HISTORICAL RESULTS

(dollars in millions)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31: 2002 2001 2000
Software revenue $ 13,074 $ 12939 $ 12,598
Software cost 2,043 2,265 2,283
Gross profit $ 11,031 $ 10,674 $ 10,315
Gross profit margin 84.4% 82.5% 81.9%

Software revenue increased 1.0 percent (flat at constant currency) in 2002, following an increase of 2.7 pecestaf7cpastant currency) in 2001
from 2000. The software market remained challenging in 2002. The company noted two trends driving this challenging mackestoFiess were
spending more time on the selection process for software solutions. Second, customers were more inclined to negotiafevsreaterasigements,
which are perceived to provide a faster return on investment. The company's continued focus on customer base expamgjonidreieil customers,
offset these two trends. Despite the difficult software environment, the company believes it continued to gain shara# key are

The company's middleware products revenue grew 4 percent (3 percent at constant currency) to $10,055 millionl im@@@2ech5 percent (9
percent at constant currency) in 2001 versus 2000. Middleware revenue increases in 2002 were driven by growth in datatrsaftagesn&iebSphere
and Tivoli, partially offset by revenue declines in Lotus. The increase in 2001 resulted from strong growth in data maseafyearerand WebSphere,
partially offset by revenue declines in Tivoli and Lotus. Revenue from the acquisition of the Informix database busiye280h dahtributed
approximately 60 percent of the middleware software growth in 2002 and 2001.

Operating systems software revenue declined 3 percent (4 percent at constant currency) to $2,369 million in 2ZiiPlvemsgdeclined 3 percent
(up 1 percent at constant currency) in 2001 compared with the prior year. The decline in 2002 resulted from lower revatateveitisaSeries, iSeries
and pSeries offerings. The decline in 2001 resulted from lower revenue associated with iSeries and pSeries server products.

Software gross profit dollars increased 3.3 percent in 2002 from 2001, following an increase of 3.5 percent im 2000 .fithe Software gross
profit margin improved 1.9 points in 2002 following an increase of 0.6 points in 2001 compared to 2000. Lower supportesdasstvicontributed to the
increases. In addition, the company continues to leverage productivity initiatives such as shared component development.
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The company develops software building blocks that may be used in multiple products to satisfy a wide range oheedtorbis has led to
efficiencies, cost savings in the production of code, and improved time to market with new offerings. The increase ifitglloansrand gross profit
margin in 2001 versus 2000 was primarily due to higher Software revenue, lower service costs and purchased vendor saftywafésgidry higher
amortization costs and vendor royalty payments.

LOOKING FORWARD

The company purchased Rational on February 21, 2003 for approximately $2.1 billion in cash. Rational provide®mstsftiatallow users to
effectively capture and analyze requirements to create designs for software applications, test applications, and mamage thevetdpment process.
Rational's software development tools can be used to develop and upgrade any other company's software products. Adsadiigytiah is a critical
part of IBM's open standard strategy. Rational's revenue for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2002, was $690 million.

Major IBM customers are embracing the Linux operating system. Prior to open standard operating systems, a cubredseaaymore likely to
purchase middleware from the software vendor that owns and sells the proprietary operating system used by that custonmsanéiardpaperating
system gives customers another reason to consider IBM middleware.

Enterprise Investments/Other
DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

The Enterprise Investments segment develops and provides industry-specific information technology solutions supportingithe $tdtdare and
Global Services segments of the company. Primary product lines include product life cycle management software and doessiegtecboologies.
Product life cycle management software primarily serves the industrial sector and helps customers manage the developmgatt@amehgnaf their
products. Document processor products service the financial sector and include products that enable electronic banking.

HISTORICAL RESULTS

(dollars in millions)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31: 2002 2001 2000
Enterprise Investments/ Other revenue $ 1064 $ 1,153 $ 1404
Enterprise Investments/ Other cost 611 634 747
Gross profit $ 453 % 519 $ 657
Gross profit margin 42.6% 45.0% 46.8%

Enterprise Investments/Other revenue decreased 7.7 percent (10 percent at constant currency) from 2001, folieasegod He® percent (14
percent at constant currency) in 2001 from 2000. The decrease in 2002 revenue was primarily a result of lower revenuaéanpdoassors, partially
offset by increased revenue from product life-cycle management software. The company's strategy has been to shift deweiiptribotian of certain
products to third-party companies.

The gross profit dollars from Enterprise Investments/Other declined 12.6 percent in 2002 versus 2001 and decpesisedt2d.2001 versus 2000.
The Enterprise Investments/Other gross profit margin declined 2.4 points in 2002 following a decrease of 1.8 points sBUR@ID0ehe declines in
gross profit dollars and margins primarily relate to software as well as industry dynamics.

LOOKING FORWARD

The key factors that will impact the results of the Enterprise Investments segment are the economy and corpoditg Husigets.

Expense and Other Income

(dollars in millions)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31: 2002 2001 2000
Selling, general and administrative $ 18,738 $ 17,048 $ 17,393
Percentage of revenue 23.1% 20.5% 20.4%
Research, development and engineering 4,750 4,986 5,084
Percentage of revenue 5.9% 6.0% 6.0%
Intellectual property and custom development income (1,100) (1,476) (1,664)
Other (income) and expense 227 (353) (990)
Interest expense 145 234 344
Total expense and other income $ 22,760 $ 20439 $ 20,167

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSE
Historical Results

Total Selling, general and administrative (SG&A) expense increased 9.9 percent (9 percent at constant curreneg)sn2P0Q1, following a
decrease of 2.0 percent (flat at constant currency) in 2001 compared with 2000. The increase in 2002 was due to actitvessaekend quarter and
fourth quarter of 2002 totaling $1,489 million. See note S, "2002 Actions," on pages 90 through 92 for additional dedailg tiegse actions.
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PwCC acquisition-related costs of $292 million were incurred in 2002 and included the PwCC compensation cost®dipegssét. These costs
relate to the acquired PWCC business that are of a nonrecurring nature and also contributed to the increase in SG&A.

Workforce reductions, which are the ongoing reductions and rebalancing that occur each quarter, were $300 ro@j2B624illion in 2001 and
$167 million in 2000. The 2002 amount excludes workforce reductions that took place in the 2002 second quarter. Thesed2q0&rsmcaorkforce
reductions were recorded in the second-quarter actions amount disclosed in note S, "2002 Actions," on pages 90 throughd®iandhie 2002 actions
amount mentioned on page 50. The annual increases in workforce reductions are attributable to the difficult economic eduiiogr2é01 and 2002, as
well as the company's rebalancing of the workforce for shifts in required skills.

Advertising and promotional expense was $1,427 million in 2002, a decline of $188 million from 2001 following ati§tR7emillion in 2001
versus 2000. The declines from 2000 to 2002 are primarily due to a strategic initiative to consolidate and centraliziverisaig at the corporate level
in order to gain additional efficiencies. The decreases in 2002 were primarily in spending associated with direct respitsisg, &dsiness partner
programs and customer and sales events. The decline in 2001 was primarily driven by lower spending on brand advertisiogara gpending.

The provision for bad debts expense in 2002, 2001 and 2000 was $673 million, $490 million and $270 million, yespeetineteases were related
primarily to the company's Global Financing receivables portfolio and were the result of the weakening economy and expesQmsrimunications
sector. See page 62 for further information about the company's financing receivables.

As described in "Standards Implemented," on pages 75 and 76, the company adopted new accounting rules thaeelmntzatibn of goodwill
starting January 1, 2002. Page 76 includes income and earnings per share amounts that are adjusted to present comparasivethenoew goodwill
rules were in place prior to 2002. Goodwill expense, net of tax, was $262 million in 2001 and $436 million in 2000.

The remaining base SG&A expense includes all the other expenses that are not separately discussed above andsamb6itedllion, $14,396
million and $14,778 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The increase in 2002 was solely due to the acquired ResS(Bass SG&A expense
reductions, excluding the impact of PwCC, were primarily due to the company's business transformation and efficiency asitie¢iVas concentrated
and focused control of day-to-day discretionary spending.

Looking Forward

The company will continue to execute on its business transformation and efficiency initiatives.

The second quarter 2002 actions are estimated to reduce cost and expense by at least an incremental $900amililo2DP8eas compared to
2002. Approximately half of these incremental cost and expense reductions are estimated to benefit Global Services, bppsoperast for the
Technology Group and approximately 20 percent for the Systems Group.

The future level of provision for bad debts will depend upon economic conditions and the health of each sectdhiaeonigany has a
concentration of financing receivables. Refer to pages 61 to 63 for additional information about the company's finaneisigseceiv

RESEARCH, DEVELOPMENT AND ENGINEERING

Description

Once again, the company had more patents awarded in the United States in 2002 than any other company. Thistmgdes theal®w that IBM
achieved this distinction. Being the leader in patents contributes to IBM's ability to gain market share in key areagrifezerttachievements and
initiatives that have given IBM an edge in the marketplace include autonomic (self-healing) computing capabilities andig@mgksiticon-on-insulator
technology, and the ongoing support of the open standard Linux operating system. Another significant benefit of beingitheeleade is the ability to
generate income through sales of IP and custom development arrangements. The level of R&D spending is determined basegrgecti@id of
future customer technology needs and areas offering significant long-term growth opportunities for shareholders.

Historical Results

Research, development and engineering (RD&E) expense declined 4.7 percent in 2002 from 2001, following a dezreersemfih.2001 from
2000. The declines in 2002 and 2001 were a result of actions taken to improve productivity. In addition, the compargeckfis@pending to increase its
investment in high-growth opportunities such as e-business, initiatives to support Linux, middleware software products; eatopoting and
e-business on demand.

Looking Forward

In November 2002, the company announced On Demand Innovation Services, a hew services arm located in its Resaawhidipsovides
customers access to a discrete team of researchers who specialize in high-end business transformation and technolagyheonswultarganization will
be staffed with up to 200 IBM Research consultants worldwide.
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INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY AND CUSTOM DEVELOPMENT INCOME

Description

As discussed above, the company's world-class R&D function results in superior products for the company's custaiseresattis in IP income.
Some of the technological breakthroughs that IBM achieves are used exclusively in IBM products while other breakthroeghsyasthass when the
new technology is not strategic to IBM's business goals. A third group is both used internally and licensed externally.

IP and custom development income comprises the three categories in the table below. Sales and other transfyrscaiNPtearsaction-based
lump sums and are relatively less predictable in amount and timing than licensing/royalty-based fees. Licensing/royagsliaseldé ongoing cash
inflow and income streams. The key factors impacting the amount of income earned in these two categories are the tinilizigjlapdbiiee company's
licensable IP. IBM also earns income from performing custom development for specific customers.

In addition to the IP income sources in the table below, the company also generates value from its patent pogfokoass-licensing arrangements
and IP licensed in divestiture transactions. Cross-licensing arrangements involve licensing of the company's IP toaithaxcparige for the third
party's IP. The company does not record income on these transactions except to the extent that cash is received. Tiwed/alyé&actor IP transferred
in divestiture transactions is included in the overall gain or loss from the divestiture and is therefore excluded fréerbtievab

Historical Results

(dollars in millions)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31: 2002 2001 2000

Sales and other transfers of intellectual property $ 511 $ 727 % 913
Licensing/royalty-based fees 351 465 528
Custom development income 238 284 223
Total $ 1,100 $ 1476 $ 1,664

The decreases in sales and other transfers of IP in 2002 versus 2001 and 2001 versus 2000 were primarily @uentordogresdtiarger dollar sales
and other transfers during the prior years. The amount of income from licensing/royalty-based fee transactions has hgetuddolieconomic
conditions and fewer licensing opportunities resulting from industry consolidation.

Looking Forward

The timing and amount of sales and other transfers of IP may vary significantly from year to year depending nnirogy dfi@éiw patents and
know-how development, economic conditions, and the extent of further industry consolidation, if any.

OTHER (INCOME) AND EXPENSE

The primary reason for the reduction in Other (income) and expense in 2002 was the actions taken by the congmonthahd fourth quarters of
2002 amounting to $513 million. See note S, "2002 Actions," on pages 90 through 92 for further information. The remaimh@iteméncome) and
expense largely offset. These offsetting items include the lower writedowns of certain equity investments for other tlzay tearget declines of $58
million in 2002 as compared to $405 million in 2001. There were no such write-downs in 2000. Net realized gains on aaiée®hsecother
investments were $(63) million in 2002, $(236) million in 2001 and $(265) million in 2000. These writedowns and salearaatéléged to the dynamics
in the equity markets over the past few years. Additionally, net realized gains from certain real estate activities weitko®(662002, $(133) million in
2001 and $(222) million in 2000. The company recorded interest income (from securities and other investments excludiad FiveaGéoty business
transactions) of $(127) million in 2002, $(175) million in 2001 and $(308) million in 2000. Foreign currency transactiorega$(89) million, $(190)
million and $(128) million in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The reduction of Other (income) and expense from 2000as 20®arily attributable
to the 2001 writedown of certain equity investments for other than temporary market declines.

INTEREST EXPENSE

Interest expense is presented in Cost of Global Financing in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings only if éxéerakatedrrowings are to
support the Global Financing external business. See page 63 for additional information regarding Global Financing debstaexpirnse.

Interest expense, excluding amounts recorded in Cost of Global Financing, declined 37.9 percent in 2002 from28Gieereh8in 2001 versus
2000. The declines were primarily due to lower average interest rates and a decline in average debt outstanding in the periods.

Retirement-Related Benefits

DESCRIPTION

The company provides a number of retirement-related benefits to its employees including defined benefit pensidrdpfaredacontribution
pension plans. The company also provides nonpension postretirement plans comprising retiree medical and life insurance plans.

HISTORICAL RESULTS

The following table provides the total pre-tax (income)/cost for all retirement-related plans. (Income)/cost aenimefisen as a reduction
of/addition to, respectively, the company's cost and expense amounts in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings witbin (g .c&st, SG&A,
RD&E) relating to the job function of the individuals participating in the plans.
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The amounts disclosed in this retirement-related benefits table are for continuing operations.

(dollars in millions)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31: 2002 2001* 2000*
Total retirement-related plans—income $ (248) $ (493) $ (389)
Comprise:

Defined benefit and contribution pension plans—income $ (619) $ (886) $ (776)
Nonpension postretirement benefits—cost 371 393 387

* Reclassified to conform with 2002 presentation.

Total retirement-related plans income decreased $245 million in 2002 as compared to 2001. This was primarilyddfie¢d thenefit plans. The
primary driver of the decrease in retirement-related plans income relates to the 2002 change in defined benefit plansassumption

See note W, "Retirement-Related Benefits," on pages 95 to 100 for detailed information about the company's anhéchrdponents of defined
benefit plan income, the funded status of defined benefit plans, the historical effects of actuarial assumptions on ngltitethptans (income)/cost, the
company's accounting policy for retirement-related benefits, the company's funding of the U.S. defined benefit plantim gouerfieurof 2002, the impact
of certain plan amendments on retirement-related plans (income)/cost, and descriptions of the major plans.

LOOKING FORWARD

On January 1, 2003, the company reduced its expected return on plan assets for its U.S. defined benefit plaeréemh 8.8.0 percent, and on
December 31, 2002, the company lowered its discount rate assumption from 7.0 percent to 6.75 percent, and its rate aércamepessafrom 6.0
percent to 4.0 percent. Reductions in these rates also occurred in certain non-U.S. countries. As discussed on pagp&@$¥, tuatrdmted cash and
IBM stock to the main U.S. defined benefit plan. As a result, it remains fully funded on an Accumulated Benefit Obligatioba@&dhe collective
effect of these actions will be an estimated reduction in the 2003 Retirement-related plans income of approximately $5auitpared to 2002
Retirement-related plans income.

Future impacts of pension plans, including the changes noted above, on the operating results of the companyatemenid coralitions, employee
demographics, mortality rates and investment performance.

Allocation of Expense to Segments

See note X, "Segment Information," on pages 100 to 104 for additional information about the pre-tax income/@bss¢grheat, as well as the
methodologies employed by the company to allocate shared expenses to the segments.

Provision for Income Taxes

HISTORICAL RESULTS

The continuing operations provision for income taxes resulted in an effective tax rate of 29.1 percent for 20@2| witinfae 2001 effective tax
rate of 28.9 percent and the 2000 effective tax rate of 31.0 percent. Excluding the tax effect of the Microelectronics pavigdarof the 2002 actions as
described in note S, "2002 Actions," on pages 90 through 92, the 2002 rate was 29.5 percent. This 0.6 point increadeOftamateheds principally
attributable to a less favorable mix of geographic income. The 2.1 point decrease in the 2001 rate from the 2000 ratelywdsemesidt of a more
favorable mix of income in countries with low tax rates as well as adjustments to estimated tax liabilities relatingearprior y

LOOKING FORWARD

In the normal course of business, the company expects that its effective tax rate will approximate 30 percentillTtiearage year to year based on
nonrecurring events (such as the tax effect of the Microelectronics Division's actions in 2002) as well as recurringlizditogste geographical mix of
income before taxes, the timing and amount of foreign dividends, state and local taxes, and the interaction of variexssylategjies.

In 2001, the World Trade Organization (WTO) determined that tax provisions of the FSC Repeal and ExtraterritagiéEIFig&nclusion Act of
2000 constitute an export subsidy prohibited by the WTO Agreement on Subsidies and Countervailing Measures Agreemegovdratdedt appealed
the panel's decision and lost its appeal. The President of the United States has stated that the United States will toenpif @ithling. During 2002,
the House Ways and Means Committee Chairman introduced the American Competitiveness and Corporate Accountability Adtisfiz6pasé&d bill
would repeal the ETI regime and introduce broad-based international tax reform. If the ETI exclusion is repealed and tdptasktn@mis not enacted,
the loss of the ETI tax benefit may adversely impact the company's tax rate.

Additional Information

In addition to the information in this Management Discussion section regarding the company's business, page8 dftttreuBM 2002 Form 10-K,
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 10, 2003, provide additional information regarding IBM's loasisiessoh high-level
organization and certain key risk factors.
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Results of Discontinued Operations

(dollars in millions)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31: 2002 2001 2000

Revenue $ 1946 $ 2,799 $ 3,307
Pre-tax (loss)/income $ (2,037)$ (497) $ 123
Income tax benefit (282) (74) (96)
(Loss)/income $ (1,755)$ (423) $ 219

See the "Basis of Presentation” section in note A, "Significant Accounting Policies" on page 70 and note C, 'Asifingstitures” on pages 78 to
80 for a discussion of the company's divestiture of the HDD business.

Revenue from discontinued operations in 2002 totalled $1,946 million, a decline of 30.5 percent compared wittf &;@80eollion in 2001.
Revenue from discontinued operations decreased 15.4 percent in 2001 compared with 2000 revenue of $3,307 million. TheielDéclieeehas the
company's ability to sell HDDs is highly dependent on the personal computer industry, which experienced a significanttagimtimg in 2000, as well
as a result of general industry price declines.

Loss from discontinued operations in 2002 was $1,755 million as compared to a loss of $423 million in 2001 anéi$2dSmneiltion in 2000. The
loss in 2002 was primarily attributable to the operational loss of $1,373 million, net of tax, and an estimated loss bof dispb2D business of $382
million, net of tax. Included in the operational net loss in 2002 was a $508 million, net of tax, increase for certaitaketidnysthe company in the second
and fourth quarters of 2002, a $217 million, net of tax, increase for inventory write-offs as compared to 2001 and ar§5%trofii@x, increase in
warranty costs as compared to 2001. The announcement of the Hitachi transaction led the company to a strategic deeisimndrkirenand selling
efforts for some of the company's older HDD products. The increase in inventory write-offs was especially pronounceo!lfigrtpesducts.

The second quarter actions primarily included charges for the abandonment and associated removal costs for quaphieetyared tooling that are
no longer needed by the company and will not be purchased by Hitachi. The fourth quarter actions primarily included tineesib@mdiosssociated
removal costs for machinery and equipment and tooling, workforce reduction-related charges and excess leased spacec@tadyestiasse HDD
business, all as a result of the final agreement completed with Hitachi.

The 2002 and 2001 discontinued operations tax rates of approximately 14 percent and 15 percent, respectivelfmasiyitedm the mix of losses
in countries with low tax rates. Additionally, the 2002 tax rate included an incremental U.S. tax charge of $248 millicabéttithe December
repatriation of non-U.S. transaction proceeds. The 2000 discontinued operations tax rate was impacted by the geograpticmaiarad changes in the
value of IP rights that were previously transferred to several non-U.S. subsidiaries.

Fourth Quarter

Continuing Operations

The company's fourth-quarter 2002 diluted earnings per common share from continuing operations was $1.11, condgated @atimings per
common share of $1.46 in the fourth quarter of 2001. Fourth-quarter income from continuing operations was $1.9 billionwiam$arédillion in
fourth quarter 2001. Revenue from continuing operations for the fourth quarter was $23.7 billion, up 7 percent (4 persemtatureency) compared
with the fourth quarter of 2001 revenue of $22.1 billion.

In the Americas, revenue was $10.3 billion, an increase of 4.6 percent (7 percent at constant currency) frometie28@&V@nue from
Europe/Middle East/Africa was $7.8 billion, up 12.6 percent (1 percent at constant currency). Asia-Pacific revenue greemf7(4 percent at constant
currency) to $4.8 billion. OEM revenue decreased 11.3 percent (11 percent at constant currency) to $828 million comperéalvtfitguarter of 2001.

Revenue from Global Services, including maintenance, grew 16.7 percent (13 percent at constant currency) igtaetéoud!$10.6 billion, driven
by the PwCC acquisition. Global Services revenue, excluding maintenance, increased 19 percent (15 percent at constaikusigneg)more than
$18 billion in services contracts in the quarter compared with $9 billion in the 2002 third quarter.

Hardware revenue increased 1.3 percent (down 1 percent at constant currency) to $8.1 billion from the 2001 ésuBlespitetcontinued weak IT
spending, revenue at constant currency from xSeries Intel-based servers grew with high-end server demand particulanijestemegue from pSeries
UNIX-based servers was flat with fourth-quarter 2001 revenue. IBM eServer revenue from iSeries declined as comparedhqtizetéoiof 2001, due to
the weak economic environment. While zSeries revenue also declined in the quarter from a year ago, total deliveriesafpBériggpower as
measured in MIPS increased 13 percent compared with 7 percent in third-quarter 2002. Storage products revenue declirtiskadtboamyh revenue
increased, driven by high-end products. Microelectronics revenue decreased as compared to the fourth quarter of 2001.

The personal computer unit increased revenue as compared to the fourth quarter of 2001 due to higher salesnof metki®p@ducts.

Software revenue was flat (down 2 percent at constant currency) at $3.8 billion compared to the 2001 fourth dodrhemezak economic
environment. Middleware products declined 1 percent at constant currency in the fourth quarter of 2002.

Operating systems revenue decreased compared with the prior-year period due primarily to the related volum&eemdhafdvare sales.
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Global Financing revenue decreased 10.5 percent (11 percent at constant currency) in the fourth quarter of 2étilion. $829enue from the
Enterprise Investments/Other area, which includes industry-specific IT solutions, increased 1.1 percent (down 6 pertamt @ircensy) compared to
the fourth quarter of 2001 to $343 million.

The company's overall gross profit margin was 38.8 percent in the fourth quarter, compared to 40.3 percent fothi 20@tter, primarily due to
lower Global Services margin as a result of PwCC being at a lower gross profit margin than the company's base busiigssgalsotle company's
ITS Services business came late in the quarter, which resulted in the company's utilization rates being lower. This qedfiidiyaféset by an increase
in Software and Hardware gross profit margins in the fourth quarter of 2002.

In the fourth quarter, total expense and other income of $6.5 billion increased 21.4 percent over the year@driiesipeing charges of $614
million associated with the acquisition and integration of PwCC and related restructuring as well as one-time comperssatibicivase partially offset
by a $40 million benefit from net adjustments to restructuring charges from the second-quarter 2002 actions. Specificallyp&@&&Ancreased 16
percent, reflecting the PWCC charges offset by the benefit from net adjustments related to second-quarter actions amtvitveepgose due to the
implementation of new accounting rules. RD&E expense decreased 2.9 percent in the fourth quarter. Lower IP and custonmiecelognhed a
negative impact on results compared with the year-earlier period, despite two sizable contracts totaling, in the aggregaiztesp170 million in the
quarter. Other (income) and expense was negatively affected by foreign exchange losses as well as lower gains fromestataimacteities. Overall,
IBM continues to benefit from the company's continuing e-business transformation and productivity enhancements.

The company's effective tax rate in the fourth quarter was 29.5 percent compared with 28.6 percent in the fowtt2q0arte

The company spent $74 million on common share repurchases in the fourth quarter. The average number of comnistasdargsassuming
dilution was lower by 29.3 million shares in fourth quarter of 2002 versus the fourth quarter of 2001, primarily as athesoftgafing common share
repurchase program. The average number of shares assuming dilution was 1,728.7 million in fourth-quarter 2002 versubidn7/s&duni-quarter
2001.

Discontinued Operations

Revenue from discontinued operations for the fourth quarter of 2002 was $548 million, a 19.9 percent decreaseuirtbnotiaeter of 2001. Net
loss from discontinued operations for the fourth quarter of 2002 was $893 million as compared to a loss of $232 milliofitie 20@&rlying business
dynamics causing these fourth quarter financial trends are consistent with those underlying the full-year 2002 and 208duissadsn the Results of
Discontinued Operations section on page 54, including the additional loss of $247 million, net of tax, incurred in theafoerttinodisposal of the HDD
business.

Financial Condition

Dynamics

The assets and debt associated with the company's Global Financing business are a significant part of IBM'srfaiianiahccordingly, although
the financial position amounts appearing below and on pages 56 and 57 are the company's consolidated amounts includiragGiaphabFhe extent
the Global Financing business is a major driver of the consolidated financial position, reference in the narrative séetioradallto a separate Global
Financing section in this Management Discussion on pages 60 through 63. The amounts appearing in the separate Glob=gdfioarmiag
supplementary data presented to facilitate an understanding of the company's Global Financing business.

Overall

During 2002, the company made significant acquisitions as well as ongoing investments in RD&E and in fixed alsigts, lthe company fully
funded, on an ABO basis, the IBM Personal Pension Plan (PPP). In spite of this activity, the company ended the year withi&5j&87Gash and cash
equivalents and current Marketable securities. In the fourth quarter, the company took advantage of the low interesinragnétwiexecute some
term-debt financing that increased the non-Global Financing debt to $2,189 million at December 31, 2002. The debt-tbecapit@l2gercent is well
within the company's target.

Cash Flow

The company's cash flow from operating, investing and financing activities, as reflected in the Consolidated &t&tasieRlows on page 69, are
summarized in the table on page 56. These amounts include the cash flows associated with the company's Global Finasciwhibhsinepresented on
pages 60 through 63.
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(dollars in millions)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31: 2002 2001 2000
Net cash provided by/(used in) continuing operations:
Operating activities $ 13,788 $ 13966 $ 8,837
Investing activities (6,897) (5,862) (4,001)
Financing activities (7,265) (5,309) (6,359)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 148 (83) (247)
Net cash (used in)/provided by discontinued operations* (722) 55 190
Net change in cash and cash equivalents $ (948) $ 2,767 $ (1,480)

* Does not include approximately $1,170 million of net proceeds from the sale of the HDD business. Such proceeds are Metuztesthinsed in
from Investing activities in the table above.

Working Capital

(dollars in millions)

AT DECEMBER 31: 2002 2001

Current assets $ 41,652 $ 42,461
Current liabilities 34,550 35,119
Working capital $ 7,102 $ 7,342
Current ratio 1.21:1 1.21:1

In 2002 the company continued to focus on cash generation and improved its performance in several key workiogppapéats; particularly
accounts receivable and inventory. The $809 million decrease in Current assets was due primarily to the decline of $h, ibéwelfitories due to
improvements in inventory levels across all business units and divestitures. The company's inventory levels now staadrdba 20wy inventory
turnover increased year to year. In addition, there was a decrease of $418 million in Cash and cash equivalents andsktarkgéahlesulting from the
$2,852 million cash payment for the purchase of PwCC, the $2,092 million cash contribution to fund the PPP, and $85%estificetining payments.
These cash outlays were partially offset by the $1,170 million of net cash received from the sale of the HDD businessdpptdaichately $650 million
received from the monetization of interest rate swaps associated with the company's debt portfolio, and the collectovabfefreqrior years' taxes
and interest of $460 million. The decline of $660 million in Short-term financing receivables (see pages 60 through 638ahavpagdfset by the $814
million increase in Notes and accounts receivable—trade, which resulted from the acquisition of PwCC and the strongerteurdvepue in 2002 as
compared to 2001.

Current liabilities decreased $569 million primarily due to the $5,157 million decline in Short-term debt (priseribted with the company's
Global Financing business, see pages 60 through 63), partially offset by increases in Accounts payable of $583 millias diiwelm Wy the acquisition
of PwCC and previous intercompany payables that were converted to external accounts payable as a result of the HDDuliDestoniger 31, 2002, as
well as increases in Other accrued liabilities of $2,192 million primarily due to the 2002 actions taken by the comparilyeskideste S, "2002
Actions," on pages 90 through 92 and due to increases in short-term derivatives that are in a liability position, asmaiesimDeferred income of
$1,053 million primarily due to the impact of foreign currencies.

Investments

The company made strategic acquisitions in 2002, totaling $3,958 million, including the purchase of PwCC for $8{@RrB8%2 million in cash,
$294 million primarily in the form of restricted shares of IBM common stock and $328 million in notes convertible to restactedf IBM common
stock). In addition, $4,750 million was invested in RD&E and the company capitalized external software costs of $254 drfi8d8 arillion of
internal-use software costs. The company invested $4,753 million for Plant, rental machines and other property. Thiscootiuisgsinvestments in
the Microelectronics Division 300 millimeter chip-making facility in East Fishkill, New York. In addition, Global Servicésgereequipment for its SO
business and Global Financing invested in equipment for leasing to customers.

In 2002, the company spent $4,212 million for the repurchase of the company's common shares. At December 3to2Q@R\thas remaining
authorization to purchase $3,864 million of IBM common shares in the open market from time to time, based on market conditions.

The company funded all of these investments primarily from cash from operations.

Debt and Equity

The company's funding requirements are continually monitored and strategies are executed to manage the compasstet anerliability profile.
Additionally, the company maintains sufficient flexibility to access global funding sources as needed. During 2002, theissngpbaigbt denominated in
U.S. dollars and Japanese yen to meet existing financing needs.

The major rating agencies' ratings of the company's debt securities at December 31, 2002, appear in the tableeheowsctianged from
December 31, 2001:

STANDARD MOODY'S
AND INVESTORS FITCH
POOR'S SERVICE RATINGS
Senior long-term debt A+ Al AA-
Commercial paper A-1 Prime-1 F-1+
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(dollars in millions)

AT DECEMBER 31: 2002 2001

Total company debt $ 26,017 $ 27,151
Non-global financing debt* $ 2,189 $ 1,606
Non-global financing debt/ capitalization 10.2% 7.5%

* Non-global financing debt is the company's total external debt less the Global Financing debt described in the GlobglFaferarsheet on page
61.

The company's non-global financing businesses generate significant cash from ongoing operations and therefod® geneeajlyire a significant
amount of debt. Cash flows from operations are these businesses' primary source of funds for future investments.

The increase in the non-global financing debt was driven primarily by the PwCC acquisition.

A review of the company's debt and equity should also consider other contractual obligations and commitmentsdisbiokestelsewhere in the
financial section. These amounts are summarized in the table below to facilitate a reader's review.

The company's total consolidated Stockholders' equity decreased $666 million to $22,782 million at December 8tha2p@ue to a decline in
Accumulated gains and (losses) not affecting retained earnings that resulted from a $2,765 million charge, net of ada$hé&adfimillion, to establish
a minimum pension liability for certain of the company's non-U.S. pension plans. See page 95 for further information abcatitiiisg. The decline was
partially offset by an increase in common stock primarily due to the common stock issued or to be issued for a portimC6f dlogisition ($284
million), the funding of the PPP through the issuance of treasury shares ($1,871 million) and a reduction in the compagokgepurchase activity.
See note N, "Stockholders' Equity Activity,” on pages 87 and 88.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

PAYMENTS DUE IN

BALANCE AT
(dollars in millions) DEC. 31, 2002 2003 2004-05 2006-07 after 2007
Long-term debt $ 22,723 % 3949 $ 5283 $ 3551 $ 9,940
Lease commitments 6,085 1,370 1,925 1,200 1,590
COMMITMENTS

AMOUNTS EXPIRING IN

BALANCE AT after
(dollars in millions) DEC. 31, 2002 2003 2004-05 2006-07 2007
Unused lines of credit $ 3482 $ 3134 $ 195 % 139 % 14
Other commitments 288 115 159 14 —
Financial guarantees 126 29 82 1 14

Unused lines of credit represent amounts available to the company's distributors to support their working capitdl aneggtible lines of credit
relating to the company's syndicated loan activities. Other commitments primarily include the company's commitments fiogmoirigefor future
purchases of the company's products. Financial guarantees represent guarantees for certain loans and financial comeoitnpamip fiael made as of
December 31, 2002. See note O, "Contingencies and Commitments," on pages 88 and 89.

Liquidity

As discussed on page 50, the company purchased Rational for approximately $2.1 billion in cash on February Z1¢c@0@#&anjhmay also decide
to make additional contributions to its pension plans. The decision to fund any of the company's plans depends upon ectitimmsjcecoployee
demographics, mortality rates and investment performance. The company estimates that future cash requirements for tioeseviithbsaitinded from
cash flow from operations. See page 83 for a discussion of the company's lines of credit. See note Y, "Subsequent Eagmi)4 darpnformation on
the company's new shelf registration.

Critical Accounting Estimates

The application of GAAP involves the exercise of varying degrees of judgment. While the resulting accounting estjroptésfinition, not always
precisely equal the related actual results, seven of these estimates involve more judgment than others. Two of theaeee$tinzsdimsance for
uncollectible financing receivables and the fair value of lease residual values. See page 63 for a discussion of thesd lestotraes are discussed
below.

Useful Lives of Technology Group Equipment

The company determines the useful lives and related depreciation charges for plant and equipment in the Techpdleggdsosaiprojected product
life cycles that could change significantly due to technical innovations and competitor actions in response to relatevéiglssivgrcycles. To the extent
actual useful lives are less than previously estimated lives, the company will increase its depreciation charge or ¥itnwritéedown technically
obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.
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The company estimates useful lives of its Technology Group equipment by reference to the current and projectethdgaamingconductor
industry, product life cycles, and anticipated competitor actions.

Expected Return on Plan Assets

The expected return on plan assets is used in calculating the net periodic pension (income)/cost. The differencbe laetwel return on plan assets
and expected return on plan assets are recognized in the calculation of net periodic pension (income)/cost over fiv@yeatselug term, typically
has not had a material effect on the Consolidated Financial Statements.

As described on pages 95 and 96, if the fair value of the pension plan's assets are below the plan's ABO, thellcbenfsquired to record a
minimum liability. In some situations, the pension asset must be partially reversed through a charge to stockholdefsheqABQ In excess of plan
assets is large enough, the company may be required, by law, to make an additional contribution to the pension plamniéhite tfiéunding is not
dependent upon the company's expected long-term return assumption, the company's estimated expected return on plentiaabettiinate used by
the company. Actual results that differ from the estimates may result in more or less future company funding into théguesnsian s planned by
management.

Costs to Complete Long-Term Service Contracts

The company enters into numerous long-term service contracts through its SO and BCS businesses. SO contrapésicatsyepfoo ten years and
BCS contracts can be for several years. During the contractual period, revenue, cost and profits may be impacted by #stinititeate profitability of
each contract. If at any time, these estimates indicate the contract will be unprofitable, the entire estimated logadordeeatthe contract is recorded
immediately.

The company performs ongoing profitability analyses of its long-term services contracts in order to check whettrstrabinhates require updating.
Key factors reviewed by the company to estimate the future costs to complete each contract are future labor costs aityl @ifadecties.

Net Realizable Value and Customer Demand

The company reviews the net realizable value of and demand for its inventory on a quarterly basis to ensureveninyed stated at the lower of
cost or net realizable value and that obsolete inventory is written off. Inventory at higher risk for writedowns or vaiitetbéfse in the industries that
have lower relative gross margins and that are subject to a higher likelihood of changes in industry cycles. The senaodnglerstonal computer
businesses are two such industries.

Factors that could impact estimated demand and selling prices are the timing and success of future technoloiice amtbtize economy.

Warranty Claims

The company generally offers three-year warranties for its personal computer products and one-year warrantidstsmtinespooducts. The
company estimates the amount and cost of future warranty claims for its current period sales. These estimates are dsattoagevgrranty cost for
current period product shipments. The company uses historical warranty claim information as well as recent trends thggenightispast cost
information may differ from future claims.

Factors that could impact the estimated claim information include the success of the company's productivity anitiafisisy as well as parts and
labor costs.

Currency Rate Fluctuations

Changes in the relative values of non-U.S. currencies to the U.S. dollar affect the company's results. At De@@@BecBiency changes resulted
in assets and liabilities denominated in local currencies being translated into more dollars than at year-end 2001. ¥hatewianges had a favorable
effect on revenue growth of approximately 1 percentage point in 2002, and an unfavorable effect on revenue of approxnsatehgé points and
approximately 3 percentage points in 2001 and 2000, respectively.

For non-U.S. subsidiaries and branches that operate in U.S. dollars or whose economic environment is highly jnfiaiglation adjustments are
reflected in results of operations, as required by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 52, "ForeigfT@usiation.” Generally,
the company manages currency risk in these entities by linking prices and contracts to U.S. dollars and by enteringiotoréarejghedge contracts.

The company uses a variety of financial hedging instruments to limit specific currency risks related to finarentigrisaaed other foreign
currency-based transactions. Further discussion of currency and hedging appears in note L, "Derivatives and HedgingsTtamspaties 84 to 86.

On January 1, 2001, the company adopted SFAS No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Astatiesdeal by SFAS No.
138, "Accounting for Certain Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities." See "Standards Implemented," on pagés fob additional
information regarding SFAS No. 133.

Market Risk

In the normal course of business, the financial position of the company routinely is subjected to a varietyncdidisikionl to the market risk
associated with interest rate and currency movements on outstanding debt and non-U.S. dollar denominated assets aathéaleiktiesples of risk
include collectibility of accounts receivable and recoverability of residual values on leased assets.
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The company regularly assesses these risks and has established policies and business practices to protechagamsffihetsaof these and other
potential exposures. As a result, the company does not anticipate any material losses from these risks.

The company's debt in support of the Global Financing business and the geographic breadth of the company'saparatonslement of market
risk from changes in interest and currency rates. The company manages this risk, in part, through the use of a vardéy ioEfieaments including
derivatives, as explained in note L, "Derivatives and Hedging Transactions," on pages 84 to 86.

To meet disclosure requirements, the company performs a sensitivity analysis to determine the effects that exqretireskmay have on the fair
values of the company's debt and other financial instruments.

The financial instruments that are included in the sensitivity analysis comprise all of the company's cash andabests emarketable securities,
long-term non-lease receivables, investments, long-term and short-term debt and all derivative financial instruments. iy’ paortfpiéo of derivative
financial instruments generally includes interest rate swaps, interest rate options, foreign currency swaps, forwardrmbop#ots contracts.

To perform the sensitivity analysis, the company assesses the risk of loss in fair values from the effect ofdlygiwthgés in interest rates and
foreign currency exchange rates on market-sensitive instruments. The market values for interest and foreign currencystoateaocgmputed based on
the present value of future cash flows as affected by the changes in rates that are attributable to the market risk baind heediscount rates used for
the present value computations were selected based on market interest and foreign currency exchange rates in effectat,28@haret 2001. The
differences in this comparison are the hypothetical gains or losses associated with each type of risk.

Information provided by the sensitivity analysis does not necessarily represent the actual changes in fair haloertipetrty would incur under
normal market conditions because, due to practical limitations, all variables other than the specific market risk falct@oastdre. In addition, the
results of the model are constrained by the fact that certain items are specifically excluded from the analysis, whilgahia$imaments relating to the
financing or hedging of those items are included by definition. Excluded items include leased assets, forecasted fojigrashrfiews, and the
company's net investment in foreign operations. As a consequence, reported changes in the values of some of the furaanialimgacting the results
of the sensitivity analysis are not matched with the offsetting changes in the values of the items that those instruesegitedr® dinance or hedge.

The results of the sensitivity analysis at December 31, 2002, and December 31, 2001, are as follows:

Interest Rate Risk

At December 31, 2002, a 10 percent decrease in the levels of interest rates with all other variables held cahsémuitvioal decrease in the fair
market value of the company's financial instruments of $237 million as compared with a decrease of $177 million at De@98heA31l) percent
increase in the levels of interest rates with all other variables held constant would result in an increase in the falezahramany's financial
instruments of $210 million as compared to $151 million at December 31, 2001. Changes in the relative sensitivity cdlieedaihe company's
financial instrument portfolio for these theoretical changes in the level of interest rates are primarily driven by cliamgesiipany's debt maturity,
interest rate profile and amount. In 2002 versus 2001, the reported increase in interest rate sensitivity is primanilyrdweaseain the proportion of
long-term fixed rate debt outstanding at December 31, 2002.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

At December 31, 2002, a 10 percent weaker U.S. dollar against foreign currencies with all other variables heldaddsesmilt in a decrease in the
fair value of the company's financial instruments of $640 million as compared with a decrease of $1,401 million at Dec2@tderCGxinversely, a 10
percent stronger U.S. dollar against foreign currencies with all other variables held constant would result in an inedasevaiue of the company's
financial instruments of $660 million compared to $1,440 million at December 31, 2001. In 2002 versus 2001, the reposedhdecesgn currency
exchange rate sensitivity was primarily due to a reduction in the amount of hedge of net investment related currencgrdéby@ftst taking into
account the effect of "receive euro/pay U.S. dollar" and "receive yen/pay U.S. dollar" cross-currency swaps executediuring 200

Financing Risks

See page 60 for a discussion of the financing risks associated with the company's Global Financing business aedtisigoateta mitigate such
risks while striving for superior return on Global Financing's equity.
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Employees and Related Workforce

PERCENTAGE
CHANGES
2002 2001 2000 2002-01 2001-00
IBM/wholly owned subsidiaries 315,889 319,876 316,303 (1.2) 11
Less-than-wholly owned subsidiaries 22,282 25,403 21,886 (12.3) 16.1
Complementary 17,250 21,300 25,500 (29.0) (16.5)

Employees at IBM and its wholly owned subsidiaries in 2002 decreased 3,987 from last year. The decrease wadydtevpoirkiarice rebalancing
initiatives designed to improve IBM's competitiveness in the marketplace. The major initiatives contributing to this dedieetire divestiture of the
HDD business and 2002 workforce rebalancing and productivity actions offset by the acquisition of PwCC.

In less-than-wholly owned subsidiaries, the number of employees decreased from last year, primarily in Chink,cdsherdfD divestiture.

The company's complementary workforce is an approximation of equivalent full-time employees hired under temptiraeyapdrimited-term
employment arrangements to meet specific business needs in a flexible and cost-effective manner.

Global Financing

Description of Business

Global Financing is a business segment within IBM, but is managed (on an arm's-length basis) and measured asthitdedoae entity.
Accordingly, the information presented in this section is consistent with this separate company view.

The mission of Global Financing is to generate a return on equity. It also facilitates the acquisition of IBM heottware,and services.

Global Financing invests in financing assets, manages the associated risks, and leverages with debt, all withetteé gbrerating consistently
strong returns on equity. The focus on IBM product and IBM customers mitigates the risks normally associated with a fingpeinyg €lobal Financing
has the benefit of both a deep knowledge of its customer base and a clear insight into the products that are being peased.alloiss Global
Financing to manage two of the major risks (credit and residual value) that are normally associated with financing.

Global Financing comprises three lines of business:

. Customer financing provides lease and loan financing to end users and internal customers for terms generally betweie tyeaand f
Internal financing is predominantly in support of Global Services' long-term customer service contracts. Global Finarfaaigralacselected
portion of the company's accounts receivable, primarily for cash management purposes. All of these internal financingésrarggatme
arm's-length rates and are based upon market conditions.

. Commercial financing provides primarily short-term inventory and accounts receivable financing to dealers and remafkpteductd.
Global Financing also participates as a lender in selected syndicated loan facilities which originated from 1999 throbghd2@gied loans
are loans in which Global Financing purchased a fixed percentage of a loan facility from a bank or other lending indthaidfin@ncing no
longer participates in new syndicated loan programs. There are, however, remaining amounts committed and outstandinggutstandi
represent less than 2 percent of total Global Financing assets at December 31, 2002, as compared to 4 percent at D86&mber 31, 2

. Remarketing includes the sale and lease of used equipment to new or existing customers. This equipment is primarilyrsdheced fr
conclusion of lease transactions.

Results of Operations

(dollars in millions)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31: 2002 2001 2000
Global Financing external revenue $ 3203 $ 3407 $ 3,500
Global Financing internal revenue 939 836 944
Total Global Financing revenue 4,142 4,243 4,444
Global Financing cost 1,803 2,016 2,390
Gross profit $ 2339 $ 2227 $ 2,054
Gross profit margin 56.5% 52.5% 46.2%
Pre-tax income $ 955 $ 1,143 $ 1,176
After-tax income $ 627 $ 727 $ 763
Return on equity* 17.2% 18.4% 16.5%

* Return on equity is calculated using a five-point average of equity and an estimated tax rate principally based on Gibglsiegraphic mix of
earnings as IBM's provision for income taxes is determined on a consolidated basis. See page 89 for the IBM consoligated tax ra

Global Financing total revenue declined 2.4 percent in 2002 from 2001, following a decline of 4.5 percent in 20200@&r$he decline in 2002
was driven by a lower asset base, primarily due to decreases in demand for IT equipment caused by the current econoreit.€eFiveraieciine in 2001
was also driven by a lower asset base and a decline in used equipment sales.

Global Financing gross profit dollars increased 5.0 percent in 2002 versus 2001, following an increase of 8l 2@0teargrsus 2000. Global
Financing gross profit margin improved 4.0 points in 2002 following an increase of 6.3 points in 2001 as
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compared to 2000. The increases in 2002 gross profit dollars and gross profit margin were primarily driven by lower bostswélgted to the current
interest rate environment. The increase in 2001 was driven by lower borrowing costs discussed above and improved mdrgmspmese sales due to
a mix change to higher margin products.

Global Financing pre-tax income decreased 16.4 percent in 2002 versus 2001, following a decrease of 2.8 percansus 200D. The decrease in
2002 was driven by an increase in the provision for bad debts due to the current economic environment. See page 62ofualatisaddision of Global
Financing Allowance for Doubtful Accounts. The decrease in 2001 was due to increases in provision for bad debts pattipllgroffeease in gross
profit discussed above.

The decline in return on equity from 2001 to 2002 was due to lower earnings primarily associated with an incresssedqproad debts expense.
The increase in return on equity from 2000 to 2001 was primarily due to the decline in the equity balance from 2000 avid@dtexd by the increase in
the debt to equity ratio from 6.6x to 6.8x. See page 62 for a discussion of the allowance for doubtful accounts and pads@s8&on on debt.

Financial Condition

BALANCE SHEET

(dollars in millions)

AT DECEMBER 31: 2002 2001
Cash $ 1,157 $ 785
Net investment in sales-type leases 12,314 12,903
Equipment under operating leases:

External customers 1,922 2,213

Internal customers* 1,701 1,585
Customer loans 9,621 9,486
Total customer financing assets 25,558 26,187
Commercial financing receivables 5,525 6,500
Intercompany financing receivables* 1,616 1,883
Other receivables 445 597
Other assets 941 718
Total financing assets $ 35242 $ 36,670
Intercompany payables* $ 5383 $ 4,820
Debt 23,828 25,545
Other liabilities 2,556 2,548
Total financing liabilities 31,767 32,913
Total financing equity 3,475 3,757
Total financing liabilities and equity $ 35242 $ 36,670

* Amounts eliminated for purposes of IBM's consolidated results and therefore do not appear on pages 65 or on page 68tsThkseasih the
other assets in this table, are however, leveraged using Global Financing debt.

SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS

The primary use of funds in Global Financing is to originate customer and commercial financing assets. Customgafiseiscior end users consist
primarily of IBM hardware, software and services, but also include non-IBM equipment, software and services to meet |IB*'castds@utions
requirements. Customer financing assets are primarily sales-type, direct financing, and operating leases for equipnasribassvelt software and
services with terms generally for two to five years.

Commercial financing originations arise primarily from inventory and accounts receivable financing for dealersriaterem@lBM and non-1BM
products. Payment terms for inventory financing generally range from 30 to 75 days. Payment terms for accounts recetvadplgeiiveaally range from
30 to 90 days. Also included in commercial financing assets are syndicated loans.

ORIGINATIONS

The following are total external and internal financing originations.

(dollars in millions)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31: 2002 2001
Customer finance:
External $ 12,845 3 15,620
Internal 1,061 931
Commercial finance 22,546 25,071
Total $ 36,452 $ 41,622

The decreases in originations were due to a lower demand for IT equipment associated with the current economéatenvironm

Cash collections of both customer and commercial financing assets exceeded new financing originations in bota(®I02vaith resulted in a net
decline in financing assets in these years. Cash collections in 2002 and 2001 included $218 million and zero, respexrtvetyttgengh sales of
portions of Global Financing's syndicated loan portfolio. These sales transactions did not have a material impact on yfeConguéidated Statement of
Earnings. Additionally, funds were generated through the sale and lease of used equipment sourced primarily from prasgeyetgshhtions.
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Cash generated by Global Financing was deployed to pay dividends to IBM and to reduce debt.
FINANCING ASSETS BY SECTOR
The following are the percentage of external financing assets by industry sector.
AT DECEMBER 31: 2002 2001
Financial Services 31% 27%
Industrial 18 21
Business Partners* 14 13
Communications 12 13
Distribution 11 9
Public 10 12
Other 4 5
Total 100% 100%

* Business Partner financing assets represent a portion of commercial financing inventory and accounts receivable fitamoggeperally less

than 90 days.
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FINANCING RECEIVABLES AND ALLOWANCES

The following table presents external financing receivables, excluding residual values, and the allowance facbouintfs:!

(dollars in millions)

AT DECEMBER 31: 2002 2001
Financing receivables $ 28,007 $ 29,331
Specific allowance for doubtful accounts 787 531
Unallocated allowance for doubtful accounts 184 160
Total allowance for doubtful accounts 971 691
Net financing receivables $ 27,036 $ 28,640
Allowance for doubtful account coverage 3.5% 2.4%

ROLL-FORWARD OF FINANCING RECEIVABLES ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS

(dollars in millions)

ADDITIONS:
DEC. 31, RESERVE BAD DEBTS DEC. 31,
2001 USED* EXPENSE OTHER** 2002
$ 691 $ (321) $ 576 $ 25 3 971

* Represents reserved receivables, net of recoveries, that were disposed of during the period.
**  Primarily represents translation adjustments.

The percentage of financing receivables reserved increased from 2.4 percent at December 31, 2001, to 3.5 perobet 81D20602. Unallocated
reserves increased 15.0 percent from $160 million in 2001 to $184 million in 2002, even though the average receivabtEecladahdd percent over
the same period. While the overall asset quality of the portfolio remains stable, the increase reflects the company'gtctimeémpeact of the current
economic environment on customer accounts. Specific reserves increased 48.2 percent from $531 million in 2001 to $#8200Ridrhe increase in
specific reserves was due to continued weak economic conditions in the Communications industry, and deterioration impartas icothis and other
industries.

Global Financing's bad debts expense increased to $576 million for the year ended 2002, compared with $34920dliqurifoarily attributable to
the matters referred to above.

RESIDUAL VALUE

Residual value is a risk unique to the financing business and management of this risk is dependent upon tlea@biditglyoproject future
equipment values. As previously stated, Global Financing has clear insight into product plans and cycles for the IBM geodeaseirBased upon this
product information, Global Financing continually monitors projections of future equipment values and compares themdoaheatass reflected in the
portfolio. See note A, "Significant Accounting Policies" on page 74 for the company's accounting policy for residual values.

Sales of equipment, which are primarily sourced from equipment returned at end of lease, represented 32.1 pairekRtrafr@ing's revenue in
2002 and 27.7 percent in 2001. The gross margin on these sales were 28.5 percent and 27.5 percent in 2002 and 2091 )mesdititveio selling
assets that are sourced from end of lease, Global Financing also leases used equipment to new customers or extendgéeasig aith current
customers. These are other ways that Global Financing profitably recovers the residual values. The following table presemisdi@nount of
unguaranteed residual value for sales-type and operating leases at December 31, 2001 and 2002. In addition, the téiderpseheitsalue as a
percentage of the original amount financed, and a run out of the unguaranteed residual value over the remaining liveasefstla¢ #ecember 31, 2002.

RESIDUAL VALUE

2006 AND
(dollars in millions) 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 BEYOND
Sales-type leases $ 791% 821 $ 256 $ 283 $ 224 $ 58
Operating leases 334 242 114 78 31 19
Total unguaranteed residual value $ 1,126 1063 $ 370 $ 361 $ 255 $ 77
Related original amount financed $ 2397% 23,019
Percentage 4.7% 4.6%
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DEBT

AT DECEMBER 31: 2002 2001
Debt to equity ratio 6.9x 6.8x

Global Financing funds its operations primarily through borrowings using a debt-to-equity ratio of approximatelhe follbwing table illustrates
the correlation between Global Financin\q] assets and Global Financina debt. Both assets and debt are presented in taeddigtzdlBimce sheet on

page 61 = GLOBAL FINANCING ASSETS GLOBAL FINANCING DEBT

The company's Global Financing business provides funding predominantly for the company's external customersbidealgatgncompany
financing for the company (internal), as described in the "Description of Business" on page 60. As previously stated, |B8/amamnagasures Global
Financing as if it were a standalone entity and accordingly, interest expense relating to debt supporting Global Fingnoadgissiwmer and internal
business is included in the "Global Financing Results of Operations" on page 60 and in note X, "Segment Information,1 @b tpabf@s.

In the company's Consolidated Statement of Earnings on page 64, however, the interest expense supporting Grapaliftieraratifinancing to the
company is reclassified from Cost of financing to Interest expense.

LIQUIDITY

Global Financing is a segment of IBM and as such is supported by IBM's liquidity position and access to capitaGiohetdimancing generated
cash in 2002, which was primarily driven by net income and a decline in assets. Cash was deployed to reduce debt antipay didieleto maintain an
appropriate debt to equity ratio.

Critical Accounting Estimates

As discussed in note A, "Significant Accounting Policies," on pages 70 to 75, the application of GAAP involvesitieeoéxe@rying degrees of
judgment. The following areas require more judgment relative to the others and relate to Global Financing:

FINANCING RECEIVABLES RESERVES

The company reviews its financing receivables portfolio at least quarterly in order to assess collectibility. todesdhp methods used by
management to estimate the amount of uncollectible receivables is included on pages 73 and 74. Factors that couldiedsatteivabte losses that are
materially different from the estimated reserve include sharp changes in the economy, or a large change in the he#thlafiacgestry segment that
represents a concentration in the company's receivables portfolio.

RESIDUAL VALUE

Residual value represents the estimated fair value of equipment under lease as of the end of the lease. Theimatgsathye ésture fair value of
residual values by using historical models, the current market for used equipment and forward-looking product informatananketing plans and
technological innovations. These estimates are periodically reviewed and any other-than-temporary declines in estimadfatwaues are
recognized upon identification. Anticipated increases in future residual value are not recognized until the equipmenttisd-elrsatiors that could cause
actual results that materially differ from the estimates include severe changes in the used equipment market broughtezedy cindmges in technology
innovations and any resulting changes in the useful lives of used equipment. Previous writedowns of residual values éraveatetidle

Market Risk
See pages 58 and 59 for discussion of the company's overall market risk.
Looking Forward

Given Global Financing's mission of supporting IBM's hardware, software and services, originations for both custwmenarcial finance
businesses will be dependent upon the overall demand for IT equipment.

Interest rates and the overall economy (including currency fluctuations) will have an effect on both revenuemofitgidss company's interest
rate risk management policy, however, combined with the Global Financing funding strategy (see page 60), should mitfyafé groson due to
changes in interest rates. The company's policy of matching asset and liability positions in foreign currencies wilinipatthef currency fluctuations.

The economy could impact the credit quality of the Global Financing receivables portfolio and therefore the txisioof for bad debts. Global
Financing will continue to apply rigorous credit policies in both the origination of new business and the evaluation sifrtgeestolio.

As seen above, Global Financing has historically been able to manage residual value risk through both insightéhtot tbycles as well as through
its remarketing business.

Global Financing has policies in place to manage each of the key risks involved in financing. These policies, witmpioddct and customer
knowledge, should allow for the prudent management of the business going forward, even with the uncertainty of the comignt econ
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Consolidated Statement of Earnings
(dollars in millions except per share amount)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31: NOTES 2002 2001 2000
REVENUE:
Global Services 36,360 $ 34,956 $ 33,152
Hardware 27,456 30,593 34,470
Software 13,074 12,939 12,598
Global Financing 3,232 3,426 3,465
Enterprise Investments/Other 1,064 1,153 1,404
TOTAL REVENUE 81,186 83,067 85,089
COST:
Global Services 26,812 25,355 24,309
Hardware 20,020 21,231 24,207
Software 2,043 2,265 2,283
Global Financing K 1,416 1,693 1,965
Enterprise Investments/Other 611 634 747
TOTAL COST 50,902 51,178 53,511
GROSS PROFIT 30,284 31,889 31,578
EXPENSE AND OTHER INCOME:
Selling, general and administrative Q 18,738 17,048 17,393
Research, development and engineering R 4,750 4,986 5,084
Intellectual property and custom development income (2,100) (1,476) (1,664)
Other (income) and expense 227 (353) (990)
Interest expense K&L 145 234 344
TOTAL EXPENSE AND OTHER INCOME 22,760 20,439 20,167
INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEFORE
INCOME TAXES 7,524 11,450 11,411
Provision for income taxes P 2,190 3,304 3,537
INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 5,334 8,146 7,874
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS:
(Loss)/income from discontinued operations C (2,755) (423) 219
NET INCOME 3,579 7,723 8,093
Preferred stock dividends — 10 20
NET INCOME APPLICABLE TO COMMON STOCKHOLDERS 3,579 $ 7,713 $ 8,073
EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE OF COMMON STOCK:
ASSUMING DILUTION:

Continuing operations 3.07 $ 459 $ 4.32

Discontinued operations T (1.01) (0.24) 0.12
TOTAL T 2.06 $ 435 $ 4.44

BASIC:

Continuing operations 313 % 469 $ 4.45

Discontinued operations T (1.03) (0.24) 0.12
TOTAL T 2.10 $ 445 $ 4.58*

AVERAGE NUMBER OF COMMON SHARES OUTSTANDING:
Assuming dilution

Basic

* Does not total due to rounding.

1,730,941,054
1,703,244,345

1,771,230,599
1,733,348,422

1,812,118,422
1,763,037,049

The accompanying notes on pages 70 through 104 are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
(dollars in million except per share amounts)
AT DECEMBER 31: NOTES 2002 2001*
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 5382 $ 6,330
Marketable securities D 593 63
Notes and accounts receivable—trade, net of allowances 9,915 9,101
Short-term financing receivables F 15,996 16,656
Other accounts receivable 1,447 1,261
Inventories E 3,148 4,304
Deferred taxes P 2,617 2,402
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 2,554 2,344
Total current assets 41,652 42,461
Plant, rental machines and other property G 36,083 38,375
Less: Accumulated depreciation 21,643 21,871
Plant, rental machines and other property—net 14,440 16,504
Long-term financing receivables F 11,440 12,246
Prepaid pension assets w 16,003 11,397
Investments and sundry assets H 8,834 6,417
Goodwill | 4,115 1,278
TOTAL ASSETS $ 96,484 $ 90,303
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Taxes P $ 5476 $ 4,644
Short-term debt K&L 6,031 11,188
Accounts payable 7,630 7,047
Compensation and benefits 3,724 3,796
Deferred income 5,276 4,223
Other accrued expenses and liabilities 6,413 4,221
Total current liabilities 34,550 35,119
Long-term debt K&L 19,986 15,963
Retirement and nonpension postretirement benefit obligations w 13,215 10,308
Other liabilities M 5,951 5,465
TOTAL LIABILITIES 73,702 66,855
Contingencies (0]
Stockholders' equity: N
Common stock, par value $.20 per share 14,858 14,248
Shares authorized: 4,687,500,000
Shares issued (2002—1,920,957,772; 2001—1,913,513,218)
Retained earnings 31,555 30,142
Treasury stock, at cost (shares: 2002—198,590,876; 2001—190,319,489) (20,213) (20,114)
Accumulated gains and (losses) not affecting retained earnings (3,418) (828)
TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 22,782 23,448
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY $ 96,484 $ 90,303

* Reclassified to conform with 2002 presentation.

The accompanying notes on pages 70 through 104 are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Stockholders' Equity

PREFERRED

(dollars in millions) STOCK

COMMON
STOCK

RETAINED
EARNINGS

TREASURY
STOCK

EMPLOYEE
BENEFITS
TRUST

ACCUMULATED
GAINS AND

(LOSSES) NOT
AFFECTING
RETAINED
EARNINGS

TOTAL

2000*

Stockholders' equity, January
1, 2000 $
Net income plus gains and
(losses) not affecting retained
earnings:

247 $

Net income

Gains and (losses) not
affecting retained earnings
(net of tax):
Foreign currency
translation adjustments
(net of tax expense of
$289)
Minimum pension
liability adjustment
(net of tax expense of
$12)
Net unrealized losses
on marketable
securities (net of tax
benefit of $506)

Total gains and (losses)
not affecting retained
earnings

Subtotal: Net income plus
gains and (losses) not
affecting retained earnings

Cash dividends
declared—common stock
Cash dividends
declared—preferred stock
Common stock issued under
employee plans (17,275,350
shares)

Purchases (8,799,382 shares)
and sales (9,074,212 shares)
of treasury stock under
employee plans—net

Other treasury shares
purchased, not retired
(58,867,226 shares)

Fair value adjustment of
employee benefits trust
Increase due to shares
remaining to be issued in
acquisition

Tax effect—stock transactions

11,762 $

615

(439)

40
422

16,878 $

8,093

(909)

(20)

(259)

(7,375) $

(6,431)

(2,162) $

1,076 $

(538)

18

(925)

$

450

20,426

8,093

(538)

18

(925)

(1,445)

6,648

(909)

(20)

616

(253)

(6,431)

11

40
422

Stockholders' equity,

December 31, 2000 $ 247 $

12,400 $

23,784 $

(13,800) $

(1,712) $ (369) $

20,550

* Reclassified to conform with 2002 presentation.
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PREFERRED

(dollars in millions)

COMMON
STOCK

RETAINED
EARNINGS

TREASURY
STOCK

EMPLOYEE
BENEFITS
TRUST

ACCUMULATED
GAINS AND

(LOSSES) NOT
AFFECTING
RETAINED
EARNINGS

TOTAL

2001*

Stockholders' equity,
December 31, 2000

Net income plus gains and
(losses) not affecting retained
earnings:

Net income

Gains and (losses) not

affecting retained earnings

(net of tax):
Cumulative effect of
adoption of SFAS No.
133 on Jan. 1 (net of
tax expense of $120)
Net unrealized gains
on SFAS No. 133 cash
flow hedge derivatives
during 2001 (net of tax
expense of $44)
Foreign currency
translation adjustments
(net of tax expense of
$323)
Minimum pension
liability adjustment
(net of tax benefit of
$226)
Net unrealized gains
on marketable
securities (net of tax
expense of $58)

Total gains and (losses)
not affecting retained
earnings

Subtotal: Net income plus
gains and (losses) not
affecting retained earnings

Cash dividends
declared—common stock
Cash dividends
declared—preferred stock
Preferred stock purchased and
retired (10,184,043 shares)
Common stock issued under
employee plans (19,572,623
shares)

Purchases (2,237,935 shares)
and sales (11,801,053 shares)
of treasury stock under
employee plans—net

Other treasury shares
purchased, not retired
(48,841,196 shares)
Dissolution of employee
benefits trust (20,000,000
shares)

Decrease in shares remaining
to be issued in acquisition
Tax effect—stock transactions

$

247 $

(247)

12,400 $

774

32

546

(6)
502

23,784 $

7,723

(956)
(10)

()

@)

(391)

(13,800) $

1,032

(5,091)

(2,255)

(1,712) $

(369) $

20,550

$ 7,723

219

77

(539)

(308)

92

1,712

219

77

(539)

(308)

92

(459)

$ 7,264

(956)
(10)

(254)

773

673

(5,091)

(6)
502

Stockholders' equity,
December 31, 2001

— $

14,248 $

30,142 $

(20,114) $

— 8 (828) $

23,448

* Reclassified to conform with 2002 presentation.
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COMMON
STOCK

(dollars in millions)

EMPLOYEE
BENEFITS
TRUST

RETAINED
EARNINGS

TREASURY
STOCK

ACCUMULATED
GAINS AND

(LOSSES) NOT
AFFECTING
RETAINED

EARNINGS TOTAL

2002

Stockholders' equity, December 31, 2001
Net income plus gains and (losses) not
affecting retained earnings:

Net income

Gains and (losses) not affecting retained
earnings (net of tax):
Net unrealized losses on SFAS No.
133 cash flow hedge derivatives
during 2002 (net of tax benefit of
$372)
Foreign currency translation
adjustments (net of tax benefit of
$197)
Minimum pension liability
adjustment (net of tax benefit of
$1,574)
Net unrealized losses on marketable
securities (net of tax benefit of $8)

Total gains and (losses) not affecting
retained earnings

Subtotal: Net income plus gains and (losses)
not affecting retained earnings

Cash dividends declared—common stock
Common stock issued under employee plans
(7,255,995 shares)

Purchases (1,169,043 shares) and sales
(12,873,502 shares) of treasury stock under
employee plans—net

Other treasury shares purchased, not retired
(47,501,854 shares)

Treasury shares issued to fund the U.S.
pension fund (24,037,354 shares)

Shares issued/to be issued in the PwCC
acquisition (3,677,213 shares issued)
Decrease in shares remaining to be issued in
acquisition

Tax effect—stock transactions

14,248 $ 30,142 $ (20,114) $

3,579

(1,005)

440 4

(475) 1,210
(4,111)
(576) 2,447
43 (114) 355

©)
136

(828) $ 23,448

$ 3,579

(659) (659)

850 850

(2,765) (2,765)

(16) (16)

(2,590)

$ 989
(1,005)

444

735
(4,111)
1,871
284

©)
136

Stockholders' equity, December 31, 2002 $

14,858 $ 31,555 $ (20,213) $

—$ (3418) $ 22,782

The accompanying notes on pages 70 through 104 are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
(dollars in millions)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31: 2002 2001* 2000*
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS:
Income from continuing operations $ 5334 % 8,146 % 7,874
Adjustments to reconcile net income from continuing operations to cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation 3,691 3,881 4,224
Amortization of software 688 625 482
Deferred income taxes (67) 664 44
Net gain on assets sales and other (343) (340) (751)
Other than temporary declines in securities and other investments 58 405 —
Noncash portion of special actions 1,350 — —
Change in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions/divestitures:
Receivables 4,125 2,837 (4,692)
Inventories 793 287 (22)
Pension assets (4,227) (2,758) (2,333)
Other assets 70 1,244 673
Accounts payable (55) (918) 2,134
Pension liabilities 83 (69) (237)
Other liabilities 2,288 (2,038) 441
NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 13,788 13,966 8,837
CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS:
Payments for plant, rental machines and other property (4,753) (5,400) (5,319)
Proceeds from disposition of plant, rental machines and other property 775 1,149 1,569
Investment in software (597) (655) (565)
Purchases of marketable securities and other investments (1,582) (778) (750)
Proceeds from disposition of marketable securities and other investments 1,185 738 1,393
Divestiture of businesses 1,233 — —
Acquisition of businesses (3,158) (916) (329)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS (6,897) (5,862) (4,001)
CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Proceeds from new debt 6,726 4,535 9,604
Short-term (repayments)/borrowings less than 90 days—net (4,087) 2,926 (1,400)
Payments to settle debt (5,812) (7,898) (7,561)
Preferred stock transactions—net — (254) —
Common stock transactions—net (3,087) (3,652) (6,073)
Cash dividends paid (2,005) (966) (929)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS (7,265) (5,309) (6,359)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 148 (83) (247)
Net cash (used in)/provided by discontinued operations (722) 55 190
Net change in cash and cash equivalents (948) 2,767 (1,480)
Cash and cash equivalents at January 1 6,330 3,563 5,043
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT DECEMBER 31 $ 5382 $ 6,330 $ 3,563
SUPPLEMENTAL DATA :
Cash paid during the year for the total company:
Income taxes $ 1,841 $ 2279 % 2,697
Interest $ 831 $ 1,247 % 1,447

NONCASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

The noncash portion of the purchase price paid for PwCC is a significant noncash investing activity. This trartestidined on page 78.

*  Reclassified to conform with 2002 presentation.

The acompanying notes on pages 70 through 104 are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

A Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

On December 31, 2002, the company sold its hard disk drive (HDD) business to Hitachi, Ltd. (Hitachi). See notésifiph&fgivestitures,” on
pages 78 to 80. The HDD business was part of the company's Technology Group reporting segment. The HDD business wasraasautisebftinued
operation under generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and therefore, the HDD results of operations and cashbevsreenoved from the
company's results of continuing operations and cash flows for all periods presented in this document. The financiabrésalés rdiscontinued
operations include the external original equipment manufacturer (OEM) HDD business and charges related to HDDs usedanytsee&enyer and
Storage products that were reported in the Technology Group segment. The discontinued operations results do not refieetei3Rosttie company's
internal customers.

Principles of Consolidation

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of International Business Machines Corporation (IRégtanitetissubsidiary
companies, which in general are majority owned. Investments in business entities in which the company does not hav¢ lcastio, dhility to exercise
significant influence over operating and financial policies (generally 20-50 percent ownership), are accounted for by thetkqditOther investments
are accounted for by the cost method. The accounting policy for other investments in securities is described on pagdVathkeitilite Securities."

Use of Estimates

The preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estrsstespdinds that affect
the amounts that are reported in the Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying disclosures. Although thege bstiadtels management's
best knowledge of current events and actions that the company may undertake in the future, actual results may be differestifraates.

Revenue

The company recognizes revenue when it is realized or realizable and earned. The company considers revenueatiabbée amd earned when it
has persuasive evidence of an arrangement, the product has been shipped or the services have been provided to thesaletopniee thdixed or
determinable and collectibility is reasonably assured. The company reduces revenue for estimated customer returns anedratéer lalladdition to the
aforementioned general policy, the following are the specific revenue recognition policies for each major category ok ienoneiiéiple-element
arrangements.

SERVICES

The terms of services contracts generally range from less than one year to ten years. Revenue from time and/iteder@ltsacts is recognized as
the services are provided. Revenue from Strategic Outsourcing Services contracts in which IBM manages the customer sefetsenéeextent of
actual services delivered in the period, based upon objective measures of output in accordance with the terms of the contract.

Revenue from Business Consulting Services (BCS) contracts that require IBM to design, develop, manufacture oampiedifgfoomation
technology systems to a buyer's specifications, and to provide services related to the performance of such contraétedusegdhe percentage of
completion (POC) method of accounting. In using the POC method, the company records revenue by reference to the cdstslatewanedthe estimated
costs remaining to fulfill the contracts.

Provisions for losses on services contracts are recognized during the period in which the loss first becomeRemgareritom maintenance is
recognized over the contractual period or as the services are performed.

In some of the company's services contracts, the company bills the customer prior to performing the servicegiorhiggv@turise to deferred
income of $2.6 billion and $2.4 billion at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, reported as Deferred income in tietétbSsaieément of
Financial Position. In other services contracts, the company performs the services prior to billing the customer. Thigisigsaiie to unbilled accounts
receivable of $1.3 billion at both December 31, 2002 and 2001, recorded as Notes and accounts receivable—trade in thedCitasetiat of Financial
Position. In these circumstances, billings usually occur shortly after the company performs the services and can rangeongh®later. Unbilled
receivables are expected to be billed and collected generally within four months, rarely exceeding nine months.

HARDWARE

Revenue from hardware sales or sales-type leases is recognized when the product is shipped to the customerranarevherutifelfilled company
obligations that affect the customer's final acceptance of the arrangement. Any cost of these obligations is accruedmwbgpothdireg revenue is
recognized. Revenue from rentals and operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of thesental or lea

SOFTWARE

Revenue from one-time charge licensed software is recognized at the inception of the license term. Revenue fréicensmttigrge arrangements
is recognized on a subscription basis over the period in which the enterprise is using the
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program. Revenue from maintenance, unspecified upgrades and technical support is recognized over the period such itenes aBzéeli
"Multiple-Element Arrangements" below for further information.

FINANCING

Finance income attributable to sales-type leases, direct financing leases and loans is recognized at levalmatasothetterm of the leases or
loans. Operating lease income is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

MULTIPLE-ELEMENT ARRANGEMENTS

The company enters into transactions that include multiple-element arrangements, which may include any comtenates, ¢fessdware, software
and/or financing. When some elements are delivered prior to others in an arrangement and all of the following criteri@eeaurdyr the delivered
element is recognized upon delivery of such item. Otherwise, revenue is deferred until the delivery of the last element.

. Vendor-specific objective evidence (VSOE) of fair value of the undelivered elements.
. The functionality of the delivered elements is not dependent on the undelivered elements.

. Delivery of the delivered element represents the culmination of the earnings process.

VSOE is the price charged by the company to an external customer for the same element when such element isbkold separat

Expense and Other Income

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE

Selling, general and administrative (SG&A) expense is charged to income as incurred. Expenses of promoting prudisetirand services are
classified as selling expense and include such items as advertising, sales commissions and travel. General and adrpeistetn@uzles such items as
officers' salaries, office supplies, non-income taxes, insurance and office rental. In addition, general and administretevmeljules other operating
items such as a provision for doubtful accounts, workforce accruals for contractually obligated payments to employees itethrenaigoing course of
business, amortization of intangible assets and environmental remediation costs. Certain special actions discussedD2ndta@82 on pages 90
through 92 are also included in SG&A. The cost of internal environmental protection programs that are preventive in egperesaceas incurred. The
company accrues for all known environmental liabilities when it becomes probable that the company will incur cleanupthosts @sds can be
reasonably estimated. In addition, estimated environmental costs that are associated with post-closure activities (fthexemple| and restoration of
chemical storage facilities and monitoring) are accrued when the decision is made to close a facility.

RESEARCH, DEVELOPMENT AND ENGINEERING

Research, development and engineering (RD&E) costs are expensed as incurred.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY AND CUSTOM DEVELOPMENT INCOME

As part of the company's ongoing business model and as a result of the company's ongoing investment in resealanaent §e&D), the
company licenses and sells the rights to certain of its intellectual property (IP) including internally developed patesesyétacand technological
know-how. Certain transfers of IP to third parties are licensing/royalty fee based and other transfers are transactit@s laaskdtlar transfers.
Licensing/royalty-based fees involve transfers in which the company earns the income over time or the amount of incixee @snubtiéterminable until
the licensee sells future related products (i.e., variable royalty, based upon licensee's revenue). Sales and othgritaisfeciude transfers of IP
whereby the company has fulfilled its obligations and the fee received is fixed and determinable. The company also eainosnmestag custom
development projects for specific customers. The company records the income from these projects when the fee is eaghatiableotand is not
dependent upon the success of the project.

OTHER (INCOME) AND EXPENSE

Other (income) and expense includes interest income (other than from the company's Global Financing business)rgasastmd losses from
securities and other investments, realized gains and losses from certain real estate activity, and foreign currencygeamsactiblosses.

Depreciation and Amortization

Plant, rental machines and other property are carried at cost and depreciated over their estimated usefulligestragihgritne method.

The estimated useful lives of depreciable properties generally are as follows: buildings, 50 years; building ePQipesest|and improvements, 20
years; plant, laboratory and office equipment, 2 to 15 years; and computer equipment, 1.5 to 5 years.

Capitalized software costs incurred or acquired after technological feasibility are amortized over periods up. t8ey&nftware Costs" on page 74
for additional information. Other intangible assets are amortized for periods up to 7 years. See "Standards ImplemergsdSoanuhg6 for additional
information on goodwill.

Retirement-Related Benefits

See note W, "Retirement-Related Benefits," on pages 95 to 100 for the company's accounting policy for retirechbatediste
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Stock-Based Compensation

The company applies Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employeslaiédrdterpretations in
accounting for its stock-based compensation plans. Accordingly, the company records expense for employee stock compensqtiahtplthe excess of
the market price of the underlying IBM shares at the date of grant over the exercise price of the stock-related awarthifaay the intrinsic value).
Generally, all employee stock options are issued with the exercise price equal to the market price of the underlyinthetiaees date and therefore, no
compensation expense is recorded. In addition, no compensation expense is recorded for purchases under the Employdess8tBEnR&SPP) in
accordance with APB Opinion No. 25. This plan is described on pages 94 and 95. The intrinsic value of restricted statkentétis ather stock-based
compensation issued to employees as of the date of grant is amortized to compensation expense over the vesting pertedt frethease performance
criteria that could result in an employee receiving more or less (including zero) shares than the number of units gumatedrtized liability is marked
to market during the performance period based upon the intrinsic value at the end of each quarter.

The following table summarizes the pro forma operating results of the company had compensation cost for stockmpticascfor employee
stock purchases under the ESPP (see note V, "Stock-Based Compensation Plans" on pages 94 and 95) been determinedviittaticeri@daneaiue
based method prescribed by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Cofnpensation

(dollars in millions except per share amounts)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31: 2002 2001 2000
Net income applicable to common stockholders, as reported $ 3579 $ 7,713 $ 8,073
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense included in reported net income, net of related tax effects 112 104 82
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under fair value method for all awards,

net of related tax effects 1,315 1,343 972
Pro forma net income $ 2376 $ 6474 $ 7,183

Earnings per share:

Basic—as reported $ 210 $ 445 % 4.58
Basic—pro forma $ 140 $ 3.74  $ 4.07
Assuming dilution—as reported $ 206 $ 435 % 4.44
Assuming dilution—pro forma $ 139 $ 369 $ 3.99

The pro forma amounts that are disclosed in accordance with SFAS No. 123 reflect the portion of the estimateafaineaatis that was earned for
the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000.

The fair value of stock option grants is estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the followipticassu

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31: 2002 2001 2000
Term (years)* 5 4/5 4/5
Volatility** 40.4% 37.7% 32.0%
Risk-free interest rate (zero coupon U.S. treasury note) 2.8% 4.4% 5.1%
Dividend yield 0.7% 0.5% 0.5%
Weighted-average fair value per option $ 28 % 42 3% 36

* There were no tax incentive options granted in 2002. Option term is 5 years for non-tax incentive options for the yeacendsst B1, 2002.
Option term is 4 years for tax incentive options and 5 years for non-tax incentive options for the years ended Decembeand12um

**  To determine volatility, the company measured the daily price changes of the stock over the respective term for tavojibemsieed non-tax
incentive options.

Income Taxes

Income tax expense is based on reported income before income taxes. Deferred income taxes reflect the effecy dfiffengpoes between asset
and liability amounts that are recognized for financial reporting purposes and the amounts that are recognized for incposetaxipese deferred taxes
are measured by applying currently enacted tax laws. Valuation allowances are recognized to reduce the deferred thr assetsitdHat is more likely
than not to be realized. In assessing the likelihood of realization, management considers estimates of future taxable income.

Translation of Non-U.S. Currency Amounts

Assets and liabilities of non-U.S. subsidiaries that operate in a local currency environment are translatedltvdaSyeai-end exchange rates.
Income and expense items are translated at weighted-average rates of exchange prevailing during the year. Translatitnead]storeled in
Accumulated gains and (losses) not affecting retained earnings within Stockholders' equity.

Inventories, Plant, rental machines and other property-net, and other non-monetary assets and liabilities ofibeitlirf®ssand branches that
operate in U.S. dollars, or whose economic environment is highly inflationary, are translated at approximate exchangeiliates/pesn the company
acquired the assets or liabilities. All other assets and liabilities are translated at year-end exchange rates. Cosl degadesadion are translated at
historical exchange rates. All other income and expense items are translated at the weighted-average rates of exchaggepnevhié year. Gains and
losses that result from translation are included in net income.
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Derivatives

All derivatives are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position at fair value and are repeptd e@xpenses and other current
assets, Investments and sundry assets, Other accrued expenses and liabilities or Other liabilities in the Consolidateaf StasemiahPosition.
Classification of each derivative as current or non-current is based upon whether the maturity of each instrument rlgesatieanhan 12 months. To
qualify for hedge accounting in accordance with SFAS No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Actvitiesrided by SFAS No.
138, "Accounting for Certain Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities," (SFAS No. 133), the company reqthegstaiments are
effective in reducing the risk exposure that they are designated to hedge. For instruments that are associated witlH teshdldgesphedge
effectiveness criteria also require that it be probable that the underlying transaction will occur. Instruments that lisbetestabunting criteria are
formally designated as hedges at the inception of the contract. These criteria demonstrate that the derivative is exfeghdy effbctive at offsetting
changes in fair value or cash flows of the underlying exposure both at inception of the hedging relationship and on drasisgdimg assessment for
effectiveness is formally documented at hedge inception and reviewed at least quarterly throughout the designated hedge period.

The company applies hedge accounting in accordance with SFAS No. 133, whereby the company designates each aéedatesefagl) the fair
value of a recognized asset or liability or of an unrecognized firm commitment (“fair value" hedge); (2) the variabilitjpateshtash flows of a
forecasted transaction or the cash flows to be received or paid related to a recognized asset or liability ("cash floa" (3¢ dglegdge of a long-term
investment ("net investment" hedge) in a foreign operation. From time to time, however, the company may enter into diesitvateasmically hedge
certain of its risks, even though hedge accounting does not apply under SFAS No. 133 or is not applied by the compacgsés thiese generally exists
a natural hedging relationship in which changes in fair value of the derivative, which are recognized currently in netdhesraa,economic offset to
changes in the fair value of the underlying hedged item(s).

Changes in the value of a derivative that is designated as a fair value hedge, along with offsetting changesalutheffie underlying hedged
exposure, are recorded in earnings each period. For hedges of interest rate risk, the fair value adjustments are r¢gstriedtas@dhterest expense and
Cost of Global Financing in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings. For hedges of currency risk associated with recondédhibtsess derivative fair
value adjustments generally are recognized in Other (income) and expense in the Consolidated Statement of Earningsth@haigeofra derivative
that is designated as a cash flow hedge are recorded in the Accumulated gains and (losses) not affecting retainedezapuingst afcStockholders'
equity. When net income is affected by the variability of the underlying cash flow, the applicable offsetting amount mfthiegmirom the derivative
that is deferred in Stockholders' equity is released to net income and reported in Interest expense, Cost, SG&A expeifseom@}tand expense in the
Consolidated Statement of Earnings based on the nature of the underlying cash flow hedged. Effectiveness for net invgisgnaerivetd/es is
measured on a spot to spot basis. The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives and other non-dknuatiagement instruments
designated as net investment hedges are recorded as foreign currency translation adjustments in the Accumulated gas)sabdfflesting retained
earnings section of Stockholders' equity. Changes in the fair value of the portion of a net investment hedging derivdg¢iddrercline effectiveness
assessment are recorded in Interest expense.

When the underlying hedged item ceases to exist, all changes in the fair value of the derivative are includeohire metcin period until the
instrument matures. When the derivative transaction ceases to exist, a hedged asset or liability is no longer adjusied foritshair value except as
required under other relevant accounting standards. Derivatives that are not designated as hedges, as well as chalgesfidaheataves that do not
offset the underlying hedged item throughout the designated hedge period (collectively, "ineffectiveness"), are recordeanire reetch period and
generally are reported in Other (income) and expense. See note L, "Derivatives and Hedging Transactions," on pagesa8dasd@pfion of the major
risk management programs and classes of financial instruments used by the company.

Financial Instruments

In determining fair value of its financial instruments, the company uses a variety of methods and assumptiobasbdtorenarket conditions and
risks existing at each balance sheet date. For the majority of financial instruments including most derivatives, longterentsiaad long-term debt,
standard market conventions and techniques such as discounted cash flow analysis, option pricing models, replacemennaustiamddst are used to
determine fair value. Dealer quotes are used for the remaining financial instruments. All methods of assessing fairtvalaegerseral approximation of
value, and such value may never actually be realized.
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Cash Equivalents

All highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less at the date of purchase are carried at #mid wansidered to be cash
equivalents.

Marketable Securities

Marketable securities included in Current assets represent securities with a maturity of less than one year. Jtestohgsakarketable securities,
including non-equity method alliance investments, with a maturity of more than one year. These non-current investmamntedia invlestments and
sundry assets. The company's Marketable securities, including certain non-equity method alliance investments, are cailalderfedt aale and are
reported at fair value with changes in unrealized gains and losses, net of applicable taxes, recorded in Accumulatefogaes) aod affecting retained
earnings within Stockholders' equity. Realized gains and losses are calculated based on the specific identification methad-t&thporary declines in
market value from original cost are charged to Other (income) and expense in the period in which the loss occurs. Ingdeterthetian
other-than-temporary decline in the market value has occurred, the company considers the duration that and extent tostvisdbenisidelow original
cost. Realized gains and losses and other than temporary declines in market value from original cost are included ior@#han@rexpense in the
Consolidated Statement of Earnings. All other investment securities not described above or in "Principles of Consoligagien”Grprimarily
non-publicly traded equity securities, are accounted for using the cost method.

Inventories

Raw materials, work in process and finished goods are stated at the lower of average cost or net realizable value.

Allowance for Uncollectible Receivables

TRADE

An allowance for uncollectible trade receivables is recorded based on a combination of write-off history, agisgaambbrsy specific known
troubled accounts.

FINANCING

Below are the methodologies the company uses to calculate both its specific and its unallocated reserves, wiechcaresegpently to its different
portfolios.

Specific

The company reviews all accounts receivable considered at risk on a quarterly basis. The review primarily coreistysisdased upon current
information available about the customer, such as financial statements, news reports, published credit ratings, thencunieeret@nment, as well as,
collateral net of repossession cost, and prior history. For loans that are collateral dependent, impairment is measweddiusaige of the collateral
when foreclosure is probable. Using this information, the company determines the expected cash flow for the receivablatescdag@commended
estimate of the potential loss and the probability of loss. For those accounts where the loss is probable, the compaspeedizdsserve.

Unallocated

The company records an unallocated reserve that is calculated by applying a write-off rate to the total portfiilig, @xcbunts that have been
specifically reserved. This write-off rate is based upon write-off history and is adjusted to reflect current econominonditio

Certain receivables that have specific reserves recorded may also be placed on nonaccrual status. Nonaccrtiabsssetearables (impaired
loans or nonperforming leases) with specific reserves and other accounts for which it is likely that the company will tteanfiebteall amounts due
according to original terms of the lease or loan agreement. Income recognition is discontinued on these receivabless Renelalbémoved from
nonaccrual status, if appropriate, based upon changes in customer circumstances.

Estimated Residual Values of Lease Assets

The recorded residual values of the company's lease assets are estimated at the inception of the lease todubftieragpest value of the assets at
the end of the lease term. In accordance with GAAP, the company reassesses the realizable value of its lease residdamalaetcipated increases in
specific future residual values are not recognized before realization through remarketing efforts. Anticipated decrecifiesutuspeesidual values that
are considered to be other than temporary are recognized immediately upon identification.

Software Costs

Costs that are related to the conceptual formulation and design of licensed programs are expensed as R&D.efised fordgrams, the company
capitalizes costs that are incurred to produce the finished product after technological feasibility is established. Treatinatbn of the capitalized
amounts is performed using the straight-line method, and is applied over periods ranging up to three years. The compapgpediorraviews to
ensure that unamortized program costs remain recoverable from future revenue. Costs to support or service licensed popeasedaas the costs are
incurred.

The company capitalizes certain costs that are incurred to purchase or to create and implement internal-usefooarputehist includes software
coding, installation, testing and data conversion. Capitalized costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over two years.
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Common Stock

Common stock refers to the $.20 par value capital stock as designated in the company's Certificate of Incorpamatigrstdck is accounted for
using the cost method. When treasury stock is reissued, the value is computed and recorded using a weighted-average basis.

Product Warranties

The company estimates its warranty costs based on historical warranty claim experience and applies this estimataue #teeam for products
under warranty. Included in the company's warranty accrual are costs for limited warranties and extended warranty caweragstsHor warranties
applicable to revenue recognized in the current period are charged to cost of revenue. The warranty accrual is revidyvezhourdyténat it properly
reflects the remaining obligation based on the anticipated expenditures over the balance of the obligation period. Adpestmaeietsvhen actual
warranty claim experience differs from estimates.

Earnings Per Share of Common Stock

Earnings per share of common stock—basic is computed by dividing Net income applicable to common stockholderigetheveeage number
of common shares outstanding for the period. Earnings per share of common stock—assuming dilution reflects the maximiwiiyiimtertiat could
occur if securities or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised or converted into common stock and wouldrtlee sbaiiecome of the
company. See note T, "Earnings Per Share of Common Stock," on page 93 for additional information.

B Accounting Changes

Standards Implemented

In April 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued SFAS No. 145, "Rescission of FASB StatethettsaNd.64,
Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, and Technical Corrections," effective May 15, 2002. SFAS No. 145 eliminates the rehairgaiesiand
losses from the extinguishment of debt be aggregated and classified as an extraordinary item, net of tax, and makes tectaiicatitorrections. SFAS
No. 145 did not have a material effect on the company's Consolidated Financial Statements.

Effective January 1, 2002, the company adopted Statement of Financial Position ("SOP") 01-6, "Accounting by Gersafim&uading entities with
Trade Receivables) That Lend to or Finance the Activities of Others." With limited exception, SOP 01-6 applies to arst éeniid tlo or finances the
activities of, others and provides specialized guidance for certain transactions specific to financial institutions. der®@0ésrand conforms, as
appropriate, the accounting and financial reporting guidance established by the American Institute of Certified Publioscddwntedoption did not
have a material effect on the company's Consolidated Financial Statements.

In October 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, "Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assetsd.9RA%8dresses
significant issues relating to the implementation of SFAS No. 121, "Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assetk@mgtfored Assets to Be
Disposed Of," and develops a single accounting model, based on the framework established in SFAS No. 121 for long-tivée alisetsed of by sale,
whether such assets are or are not deemed to be a business. SFAS No. 144 also modifies the accounting and discladiscontilese€droperations. The
standard was adopted on January 1, 2002, and did not have a material impact on the company's Consolidated Financial Beatiisnentsiued HDD
operations are presented in the Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with the new SFAS No. 144 rules.

In November 2001, the FASB issued Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue No. 01-14, "Income Statement Charatfeiratiorsements
Received for 'Out of Pocket' Expenses Incurred." This guidance requires companies to recognize the recovery of reimansablsuekpas travel costs
on services contracts as revenue. These costs are not to be netted as a reduction of cost. This guidance was effetti28Qmrilisig/guidance did not
have a material effect on the company's Consolidated Financial Statements due to the company's billing practices. Foutsistattoe United States,
almost all of the company's contracts involve fixed billings that are designed to recover all costs, including out-ofgiscRétecefore, the
"reimbursement” of these costs is already recorded in revenue.

In July 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141, "Business Combinations," and SFAS No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intaatibl&PAS No. 141
requires the use of the purchase method of accounting for business combinations and prohibits the use of the poolitegnoéihtetender the previous
rules, the company used the purchase method of accounting. SFAS No. 141 also refines the definition of intangible asdétssapgréhase business
combination. As a result, the purchase price allocation of current business combinations may be different than thetedtowatitch have resulted under
the old rules. Business combinations must be accounted for using SFAS No. 141 effective July 1, 2001.

SFAS No. 142 eliminates the amortization of goodwill, requires annual impairment testing of goodwill and introcuces thef indefinite life
intangible assets. The company adopted SFAS No. 142 on January 1, 2002. The new rules also prohibit the amortizatiohasisgozded with
business combinations that closed after June 30, 2001.
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In accordance with SFAS No. 141, the unamortized balance for acquired assembled workforce of $33 million, whichdwadjbzed as an
intangible asset separate from goodwill, has been reclassified to goodwill effective January 1, 2002. In addition, eodwitiahgpairment test was
required to be performed in 2002 as of January 1, 2002. This initial test and the company's first annual goodwill imsajnpeefarteed as of October 1,
2002, resulted in no goodwill impairment charges.

The following table presents reported Income from continuing operations and income adjusted to exclude goodwatiicermattizh is no longer
recorded under SFAS No. 142 effective January 1, 2002.

(dollars in millions except per share amounts)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31.: 2002 2001 2000

Reported income from continuing operations $ 5334 $ 8146 $ 7,874
Add: Goodwill amortization net of tax effects — 262 436
Adjusted income from continuing operations $ 533 $ 8408 $ 8,310

Basic earnings per share from continuing operations:

Reported income from continuing operations $ 313 $ 469 $ 4.45
Goodwill amortization — 0.15 0.25
Adjusted basic earnings per share from continuing operations $ 313 % 4.85* $ 4.70

Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations:

Reported income from continuing operations $ 3.07 $ 459 % 4.32
Goodwill amortization — 0.15 0.24
Adjusted diluted earnings per share from continuing operations $ 3.07 $ 474 % 4.56
Reported net income $ 3579 $ 7,723 $ 8,093
Add: Goodwill amortization net of tax effects — 262 436
Adjusted net income $ 3579 $ 798 $ 8,529

Basic earnings per share:

Reported net income $ 210 $ 445 % 4.58
Goodwill amortization — 0.15 0.25
Adjusted basic earnings per share $ 210 $ 460 $ 4.83

Diluted earnings per share:

Reported net income $ 206 $ 435 % 4.44
Goodwill amortization — 0.15 0.24
Adjusted diluted earnings per share $ 206 $ 450 $ 4.68

* Does not total due to rounding.

On January 1, 2001, the company adopted SFAS No. 133, as amended. SFAS No. 133 establishes accounting anddepdstiog dtaivative
instruments. As of January 1, 2001, the adoption of the new standard resulted in a cumulative effect, net-of-tax inct8asédlioi®® Accumulated
gains and (losses) not affecting retained earnings in the Stockholders' equity section of the Consolidated Statemeat &&itianand a cumulative
effect net-of-tax charge of $6 million included in Other (income) and expense in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings.

Effective January 1, 2001, the company adopted SFAS No. 140, "Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Finase@atASd@atguishments of
Liabilities—a replacement of SFAS No. 125." This statement provides accounting and reporting standards for transfersrandf sexaicial assets and
extinguishments of liabilities and revises the accounting standards for securitizations and transfers of financial astseraindlee adoption did not
have a material effect on the company's results of operations and financial position. The standard also requires newttachestegaot applicable to
the company.

New Standards to be Implemented

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143,"Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations." SFAS No. 143 providieg acabugporting
guidance for legal obligations associated with the retirement of long-lived assets that result from the acquisition,ccoostionthal operation of a
long-lived asset. SFAS No. 143 requires the recording of an asset and a liability equal to the present value of the@straatetiated with the
retirement of long-lived assets where a legal or contractual obligation exists. The asset is required to be depreciatkig of¢n¢hrelated equipment or
facility, and the liability is required to be accreted each year based on a present value interest rate. The standaedfes difecompany on January 1,
2003. The company has reviewed the provisions of this standard, and its adoption is not expected to have a materiaeaftenpanyt's Consolidated
Financial Statements.
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In July 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, "Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities." SEAGdNpersedes EITF No.
94-3, "Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (Including CestaiinCurred in a
Restructuring)," and requires that a liability for a cost associated with an exit or disposal activity be recognized iahéitytieihcurred. Such liabilities
should be recorded at fair value and updated for any changes in the fair value each period. A notable change from ElTifvbloe848e-time
employee termination costs whereby the employee to be terminated is required to render service between the notificatitre dittedhe employee will
be terminated in order to receive any termination benefits. For these situations whereby the required postnotificatjmerisereixends beyond the
minimum retention period required by local law, the fair value of the liability will be recognized ratably over the seivitelper change is effective for
new exit or disposal activities initiated after December 31, 2002. Had SFAS No. 146 been effective for the company's gecandl doarth quarter 2002
actions, a portion of the pre-tax employee termination costs listed in the table on pages 91 and 92 would have beenvemthréizgzplicable service
periods, until the respective employees were terminated. The impact of SFAS No. 146 on the company's future Consolidat&idterarats will
depend upon the timing of and facts underlying any future one-time workforce reduction actions.

In November 2002, the EITF reached a consensus on Issue No. 00-21, "Accounting for Revenue Arrangements witlelWelgk " This Issue
provides guidance on when and how to separate elements of an arrangement that may involve the delivery or performateg@aiduattipservices and
rights to use assets into separate units of accounting. The guidance in the consensus is effective for revenue arraegmEinetasrefiscal periods
beginning after June 15, 2003. The company will adopt Issue No. 00-21 in the quarter beginning July 1, 2003. The trafsioalfyas either
prospective application or a cumulative effect adjustment upon adoption. The company is currently evaluating the imptietydhedgpidance.

In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 45 (FIN 45), "Guarantor's Accounting and Disclosure Requir€uangfees, Including
Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others," which addresses the disclosures to be made by a guarantor in its imeainfirzemtcal statements
about its obligations under guarantees. FIN 45 also requires the recognition of a liability by a guarantor at the incegiiongefarantees that are entered
into or modified after December 31, 2002.

The company has adopted the disclosure requirements of FIN 45 (see note A, "Significant Accounting Policies,7@thpaggis 75, and note O,
"Contingencies and Commitments," on pages 88 and 89) and will apply the recognition and measurement provisions for glianatteies entered into
or modified in periods beginning January 1, 2003. The impact of FIN 45 on the company's future Consolidated Financiak Stidteleeend upon
whether the company enters into or modifies any material guarantee arrangements.

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46 (FIN 46), "Consolidation of Variable Interest Entitiesddubéses consolidation by
business enterprises of variable interest entities that either: (1) do not have sufficient equity investment at riskte patityito finance its activities
without additional subordinated financial support, or (2) the equity investors lack an essential characteristic of agcfimémdiial interest.

FIN 46 requires disclosure of Variable Interest Entities (VIES) in financial statements issued after Januaryif3it j20€8sonably possible that as of
the transition date: (1) the company will be the primary beneficiary of an existing VIE that will require consolidatiotherc¢2)pany will hold a
significant variable interest in, or have significant involvement with, an existing VIE. Pursuant to the transitional retaivERI&l 46, the company will
adopt the consolidation guidance applicable to existing VIEs as of the reporting period beginning July 1, 2003. Any \WEsterekauary 31, 2003, are
immediately subject to the consolidation guidance in FIN 46.

The company's program to sell state and local government receivables, as described in note J, "Sale and SetRéttzaviables,” on page 82,
involves qualifying special purpose entities, and therefore is not subject to FIN 46.

The company does not have any entities that require disclosure or new consolidation as a result of adoptingiseopfeNNs46.
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C Acquisitions/Divestitures

Acquisitions

2002

In 2002, the company completed 12 acquisitions at an aggregate cost of $3,958 million.

The largest acquisition was PricewaterhouseCoopers Consulting (PwCC). On October 1, 2002, the company purchasgwBse€aapers' (PwC)
global business consulting and technology services unit, PwCC, for $3,474 million. The acquisition of PwCC provides theadtimmeamexpertise in
business strategy, industry-based consulting, process integration and application management. The purchase price almvestiohatied amount of net
tangible assets to be transferred of approximately $422 million. The recorded amount of net tangible assets transfefrechtB\W&on October 1,
2002, was approximately $454 million higher than the estimate. The amount of recorded net tangible assets transfercégestltdb@ seview process
between both parties under the terms of the agreement. Therefore, although the net tangible assets recorded by |BMirec&rderttdsamount, such
amounts may be adjusted, dollar for dollar, in 2003 under the terms of the agreement. Any cash settlement to eithefipaftpmeshis process is
estimated to occur in 2003 and may affect the values assigned to assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

The company paid $2,852 million of the purchase price in cash, $294 million primarily in the form of restricteaf #resmmon stock and
$328 million in notes convertible into restricted shares of IBM common stock.

In connection with the acquisition, the company incurred approximately $196 million of pre-tax, one-time compessafiancertain PwCC
partners and employees. This amount relates to restricted stock awards and the compensation element of the convestilele astesriof the purchase
consideration and was recorded in the fourth quarter of 2002. The portion of this amount recorded as part of SG&A initeeCioBsdement of
Earnings as compensation expense for the convertible notes equals the difference between the fair value and the fheenabs of t

As a result of its acquisition of PwCC, the company recorded a liability of approximately $601 million in the faniethadj 2002 to rebalance its
workforce and to vacate excess leased space. All employees affected by this action were notified as of December 31,a26682.0F leepiability
relating to IBM people and space was approximately $318 million, and substantially all was recorded as part of SG&A inlitiat€bBsatement of
Earnings. The portion of the liability relating to acquired PwCC workforce and leased space was approximately $283 mitisingheled as part of the
liabilities assumed for purchase accounting and are presented in the following table.

The table below presents the allocation of purchase price related to the 2002 acquisitions as of the respettweeulatésn

AMORTIZATION

(dollars in millions) LIFE (IN YEARS) PwCC OTHER
Current assets $ 1,197 $ 264
Fixed/non-current assets 199 102
Intangible assets:

Goodwill N/A 2,461 364

Completed technology 3 — 66

Strategic alliances 5 103 —

Non-contractual customer relationships 4t07 131 —

Customer contracts/backlog 3to5 82 6

Other identifiable intangible assets 3to5 95 10
Total assets acquired 4,268 812
Current liabilities (560) (208)
Non-current liabilities (234) (124)
Total liabilities assumed (794) (332)
Net assets acquired 3,474 480
In-process research and development — 4
Total purchase price $ 3474  $ 484
PwCC Acquisition

Almost half of the goodwill was estimated to be generated by the value of the acquired assembled workforce. Ghesaemqbited workforce is
treated as goodwill under SFAS No. 141. The remaining items that generated goodwill are synergies between PwCC and tbeeatedganthe
combination, and the premium paid by the company for the right to control PwCC. The goodwill has been assigned to thevigkshaéGment. The
company estimates that approximately two-thirds of the goodwill is deductible for tax purposes. The overall weightedfawdragmitizable intangible
assets purchased from PwC is approximately 5 years. The results of operations of PwCC were included in the companysdJinaalitStatements
as of October 1, 2002.

Other Acquisitions

The company paid cash for the other acquisitions. Six of the acquisitions were for software companies, includontg€®s&ware, Inc., and
Access360. The other five acquisitions were strategic outsourcing and business consulting companies. The primary itemesdtayamdwill are the
synergies between the acquired businesses and the company, and the premium paid by the company for the right to cordssebadmysred.
Approximately $300 million of the goodwill has been assigned to the Software segment and the
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balance to the Global Services segment. The goodwill is not deductible for tax purposes. The overall weighted-averageéritngitiie assets purchased
is approximately three years. The results of operations of the acquired businesses were included in the company's GonantiddtSthtements from
the respective dates of acquisition.

2001

In 2001, the company completed two acquisitions at a cost of approximately $1,082 million.

The larger acquisition was Informix Corporation's (Informix) database software business. The company paid app&ixbikoelyn cash for the
net assets of the business. Under the terms of the acquisition, the company paid $889 million of the purchase priceaba@dteTas paid in January
2003. The Informix acquisition provided the company with a database software system for data warehousing, business ardlligerszetion-handling
systems that are used by more than 100,000 customers. In addition, the acquisition significantly increased the sizeaftisedlramgatabase business.
The company purchased Informix in the third quarter of 2001.

The following table presents the allocation of purchase price related to the 2001 acquisitions as of the regsecfimeqiasition.

AMORTIZATION

(dollars in millions) LIFE (IN YEARS) INFORMIX OTHER
Current assets $ 156 $ 57
Fixed/non-current assets 41 21
Intangible assets:
Goodwill 591 25
Customer lists B 220 —
Completed technology 3 140 —
Trademarks 2 10 —
Total assets acquired 1,158 103
Deferred revenue (101) (2)
Payables/accrued expenses (55) (21)
Total liabilities assumed (156) (23)
Total purchase price $ 1,002 $ 80
Informix

The primary items that generated goodwill are the value of the acquired assembled workforce and the synergieddratixemdithe company
created by the combination. Goodwill of $591 million has been assigned to the Software segment. Almost all of the gamtiwiiibie dor tax purposes.
This transaction occurred after June 30, 2001, and therefore, the acquired goodwill is not subject to amortization. Tiwigitedithverage life of
intangible assets purchased from Informix is 4.2 years. The results of operations of Informix were included in the compaligat€bFinancial
Statements as of July 2, 2001.

Other Acquisitions

The primary items that generated goodwill are the synergies between the acquired business and the company amd gfaédpogrtie company for
the right to control the business acquired. Goodwill of $25 million has been assigned to the Global Services segment.ill lengoathductible for tax
purposes. The results of operations of the acquired business were included in the company's Consolidated Financial riBtatdmetatef of acquisition.

2000

In 2000, the company completed nine acquisitions at a cost of approximately $511 million.

The largest acquisition was LGS Group Inc. (LGS). The company acquired all the outstanding stock of LGS in Apri200Qnillion. LGS offers
services ranging from application development to information technology (IT) consulting. The results of operations of li@&Bidedan the company's
Consolidated Financial Statements as of April 2000.

The table below presents the allocation of the purchase price related to the 2000 acquisitions as of the respefthcedisition.

(dollars in millions) LGS OTHER
Tangible net assets $ 31 % 68
Goodwill 159 220
Other identifiable intangible assets — 36
In-process research and development — 9
Deferred tax liabilities related to identifiable intangible assets = (12)
Total purchase price $ 190 $ 321
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OVERALL

The company's acquisitions were accounted for as purchase transactions, and accordingly, the assets andfielztgesed entities were
recorded at their estimated fair value at the date of acquisition. The effects of these acquisitions on the company®€&nsatidal Statements were
not material. Hence, the company has not provided pro forma financial information as if the companies had combined atrthebtgirespective
periods presented.

The tangible net assets comprise primarily cash, accounts receivable, land, buildings and leasehold improvedentiiableeintangible assets
comprise primarily patents, trademarks, customer lists, employee agreements and leasehold interests. The identifiablasatsdiale been amortized
on a straight-line basis, generally not to exceed seven years. Goodwill from acquisitions that were consummated pric2@61lulsa$ amortized over
five years. The company adopted SFAS No. 142 on January 1, 2002, and ceased amortizing goodwill as of that date. Thpeestidissodf all acquired
businesses were included in the company's Consolidated Financial Statements from the respective dates of acquisition.

Divestitures

2002

On December 31, 2002, the company sold its HDD business to Hitachi. The total gross proceeds of the sale wer@$dudily purchase price
adjustments), of which $1,414 million was received by IBM at closing. According to the terms of the agreement, the reeeeils \will be received
one and three years after closing. The remaining proceeds are fixed and are not dependent or variable based upon #es'seddrbogmor performance.
The company transferred approximately $244 million of cash as part of the HDD business, resulting in a net cash infloelate20@the HDD
transaction of $1,170 million.

IBM has entered into an arms-length five-year supply agreement with Hitachi, effective January 1, 2003, desigidmitteegrompany with a
majority of its ongoing internal disk drive requirements for the company's Server, Storage and Personal Systems products.

The loss on disposal recorded in 2002 was approximately $382 million, net of tax, and was recorded in (Loss)findisuerftmued operations in
the Consolidated Statement of Earnings.

See note A, "Significant Accounting Policies," on pages 70 to 75 for the "Basis of Presentation" for the discpetiatieaso

In the second and fourth quarters of 2002, the company announced certain asset and workforce reduction actess|eagbdx@pace charges
related to its discontinued HDD business. The company recorded a charge of approximately $508 million, net of tax, inedisspatations associated
with these announced actions.

Summarized selected financial information for the discontinued operations is as follows:

(dollars in millions)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31: 2002* 2001 2000

Revenue $ 1946 $ 2,799 $ 3,307
(Loss)/income before income taxes $ (2,037) $ (497) $ 123
Income tax benefit (282) (74) (96)
(Loss)/income from discontinued operations $ (1,755) $ (423) $ 219

* At closing, the company incurred a significant U.S. tax charge of approximately $248 million related to the repatriatestitfrdiproceeds from
certain countries with low tax rates. This amount was included in the income tax benefit line item of discontinued operations.

D Financial Instruments (excluding derivatives)

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities, notes and other accounts receivable and other investmeaisaasefmaitbi carrying values
that approximate fair value. Accounts payable, other accrued expenses and liabilities, and short-term and long-termatediaidieldilities with carrying
values that approximate fair value.

Marketable Securities*

The following table summarizes the company's marketable securities, all of which are considered available foalBateeaimyestments.

FAIR VALUE
(dollars in millions)
AT DECEMBER 31: 2002 2001
Marketable securities—current:
Time deposits and other obligations $ 593 $ 55
Non-U.S. government securities and other fixed-term obligations — 8
Total $ 593 $ 63
Marketable securities—non-current:**
Time deposits and other obligations $ 172 $ 124
Non-U.S. government securities and other fixed-term obligations 20 —
Total $ 192 $ 124

Non-equity method alliance investments** $ 249 $ 574
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Gross unrealized gains (before taxes) on marketable securities and alliance investments were $9 million and $27 miiinbext 162002 and
2001, respectively. Gross unrealized losses (before taxes) on marketable securities and alliance investments were $@iGhhittidiioa at

December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. See note N, "Stockholders' Equity Activity,” on pages 87 and 88 for net chealgeihgains and
losses on marketable securities.

** Included within Investments and sundry assets in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. See note H, "InvesBoeanly sssets," on
page 81.
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E Inventories

(dollars in millions)

AT DECEMBER 31: 2002 2001

Finished goods $ 90 $ 1,259
Work in process and raw materials 2,188 3,045
Total $ 3,148 $ 4,304

F Financing Receivables

(dollars in millions)

AT DECEMBER 31: 2002 2001*
Short-term:

Net investment in sales-type leases $ 5779 % 6,029
Commercial financing receivables 4,972 5,416
Customer loans receivable 4,462 4,225
Installment payment receivables 698 844
Other non-Global Financing related 85 142
Total $ 1599 $ 16,656
Long-term:

Net investment in sales-type leases $ 6,505 $ 6,822
Customer loans receivable 4,179 4,014
Commercial financing receivables 462 1,009
Installment payment receivables 273 396
Other non-Global Financing related 21 5
Total $ 11,440 $ 12,246

* Reclassified to conform with 2002 presentation.

Net investment in sales-type leases is for leases that relate principally to IBM equipment and are generallydiogitegrfrom two to five years. Net
investment in sales-type leases includes unguaranteed residual values of $821 million and $791 million at December 320Q00&apdctively, and is
reflected net of unearned income at those dates of $1,330 million and $1,428 million, respectively. Scheduled maturitirestofeage payments
outstanding at December 31, 2002, expressed as a percentage of the total, are approximately as follows: 2003, 51 p@&@et,c20042005,

15 percent; 2006, 4 percent; and 2007 and beyond, 2 percent.

Customer loans receivable are provided by Global Financing to the company's customers to finance the purchaseaviythescfiware and
services. Global Financing is one of many sources of funding from which customers can choose. Separate contractualkrelatioaséifinancing
arrangements are generally for terms ranging from one to three years requiring straight-line payments over the termciBgafofitract is priced
independently at competitive market rates. The company has a history of enforcing the terms of these separate finanaitg agreeme

G Plant, Rental Machines and Other Property

(dollars in millions)

AT DECEMBER 31: 2002 2001
Land and land improvements $ 837 $ 859
Buildings and building improvements 8,978 10,073
Plant, laboratory and office equipment 21,416 22,369
31,231 33,301
Less: Accumulated depreciation 18,525 18,982
12,706 14,319
Rental machines 4,852 5,074
Less: Accumulated depreciation 3,118 2,889
1,734 2,185
Total $ 14440 $ 16,504

H Investments and Sundry Assets

(dollars in millions)

AT DECEMBER 31: 2002 2001*
Deferred taxes $ 4,314 $ 2,395
Alliance investments:

Equity method 562 544

Other 249 574
Software 834 833
Derivatives—non-current** 689 230
Intangible assets, net (other than goodwill) 562 356
Receivable from Hitachi+ 356 —
Marketable securities—non-current 192 124

Other assets 1,076 1,361
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Total $ 8,834 $ 6,417

* Reclassified to conform with 2002 presentation.

**  See note L, "Derivatives and Hedging Transactions" on pages 84 to 86 for the fair value of all derivatives reportechgoticat€d Statement of
Financial Position.

+ See note C, "Acquisitions/Divestitures" on pages 78 to 80 for additional information.

The following schedule details the company's intangible asset balances by major asset class:

NET

GROSS CARRYING
(dollars in millions) CARRYING ACCUMULATED AMOUNT AT
INTANGIBLE ASSET CLASS AMOUNT AMORTIZATION DEC. 31, 2002
Customer-related $ 517 % (124) $ 393
Completed technology 229 (108) 121
Strategic alliances 118 (15) 103
Patents/trademarks 109 (80) 29
Other* 98 (7) 91
Total $ 1,071 $ (334) $ 737

* Other intangibles are primarily acquired proprietary and nonproprietary business processes, methodologies and systems.

**  The $737 million comprises $175 million recorded as current assets and $562 million recorded as non-current assets.
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The net carrying amount of intangible assets increased by $259 million for the year ended December 31, 2002lueritmaéindyacquisition of
PwCC, offset by the amortization of existing intangible asset balances and the intangible assets associated with divestitures.

The aggregate amortization expense was $181 million and $100 million for the years ended December 31, 2002 apec?ively.re

The future amortization expense for each of the five succeeding years relating to intangible assets currently thed€dedolidated Statement of
Financial Position is estimated to be the following at December 31, 2002:

(dollars in millions)

2003 $ 245
2004 208
2005 138
2006 82
2007 42
I Goodwill

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill, by reporting segment, for the year ended December 31, 2002vese as foll

FOREIGN

BALANCE ASSEMBLED PURCHASE CURRENCY BALANCE
(dollars in millions) JAN. 1, WORKFORCE GOODWILL PRICE TRANSLATION DEC. 31,
SEGMENT 2002 RECLASS* ADDITIONS  ADJUSTMENTS DIVESTITURES ADJUSTMENTS 2002
Global Services $ 325 $ — $ 2532 $ — 3 — 3 69 $ 2,926
Enterprise Systems 111 26 — — — — 137
Personal and Printing Systems 13 — — — — — 13
Technology 102 5 — — (83) — 24
Software 727 2 293 (12) — 5 1,015
Global Financing — — — — — — —
Enterprise Investments = = = = = = —
Total $ 1,278 $ 33 % 2,825 $ (12) $ (83)$ 74 $ 4,115
* In accordance with SFAS No. 141, "Business Combinations," the unamortized balance for acquired assembled workforce peichecadnized

as an intangible asset separate from goodwill, has been reclassified to goodwill effective January 1, 2002.

There were no goodwill impairment losses recorded during the period.
J Sale and Securitization of Receivables

The company periodically sells receivables through the securitization of loans, leases and trade receivablesnyhetaomas&rvicing rights in the
securitized receivables for which it receives a servicing fee. Any gain or loss incurred as a result of such sales id hre¢bgrpeeod in which the sale
occurs.

During 2001, the company entered into an uncommitted trade receivables securitization facility that allows fantheade@é up to $500 million of
trade receivables. This facility was put in place primarily to provide backup liquidity and can be accessed on threead&ysenmtimpany sold
$179 million of trade receivables through this facility in 2001. In addition, the company has a program to sell loanseréceivatzsite and local
government customers. This program was established in 1990 and has been used from time to time since then. The comgamyllismicb$Rans
receivable due from state and local government customers in 2001. No receivables were sold under either of these pr6grams in 20

At December 31, 2002 and 2001, the total balance of the state and local receivables securitized and under theneoagpamgat was $101 million
and $213 million, respectively. Servicing assets net of servicing liabilities were insignificant.

The investors in the state and local loans receivable securitizations have recourse to the company via a lintitedyb&@amillion at
December 31, 2002. At year-end 2002, delinquent amounts from the receivables sold and net credit losses were insignificant.

K Borrowings

Short-term debt

(dollars in millions)

AT DECEMBER 31: 2002 2001

Commercial paper $ 1302 $ 4,809
Short-term loans 1,013 1,564
Long-term debt—current maturities 3,716 4,815
Total $ 6,031 $ 11,188
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The weighted-average interest rates for commercial paper at December 31, 2002 and 2001, were 1.7 percent ahddspemtively. The
weighted-average interest rates for short-term loans at December 31, 2002 and 2001, were 2.5 percent and 4.0 peroglyt, respectiv

Long-Term Debt

PRE-SWAP ACTIVITY

(dollars in millions)

AT DECEMBER 31: MATURITIES 2002 2001
U.S. Dollars:
Debentures:
6.22% 2027 % 500 $ 500
6.5% 2028 700 700
7.0% 2025 600 600
7.0% 2045 150 150
7.125% 2096 850 850
7.5% 2013 550 550
8.375% 2019 750 750
3.43% convertible notes* 2007 328 —
Notes: 6.0% average 2003-2032 2,130 2,772
Medium-term note program: 4.0% average 2003-2018 7,113 3,620
Other: 4.9% average 2003-2009 610 828
14,281 11,320

Other currencies (average interest rate at December 31, 2002, in parentheses):

Euros (5.4%) 2003-2009 2,111 3,042
Japanese yen (1.0%) 2003-2015 4,976 4,749
Canadian dollars (5.8%) 2003-2011 445 441
Swiss francs (4.0%) 2003 180 151
Other (6.6%) 2003-2014 730 726

22,723 20,429
Less: Net unamortized (premium)/discount 1) 47
Add: SFAS No. 133 fair value adjustment** 978 396

23,702 20,778
Less: Current maturities 3,716 4,815
Total $ 19,986 $ 15,963

* On October 1, 2002, as part of the purchase price consideration for the PwCC acquisition, as addressed in note C, $Aoiyeisiiiores," on
pages 78 to 80, the company issued convertible notes bearing interest at a stated rate of 3.4 percent with a face oritatlp#328 million to
certain of the acquired PwCC partners. The notes are convertible into 4,764,543 shares of IBM common stock at the optiuters #tany time
after the first anniversary of their issuance based on a fixed conversion price of $68.81 per share of the company's ckmmon sto

** |n accordance with the requirements of SFAS No. 133, the portion of the company's fixed rate debt obligations thatisrefdgest in the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as an amount equal to the sum of the debt's carrying value plus a SFAS Xalu&3Rijastment
representing changes recorded in the fair value of the hedged debt obligations attributable to movements in marke¢ snaeesipalicable foreign
currency exchange rates.

Annual contractual maturities on long-term debt outstanding at December 31, 2002, are as follows:

(dollars in millions)

2003 $ 3,949
2004 3,613
2005 1,670
2006 2,705
2007 846
2008 and beyond 9,940

Interest on Debt

(dollars in millions)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31: 2002 2001 2000
Cost of Global Financing $ 633 $ 964 $ 1,082
Interest expense 145 234 344
Interest expense—discontinued operations 2 4 3
Interest capitalized 35 33 20
Total interest paid and accrued $ 815 $ 1235 $ 1,449

Refer to the related discussion on pages 101 through 103 in note X, "Segment Information," for the total interesif ¢p&blobal Financing
segment. See note L, "Derivatives and Hedging Transactions," on pages 84 to 86 for a discussion of the use of curreesy ite gwaps in the
company's debt risk management program.

Lines of Credit

The company maintains two global credit facilities totaling $12.0 billion in committed lines, including an $8.0nhiltipear facility with a term
extending through May 31, 2006, and a $4.0 billion, 364-day facility that expires on May 30, 2003. The company's otherddigsraist of which were
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uncommitted, totaled $7,190 million and $6,860 million at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Interest rates ant atheotewing under
these lines of credit vary from country to country, depending on local market conditions.

(dollars in millions)

(dollars in millions)

AT DECEMBER 31.: 2002 2001
Unused lines:
From the committed global credit facility $ 11945 $ 11,383
From other committed and uncommitted lines 4,989 4,738
Total unused lines of credit $ 16,934 $ 16,121
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L Derivatives and Hedging Transactions

The company operates in approximately 35 functional currencies and is a significant lender and borrower in ttalgitbadhrthe normal course of
business, the company is exposed to the impact of interest rate changes and foreign currency fluctuations, and tord kxpsiey pritee changes. The
company limits these risks by following established risk management policies and procedures including the use of dedyathere anst-effective,
financing with debt in the currencies in which assets are denominated. For interest rate exposures, derivatives argrnustd toalements between the
interest rates associated with the company's lease and other financial assets and the interest rates associated inghdiébfiri2ervatives are also used
to manage the related cost of debt. For foreign currency exposures, derivatives are used to limit the effects of forgigmeggdhastuations on financial
results.

The company does not use derivatives for trading or speculative purposes, nor is it a party to leveraged denitragivéise Eompany has a policy of
only entering into contracts with carefully selected major financial institutions based upon their credit ratings andaterfdenaintains strict dollar
and term limits that correspond to the institution's credit rating. When viewed in conjunction with the underlying antyaffgmitiure that the derivatives
are designed to hedge, the company has not sustained a material loss from these instruments.

In its hedging programs, the company employs the use of forward contracts, futures contracts, interest rate asdaps;esputions, caps, floors or
a combination thereof depending upon the underlying exposure.

A brief description of the major hedging programs follows.

Debt Risk Management

The company issues debt on the global capital markets, principally to fund its financing lease and loan portfslitn éasteeffective financing can
result in interest rate and/or currency mismatches with the underlying assets. To manage these mismatches and to redieresivearsi) the company
primarily uses interest-rate and currency instruments, principally swaps, to convert specific fixed-rate debt issuantaisletateadebt (i.e., fair value
hedges) and to convert specific variable-rate debt and anticipated commercial paper issuances to fixed rate (i.e., dasisflcvdreesulting cost of
funds is lower than that which would have been available if debt with matching characteristics was issued directly. THeaweighteremaining maturity
of all swaps in the debt risk management program is approximately four years.

Long-Term Investments in Foreign Subsidiaries (Net Investment)

A significant portion of the company's foreign currency denominated debt portfolio is designated as a hedge sifirezititveeduce the volatility in
stockholders' equity caused by changes in foreign currency exchange rates in the functional currency of major foreigesswhbidéspect to the U.S.
dollar. The company also uses currency swaps and foreign exchange forward contracts for this risk management purposey Effecisia these
hedges (approximately $317 million for the current period, net of tax) are reflected as a loss in the Accumulated gasssymb(laffecting retained
earnings section of the Consolidated Statement of Stockholders' Equity, thereby offsetting a portion of the translaioplioatiie foreign subsidiaries'
net assets.

Anticipated Royalties and Cost Transactions

The company's operations generate significant non-functional currency, third party vendor payments and intercongrasyqrapyalties, and
goods and services among the company's non-U.S. subsidiaries and with the parent company. In anticipation of thesesfargigastuilows and in
view of the volatility of the currency markets, the company selectively employs foreign exchange forward and option comizaeiget its currency risk.
At December 31, 2002, the maximum remaining maturity of these derivative instruments was less than 18 months, commerisaratel@ritying
hedged anticipated cash flows.
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Subsidiary Cash and Foreign Currency
Asset/Liability Management

The company uses its Global Treasury Centers to manage the cash of its subsidiaries. These centers princigalby $seapgrto convert cash
flows in a cost-effective manner. In addition, the company uses foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge, on a adblEgisctirrency exposure of
a portion of the company's non-functional currency assets and liabilities. The terms of these forward and swap conimactdlytesgethan one year. The
changes in fair value from these contracts and from the underlying hedged exposures are generally offsetting and areQ¢verdedome) and
expense in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings.

Equity Risk Management

The company is exposed to certain equity price changes related to certain obligations to employees. These erpstarexposiarily related to
market value movements in certain broad equity market indices and in the company's own stock. Changes in the overals\aiyg@fde
compensation obligation are recorded in SG&A expense in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings. Although not designatethg$eadges, the
company utilizes equity derivatives, including equity swaps and futures to economically hedge the equity exposurestrétaéimpltoyee compensation
obligation. To match the exposures relating to this employee compensation obligation, these derivatives are linked tettiia tfteértain broad equity
market indices and/or the total return of the company's common stock. These derivatives are recorded at fair value nitisggsredso reported in
SG&A expense in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings.

Other Derivatives

The company holds warrants in connection with certain investments that, although not designated as hedging iastraeemisd derivatives since
they contain net share settlement clauses. During the year, the company recorded the change in the fair value of theseetancorte.

The following tables summarizes the net fair value of the company's derivative and other risk management instevemisext31, 2002 and 2001
(included in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position).

RISK MANAGEMENT PROGRAM

HEDGE DESIGNATION

(dollars in millions)

FAIR CASH NET NON-HEDGE/
AT DECEMBER 31, 2002

VALUE FLOW INVESTMENT OTHER

Derivatives:

Debt risk management $ 643 $ 7)) $ —  $ 3
Long-term investments in foreign subsidiaries ("net
investments") — — 2 —

Anticipated royalties and cost transactions — (469) — —
Subsidiary cash and foreign currency asset/liability
management — — — (209)

Equity risk management — — — 6

Other derivatives — — — 10

Total derivatives 643(a) (476)(b) 2(c) (90)(d)
Debt:

Long-term investments in foreign subsidiaries ("net

investments") — — (2,474)* —

Total $ 643 $ @a76) $ (2472) $ (90)

* Represents fair value of foreign denominated debt issuances formally designated as a hedge of net investment.
(@) Comprises assets of $754 million and liabilities of $111 million.

(b) Comprises assets of $2 million and liabilities of $478 million.

(c) Comprises assets of $2 million.

(d) Comprises assets of $26 million and liabilities of $116 million.
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HEDGE DESIGNATION

(dollars in millions) FAIR CASH NET NON-HEDGE/
AT DECEMBER 31, 2002 VALUE FLOW INVESTMENT OTHER

Derivatives:

Debt risk management $ 301 % (26) — % (13)
Long-term investments in foreign subsidiaries ("net
investments") — — 92 —

Anticipated royalties and cost transactions — 375 — —
Subsidiary cash and foreign currency asset/liability
management — — — 16

Equity risk management — — — 22

Other derivatives — — — 3

Total derivatives 301(a) 349(b) 92(c) 28(d)
Debt:

Long-term investments in foreign subsidiaries ("net

investments") — — (5,519)* —

Total $ 301 $ 349 $ (5.427) $ 28

* Represents fair value of foreign denominated debt issuances formally designated as a hedge of net investment.
(@) Comprises assets of $301 million.

(b) Comprises assets of $383 million and liabilities of $34 million.

(c) Comprises assets of $92 million.

(d) Comprises assets of $60 million and liabilities of $32 million.

Accumulated Derivative Gains or Losses

As illustrated, the company makes extensive use of cash flow hedges, principally in the anticipated royaltigseansa@ctisns risk management
program. In connection with the company's cash flow hedges, it has recorded approximately $363 million of net losses atektgamsland (losses) not
affecting retained earnings as of December 31, 2002, net of tax, of which approximately $322 million is expected to fisdrrlasisincome within the
next year, providing an offsetting economic impact against the underlying anticipated cash flows hedged.

The following table summarizes activity in the Accumulated gains and (losses) not affecting retained earningsthedfionamlidated Statement of
Stockholders' Equity related to all derivatives classified as cash flow hedges held by the company during the periods2iHuéheldate of the
company's adoption of SFAS No. 133) through December 31, 2002:

DEBIT/
(dollars in millions, net of tax) (CREDIT)
Cumulative effect of adoption of SFAS No. 133 as of January 1, 2001 $ (219)
Net gains reclassified into earnings from equity during 2001 379
Changes in fair value of derivatives in 2001 (456)
December 31, 2001 (296)
Net losses reclassified into earnings from equity during 2002 5)
Changes in fair value of derivatives in 2002 664
DECEMBER 31, 2002 $ 363

At December 31, 2002, there were no significant gains or losses on derivative transactions or portions thereoéithar weffective as hedges,
excluded from the assessment of hedge effectiveness, or associated with an underlying exposure that did not occure royaaattbigated in the
normal course of business.

M  Other Liabilities

(dollars in millions)

AT DECEMBER 31: 2002 2001*

Deferred taxes $ 1,450 $ 1,485
Deferred income 1,079 1,145
Executive compensation accruals 851 868
Restructuring actions 1,024 589
Postemployment/preretirement liability 573 493
Environmental accruals 208 215
Other 766 670
Total $ 5951 $ 5,465

* Reclassified to conform with 2002 presentation.

Each year the company takes certain workforce rebalancing actions to improve productivity and competitive positiorcuFrent contractually
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obligated future payments associated with these ongoing activities are reflected in the postemployment/preretiremeapliaiilitythe table above.

In addition, the company executed certain actions prior to 1994, and in 1999 and 2002. The non-current lialuilitted asgothese actions are
reflected in restructuring actions in the table above.The reconciliation of the December 31, 2001 to 2002, balancesnf #relawn-current liabilities
for restructuring actions are presented in the table on page 87. The current liabilities presented in the table are @itiadaddrued expenses and
liabilities in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.
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BALANCE AT OTHER BALANCE AT
DEC. 31, ADJUST- DEC. 31,
(dollars in millions) 2001 ADDITIONS PAYMENTS MENTS* 2002
Current:
Workforce $ 87 $ 1,225 $ 670 $ 5% 647
Space 65 146 97 67 181
Other — 178 90 27 115
Total $ 152 % 1549 $ 857 $ 99 $ 943

Non-current:

Workforce $ 38 $ 109 $ — 3 80 $ 574
Space 204 281 — (66) 419
Other = 58 — 27) 31
Total $ 589 $ 448 $ — 3 (13)$ 1,024

* The Other adjustments column in the table above includes the reclassification of non-current to current and foreigrranstatioy fidjustments.
In addition, net adjustments of $30 million were made in the fourth quarter of 2002 to reduce the liabilities previously iretoedsecond quarter
of 2002.

The workforce accruals primarily relate to the company's Global Services business. The non-current portion ldj theddtebito terminated
employees who are no longer working for the company, but who were granted annual payments to supplement their incomesimtersaiDepending
on the individual country's legal requirements, these required payments will continue until the former employee begiggetainbenefits or dies.

The space accruals are for ongoing obligations to pay rent for vacant space that could not be sublet or spacblisiaatvates lower than the
committed lease arrangement. The length of these obligations varies by lease with the longest extending through 2019.

Other accruals are primarily the remaining liabilities associated with the 2002 second quarter actions descelgd'200dtActions," on pages 90
through 92. In addition, there are $39 million of remaining liabilities associated with the HDD-related restructuring discudedd, "Acquisitions/
Divestitures” on pages 78 to 80.

The Additions column in the table above includes accruals for workforce, space and other reductions relatingaietiotise second and fourth
quarters of 2002. Please see note S, "2002 Actions" on pages 90 through 92 for a detailed discussion of second anéfe2@b2jaations. Also
included in the Additions column are the actions associated with the HDD business for reductions in workforce, manufaettitjngnthspace, totaling
$295 million that were recorded in the (Loss)/income from discontinued operations in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings.

The company employs extensive internal environmental protection programs that primarily are preventive in natuneafkelso participates in
environmental assessments and cleanups at a number of locations, including operating facilities, previously owned da8ilitiesard sites.

The total amounts accrued for environmental liabilities, including amounts classified as current in the Consalielatet 8t Financial Position, that
do not reflect actual or anticipated insurance recoveries, were $247 million and $238 million at December 31, 2002 aspe2@i0&lyre

Estimated environmental costs are not expected to materially affect the financial position or results of the cp@yzdioyls in future periods.
However, estimates of future costs are subject to change due to protracted cleanup periods and changing environmeralregulediats.

N Stockholders' Equity Activity

In the fourth quarter of 2002, in connection with the PwCC acquisition, IBM issued 3,677,213 shares of restrict@deatoakapproximately
$254 million and recorded an additional $30 million for stock to be issued in future periods as part of the purchaseigeicticonmid to the PwCC
partners. See note C, "Acquisitions/Divestitures," on pages 78 to 80, for further information regarding this acquisitmtedpayments made by the
company. Additionally, in the fourth quarter of 2002, in conjunction with the funding of the company's U.S. pension pdampding ssued an additional
24,037,354 shares of common stock from treasury shares valued at $1,871 million.

Stock Repurchases

From time to time, the Board of Directors authorizes the company to repurchase IBM common stock. The companyd&@u4&iate0 common
shares at a cost of $4,212 million and 50,764,698 common shares at a cost of $5,293 million in 2002 and 2001, res(289®elydIA001, the company
issued 979,246 and 1,923,502 treasury shares, respectively, as a result of exercises of stock options by employeexenttedauired businesses and
by non-U.S. employees. At December 31, 2002, $3,864 million of Board-authorized repurchases remained. The company [rlass shates on the
open market from time to time, depending on market conditions. The company also repurchased 189,797 common share$¥ andbishafnd
314,433 common shares at a cost of $31 million in 2002 and 2001, respectively, as part of other stock compensation plans.

In 1995, the Board of Directors authorized the company to repurchase all of its outstanding Series A 7-1/2 péregmtedatred stock. On May 18,
2001, the company announced it would redeem all outstanding shares of its Seriespirgent callable preferred stock, represented by the outstanding
depositary shares (10,184,043 shares). The depositary shares represent ownership of one-fourth of a share of prefepedisiockhBres were
redeemed as of July 3, 2001, the redemption date, for cash at a redemption price of $25 plus accrued and unpaid dieideshetsptiah date for each
depositary share. Accordingly, these shares are no longer outstanding. Dividends on preferred stock, represented bgrthehdepssieased to accrue
on the redemption date. The company did not repurchase any shares in 2000.
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Employee Benefits Trust

In 1997, the company created an employee benefits trust to which the company contributed 10 million sharessibtileafhieycompany was
authorized to instruct the trustee to sell such shares from time to time and to use the proceeds from such sales, ardiapaiivd earnings received
on such stock, toward the partial payment of the company's obligations under certain of its compensation and benefitsplares fiéld in trust were not
considered outstanding for earnings per share purposes until they were committed to be released. The company did notstamesifamglease from
the trust during its existence nor were any shares sold from the trust. The trust would have expired in 2007. Due hathiesfacintpany had not used the
trust, nor was it expected to need the trust prior to its expiration, the company dissolved the trust, effective Maya8id 2001 the shares (20 million on
a split-adjusted basis) were returned to the company as treasury shares. Dissolution of the trust did not affect theobtiggimmgsrelated to any of its
compensation and employee benefit plans or its ability to settle the obligations. In addition, the dissolution is not@xpeetethy impact on net income.
At this time, the company plans to fully meet its obligations for the compensation and benefit plans in the same maoestadaiy dusing cash from
operations.

ACCUMULATED GAINS AND (LOSSES) NOT AFFECTING RETAINED EARNINGS*

NET NET
UNREALIZED UNREALIZED ACCUMULATED
GAINS/(LOSSES) FOREIGN MINIMUM GAINS/(LOSSES) GAINS/(LOSSES)
ON CASH FLOW CURRENCY PENSION ON NOT AFFECTING
HEDGE TRANSLATION LIABILITY MARKETABLE RETAINED

(dollars in millions) DERIVATIVES ADJUSTMENTS ADJUSTMENT** SECURITIES EARNINGS
December 31, 2000 $ — 3 (73) $ (218) $ (78) $ (369)
Cumulative effect on January
1, 2001 219 — — — 219
Change for period 77 (539) (308) 92 (678)
December 31, 2001 296 (612) (526) 14 (828)
Change for period (659) 850 (2,765) (26) (2,590)
DECEMBER 31, 2002 $ (363) $ 238 % (3.29) $ 2 $ (3,418

* Net of tax.

**  Reclassified to conform with 2002 presentation.

NET CHANGE IN UNREALIZED (LOSSES)/GAINS ON MARKETABLE SECURITIES (NET OF TAX)

(dollars in millions)

AT DECEMBER 31: 2002 2001

Net unrealized losses arising during the period $ 13) $ (154)
Less: Net gains/(losses) included in net income for the period 3* (246)*
Net change in unrealized (losses)/gains on marketable securities $ 16) $ 92

* Includes write-downs of $36 million and $287 million in 2002 and 2001, respectively.

O Contingencies and Commitments

Contingencies

The company is subject to a variety of claims and suits that arise from time to time in the ordinary coursengfsiss inafiding actions with respect
to contracts, IP, product liability, employment and environmental matters. The company is a defendant and/or third-parnyidefendnber of cases in
which claims have been led by current and former employees, independent contractors, estate representatives, offspives afemgioyees seeking
damages for wrongful death and personal injuries allegedly caused by exposure to chemicals in various of the compasytefadiB4 to the present.

In addition, the company is a defendant in a class action challenge to its defined benefit plan. The suit alegesrthat pension plan formulas
violate a number of Employee Retirement Income Security Act (ERISA) provisions including the ERISA age discrimination provision

While it is not possible to predict the ultimate outcome of the matters discussed above, given the unique faotarastadaes involved in each
matter, historically, the company has been successful in defending itself against claims and suits that have been bsbityandgadyments made by the
company in such claims and suits have not been material to the company. The company will continue to defend itself vigdirsusly inatters and
believes that if it were to incur a loss in any such matter, such loss should not have a material effect on the compesy'Sriarsiial condition or results
of operations.

Commitments

The company has applied the disclosure provisions of FASB Interpretation No. 45 (FIN 45), "Guarantor's Accouniefpand Requirements for
Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others," to its agreements that contain guarantee or onletfang&stiThese disclosure
provisions expand those required by FASB Statement No. 5, "Accounting for Contingencies," by requiring a guarantor to
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disclose certain types of guarantees, even if the likelihood of requiring the guarantor's performance is remote. Thesfalldesngption of arrangements
in which the company is the guarantor.

The company is a party to a variety of agreements pursuant to which it may be obligated to indemnify the othtr iesigatito certain matters.
Typically, these obligations arise in the context of contracts entered into by the company, under which the company cagtessatiiyhold the other
party harmless against losses arising from a breach of representations and covenants related to such matters as<tld toertaiet$P rights, specified
environmental matters, and certain income taxes. In each of these circumstances, payment by the company is conditishedpartthemaking a claim
pursuant to the procedures specified in the particular contract, which procedures typically allow the company to chaitbagpdhy's claims. Further,
the company's obligations under these agreements may be limited in terms of time and/or amount, and in some instancasy thaycbene recourse
against third parties for certain payments made by the company.

It is not possible to predict the maximum potential amount of future payments under these or similar agreemémsconeitmnal nature of the
company's obligations and the unique facts and circumstances involved in each particular agreement. Historically, payrognte roacgany under
these agreements did not have a material effect on the company's business, financial condition or results of operatiopanif bel@ves that if it were
to incur a loss in any of these matters, such loss should not have a material effect on the company's business, firtarcal @sudis of operations.

In addition, the company guarantees certain loans and financial commitments. The maximum potential future paytheseuirdercial guarantees
was $126 million and $218 million at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. These amounts include the limited guanatederagsthe
company's loans receivable securitization program. See note J, "Sale and Securitization of Receivables," on page 82.

The company extended lines of credit, of which the unused amounts were $3,482 million and $4,088 million at Dec@80Rargi2001,
respectively. A portion of these amounts was available to the company's business partners to support their working sapitabidéeh, the company
committed to provide future financing to its customers in connection with customer purchase agreements for approximaiéigr$asg #8269 million at
December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Changes in the company's warranty liability balance are illustrated in the following table:

(dollars in millions) 2002 2001
Balance at January 1 $ 520 $ 572
Current period accruals 863 823
Accrual adjustments to reflect actual experience 121 2)
Charges incurred (890) (873)
Balance at December 31 $ 614 $ 520

Accrual adjustments in 2002 principally reflect a significant increase in the failure rates of HDD componentsripahg's&erver and Storage
products as a result of product transitions.

P Taxes

(dollars in millions)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31: 2002 2001 2000
Income from continuing operations before income taxes:
U.S. operations $ 3838 $ 5644 $ 5,914
Non-U.S. operations 3,686 5,806 5,497
Total income from continuing operations before income taxes $ 7524 $ 11,450 $ 11,411

The continuing operations provision for income taxes by geographic operations is as follows:

(dollars in millions)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31: 2002 2001 2000

U.S. operations $ 934 $ 1,543 $ 1,798
Non-U.S. operations 1,256 1,761 1,739
Total continuing operations provision for income taxes $ 2,190 $ 3,304 $ 3,537

The components of the continuing operations provision for income taxes by taxing jurisdiction are as follows:

(dollars in millions)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31: 2002 2001 2000
U.S. federal:
Current $ 287 $ 434 $ 719
Deferred 3) 333 285
284 767 1,004

U.S. state and local:

Current 184 73 192
Deferred 3 155 47
187 228 239

Non-U.S.:
Current 1,786 2,133 2,582

Deferred (67) 176 (288)
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1,719 2,309 2,294
Total continuing operations provision for income taxes 2,190 3,304 3,537
Provision for social security, real estate, personal property and other taxes 2,789 2,730 2,734
Total continuing operations provision for taxes $ 4,979 6,034 $ 6,271
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The effect of tax law changes on deferred tax assets and liabilities did not have a significant effect on the etfeqiaveytax rate.

The significant components of activities that gave rise to deferred tax assets and liabilities that are recofdedsioliteted Statement of Financial

Position were as follows:

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

(dollars in millions)

AT DECEMBER 31: 2002 2001*
Retirement benefits $ 3,587 $ 2,589
Capitalized research and development 2,251 747
Alternative minimum tax credits 1,316 1,282
Employee benefits 1,049 1,122
Deferred income 895 694
Bad debt, inventory and warranty reserves 850 863
General business credits 798 700
Infrastructure reduction charges 560 465
Depreciation 441 386
Foreign tax loss carryforwards 304 325
State and local tax loss carryforwards 239 238
Other 2,266 1,781
Gross deferred tax assets 14,556 11,192
Less: Valuation allowance 628 581
Net deferred tax assets $ 13928 $ 10,611
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

(dollars in millions)

AT DECEMBER 31: 2002 2001*
Retirement benefits $ 5904 $ 3,829
Sales-type leases 1,088 1,814
Depreciation 329 425
Other 1,431 1,475
Gross deferred tax liabilities $ 8752 $ 7,543

* Reclassified to conform with 2002 presentation.

The valuation allowance at December 31, 2002, principally applies to certain state and local, and foreign tgfdonsardarthat, in the opinion of
management, are more likely than not to expire before the company can use them.

A reconciliation of the company's continuing operations effective tax rate to the statutory U.S. federal taxfoditns:as

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31: 2002 2001 2000
Statutory rate 35% 35% 35%
Foreign tax differential (M) (6) (6)
State and local 1 1 1
Valuation allowance related items — — 1)
Other — 1) 2
Effective rate 29% 29% 31%

For tax return purposes, the company has available tax credit carryforwards of approximately $2,234 million, &f346ichilon have an
indefinite carryforward period and the remainder begin to expire in 2005. The company also has state and local, andlfiseigartgforwards, the tax
effect of which is $543 million. Most of these carryforwards are available for five years or have an indefinite carryfategrd pe

Undistributed earnings of non-U.S. subsidiaries included in consolidated retained earnings were $16,631 milliomert BEc2002, and
$16,851 million at December 31, 2001. These earnings, which reflect full provision for non-U.S. income taxes, are indafivitstyd in non-U.S.
operations or will be remitted substantially free of additional tax.

Q Advertising and Promotional Expense

Advertising and promotional expense, which includes media, agency and promotional expense, was $1,427 millioilli®i &1& $1,742 million
in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively, and is recorded in SG&A expense.

R Research, Development and Engineering

RD&E expense was $4,750 million in 2002, $4,986 million in 2001 and $5,084 million in 2000.

The company incurred expense of $4,247 million in 2002, $4,321 million in 2001 and $4,301 million in 2000 forepdi$ic Isearch and the
application of scientific advances to the development of new and improved products and their uses. Of these amounts)aefiiveaqeense was
$1,974 million, $1,926 million and $1,955 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Included in the expense for 200@ wede2tharges for
acquired in-process R&D of $4 million and $9 million, respectively.

Expense for product-related engineering was $503 million, $665 million and $783 million in 2002, 2001 and 200@Isespect
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S 2002 Actions
Second Quarter Actions

During the second quarter of 2002, the company executed several actions in its Microelectronics Division. Thetfginiesdlegision is within the
company's Technology Group segment. These actions were the result of the company's announced intentions to refocus amdrdeksdtronics
business to the high-end foundry, Application Specific Integrated Circuit and standard products, while creating a tectvicdsgyusiness. A major part
of the actions related to a significant reduction in the company's manufacturing capacity for aluminum technology.

In addition, the company rebalanced both its workforce and its leased space resources primarily in responsettdebkneaecorporate spending
on technology services.
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The following table summarizes the significant components of these actions:

LIABILITY
RECORDED LIABILITY
IN AS OF
PRE-TAX WRITE-OFF 2ND QTR. OTHER DEC. 31,
(dollars in millions) CHARGES OF ASSETS 2002 PAYMENTS ADJUSTMENTS+ 2002
Microelectronics:
Machinery/equipment: $ 423 % 323(a)
Current $ 67(b)* $ 38 $ 13 $ 42
Non-current 33 (b)** — (16) 17
Non-cancelable purchase commitments: 60
Current 35(c)* 15 4 24
Non-current 25(c)** — (12) 13
Employee terminations: 45
Current 44 (d)* 85 8) 1
Non-current 1(d)** — — 1
Vacant space: 11
Current 5(e)* 1 1 5
Non-current 6(e)** — 1) 5
Sale of Endicott facility 223 221(f) 2(f)* 3 11 10
Sale of certain operations 63 53(g) 10(g)* 9 — 1
Global Services and other:
Employee terminations: 722
Current 671 (h)* 505 (23) 143
Non-current 51 (h)** — 27 78
Vacant space: 180 29(i)
Current 57 (i)* 29 16 44
Non-current 94 (iy** — (8) 86
Total $ 1,727 $ 626 $ 1,101 $ 635 $ 4% 470

* Recorded in Accounts payable and accruals in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.
**  Recorded in Other liabilities in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

+ Principally represents currency translation adjustments and reclassification of non-current to current. In additiortnmentadji$30 million were
made in the fourth quarter of 2002 to reduce previously recorded liabilities. These adjustments, along with a net $I@drillmrassets
previously written off, were for differences between the estimated and actual proceeds on the disposition of certaincdsseissirdthe estimated
cost of employee terminations.

(@ This amount was recorded in SG&A expense and primarily represents the abandonment and loss on sale of certain ayitad) dssetscond
quarter of 2002.

(b) This amount comprises costs incurred to remove abandoned capital assets and the remaining lease payments for leaséndeqapatmmdoned
in the second quarter of 2002. The company expects to pay the removal costs by June 30, 2003. The remaining lease peyntients tiibugh
2005. These amounts were recorded in SG&A expense.

(c) The company is subject to certain noncancelable purchase commitments. As a result of the decision to significantiymiedmeeapacity, the
company no longer has a need for certain materials subject to these agreements. The required future payments for oragerialeauet under
these contracts are expected to be paid over two years. This amount was recorded in SG&A expense.

(d) The workforce reductions represent 1,400 people of which approximately 94 percent left the business as of Decembdh@se20®2unts were
recorded in SG&A expense. The non-current portion of the liability relates to terminated employees who were granted aentsat@aypplement
their income in certain countries. Depending on individual country legal requirements, these required payments will clritieuf@umer
employee begins receiving pension benefits or dies.

(e) The space accruals are for ongoing obligations to pay rent for vacant space that could not be sublet or space thatwatesliber than the
committed lease arrangements. The length of these obligations varies by lease with the longest extending through 2086jeghesesctecorded
in Other (income) and expense in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings.

(f)  As part of the company's strategic decisions in its Microelectronics business to exit the manufacture and sale ajadertaiama component
technologies, the company signed an agreement in the second quarter of 2002 to sell its interconnect products operataihtoif Batidott
Interconnect Technologies, Inc. (EIT). As a result of this transaction, the company incurred a $223 million loss on saledndtuygiarter of 2002,
primarily relating to land, buildings, machinery and equipment. This loss was recorded in Other (income) and expensesulittete@ioBtatement
of Earnings. This transaction closed in
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the fourth quarter of 2002. The company entered into a limited supply agreement with EIT for future products, and iteadedsxk, at fair
market value rental rates, approximately one-third of the Endicott campus' square footage for operations outside theti@&ibbusiness.

(g) As part of the strategic realignment of the company's Microelectronics business, the company reached an agreemeairt@ssditseand liabilities
comprising its Mylex business to LSI Logic Corporation and the company sold part of its wireless phone chipset operaQumstto Tr
Semiconductor, Inc. in June 2002. The Mylex transaction was completed in August 2002. The loss of $74 million for thenshdértrand the
realized gain of $11 million for the chipset sale were recorded in Other (income) and expense in the Consolidated Staaeniegs.of

(h) The majority of the workforce reductions relate to the company's Global Services business. The workforce reductiond 4e2t8gesople of
which approximately 94 percent left the company as of December 31, 2002. See (d) on page 91 for information on the pontiourarthe
liability. These charges were included in SG&A expense in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings.

(i) The space accruals are for ongoing obligations to pay rent for vacant space that could not be sublet or space thaatwatesubiger than the
committed lease arrangements. This space relates primarily to workforce dynamics in the Global Services business andntlire coyotate
technology spending on services. The length of these obligations varies by lease with the longest extending through 20@9g&besse
recorded in Other (income) and expense in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings.

Fourth Quarter Actions

During the fourth quarter of 2002, the company executed several actions related to the company's acquisition péétfidaly, $he company
rebalanced both its workforce and its leased space resources. The following table summarizes the significant compoeemtiaithes

RECORDED IN
PURCHASE
RECORDED IN THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTING
STATEMENT OF EARNINGS (SEE NOTE C)
TOTAL LIABILITY
TOTAL SALE OR LIABILITY LIABILITY LIABILITY AS OF
(dollars in PRE-TAX WRITE-OFF  RECORDED RECORDED RECORDED OTHER DEC. 31,
millions) CHARGES OF ASSETS IN4TH QTR. IN 4TH QTR. IN4ATH QTR. PAYMENTS ADJUSTMENTS* 2002
Workforce: $ 305(a) $ —
Current $ 248 % 48(a) $ 296 $ 16 $ 2)$ 278
Non-current 57(a) — 57 — — 57
Vacant space: 17(b) 4
Current 6 62 (b) 68 1 — 67
Non-current 7 173(b) 180 — — 180
Total $ 322 % 49 318 % 283 $ 601 $ 17 $ 2)$ 582

* Principally represents currency translation adjustments.

(@) The majority of the workforce reductions relate to the company's Global Services business. The workforce reductioh8,frgmmple who are
expected to leave the company by the end of the first quarter of 2003 ($305 million in the table above). These chardededere S&&A
expense in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings. The workforce reductions also affected 1,203 acquired PwCC employeqsestenl doe
leave the company by the end of the first quarter of 2003 ($48 million in the table above). These costs were includéthadiphititees assumed
for purchase accounting.

The non-current workforce accrual relates to terminated employees in certain countries outside the United States, focovhpamyhis required to
make annual payments to supplement their incomes. Depending on individual country legal requirements, these requiredibapmienis wntil
the former employee begins receiving pension benefits or dies.

(b) The majority of the space accruals are for ongoing obligations to pay rent for vacant space of PwCC that could nairtspaablétat was sublet at
rates lower than the committed lease arrangements. The length of these obligations varies by lease with the longestrextghdayg. The
charges related to IBM space ($17 million) were included in Other (income) and expense in the Consolidated Statemens.of liEaousts related
to acquired PwWCC space were included as part of the liabilities assumed for purchase accounting ($235 million in thes tabhepatsey
$62 million current and $173 million non-current).

92




Prepared by Merrill Corporation at www.edgaradvantage.com Printed: 10-Mar-2003;14:03:26 (v1.37) HTML Page: 53
File: DISK008:[03NY C6.03NY C2876]FZ2876A.;20 Created: 10-MAR-2003;11:12 Chksum: 983378 Folio: 93
User: NLUCCA EFW: 2102367 Client: I1BM CORPORATION Doc# 3

T Earnings Per Share of Common Stock

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share of common stock.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31: 2002 2001 2000

Weighted-average number of shares on which earnings per share calculations are

based:

Basic 1,703,244,345 1,733,348,422 1,763,037,049
Add—incremental shares under stock compensation plans 24,807,025 36,595,476 46,750,030
Add—incremental shares associated with convertible notes 1,191,136 — —
Add—incremental shares associated with contingently issuable shares 1,698,548 1,277,222 2,331,343
Add—incremental shares associated with put options* — 9,479 —

Assuming dilution 1,730,941,054 1,771,230,599 1,812,118,422

(dollars in millions except per share amounts)

Income from continuing operations applicable to common stockholders $ 5334 $ 8,136 $ 7,854
(Loss)/income from discontinued operations (1,755) (423) 219
Net income from total operations on which basic earnings per share is calculate 3579 $ 7,713 % 8,073
Income from continuing operations applicable to common stockholders $ 5334 $ 8,136 $ 7,854
Less—net income applicable to contingently issuable shares 18 4 21

Income from continuing operations on which diluted earnings per share is

calculated 5,316 8,132 7,833
(Loss)/income from discontinued operations on which basic and diluted earnings

per share are calculated (1,755) (423) 219
Net income from total operations on which diluted earnings per share is calculat®d 3561 $ 7,709 $ 8,052

Earnings/(loss) per share of common stock:

Assuming dilution:

Continuing operations $ 307 $ 459 % 4.32
Discontinued operations (1.01) (0.24) 0.12
Total $ 206 $ 435 $ 4.44
Basic:
Continuing operations $ 313 % 469 $ 4.45
Discontinued operations (1.03) (0.24) 0.12
Total $ 210 $ 445 $ 4.58**

* Represents short-term put option contracts sold by the company on a limited basis through private placements with itdieggradtes to reduce
the cost of the share buy-back program. The put option contracts that were executed permitted net share settlementrat'sheptiompad did not
result in a put option liability in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. As of December 31, 2002, the compahgpwaidany put option
obligations outstanding.

**  Does not total due to rounding.

Stock options to purchase 111,713,072 common shares in 2002, 67,596,737 common shares in 2001 and 34,633,343ex0im2000share
outstanding, but were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because the exercise price of tlxs gptiates than the average
market price of the common shares and, therefore, the effect would have been antidilutive. Net income applicable to cahwiders®aludes
preferred stock dividends of $10 million in 2001 and $20 million in 2000.

U Rental Expense and Lease Commitments

Rental expense from continuing operations, including amounts charged to inventories and fixed assets, and exchidipgeaioasly reserved, was
$1,377 million in 2002, $1,324 million in 2001 and $1,335 million in 2000. The table below depicts gross minimum rental entarfidm continuing
operations under noncancelable leases, amounts related to vacant space associated with infrastructure reduction arglaestnstaten through 1993,
and in 1999 and 2002 (previously reserved), and sublease income commitments. These amounts reflect activities primavityfiietatgmhce as well as
manufacturing equipment.
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(dollars in millions) BEYOND

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2007
Gross minimum rental commitments $ 1370 $ 1066 $ 859 $ 689 $ 511 $ 1,590
Vacant space 206 161 131 92 54 185
Sublease income commitments 46 38 31 20 5 41

V  Stock-Based Compensation Plans
The following is a description of the terms of the company's stock-based compensation plans:

Incentive Plans

Incentive awards are provided to employees and directors under the terms of the company's plans (the Plans)wandsleyeedministered by the
Executive Compensation and Management Resources Committee of the Board of Directors. The committee determines the typé thedaeards to
be granted, including vesting provisions.

Awards under the Plans may include stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, cash or stockeawaraitonation thereof. The
original amount of shares authorized to be issued under the Plans was 411.3 million. There were 183.3 million and 193+iseitlishares available to
be granted under the Plans as of December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Awards under the Plans resulted in compessaif@i88pwillion,
$170 million and $134 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

STOCK OPTION GRANTS

Stock options are granted to employees and directors at an exercise price equal to the fair market value of teesturkdriye date of grant.
Generally, options vest 25 percent per year, are fully vested four years from the grant date and have a term of terfollemving tebles summarize
option activity under the Plans during 2002, 2001 and 2000:

2002 2001 2000

NO. OF NO. OF NO. OF

WTD. AVG. SHARES WTD. AVG. SHARES WTD. AVG. SHARES

EXERCISE UNDER EXERCISE UNDER EXERCISE UNDER

PRICE OPTION PRICE OPTION PRICE OPTION
Balance at January 1 $ 85 177,956,490 $ 73 160,557,003 $ 60 146,136,523
Options granted 77 59,966,106 110 43,410,364 102 42,601,014
Options exercised 33 (7,490,424) 37 (20,354,701) 35 (18,243,347)
Options canceled/expired 103 (7,495,472) 100 (5,656,176) 87 (9,937,187)
Balance at December 31 $ 84 222,936,700 $ 85 177,956,490 $ 73 160,557,003
Exercisable at December 31 $ 75 108,347,895 $ 62 80,773,980 $ 45 66,599,878

The shares under option at December 31, 2002, were in the following exercise price ranges:

OPTIONS CURRENTLY

OPTIONS OUTSTANDING EXERCISABLE
WTD. AVG.
WTD. AVG. REMAINING WTD. AVG.
EXERCISE NO. OF CONTRACTUAL EXERCISE NO. OF
EXERCISE PRICE RANGE PRICE OPTIONS LIFE (IN YEARS) PRICE OPTONS
$12-$50 $ 29 30,094,313 3 3 29 30,094,313
$51-$90 65 74,701,940 8 61 32,466,761
$91-$110 103 68,564,527 8 105 22,223,431
$111 and over 122 49,575,920 8 126 23,563,390
$ 84 222,936,700 7% 75 108,347,895

IBM Employees Stock Purchase Plan

The ESPP enables substantially all regular employees to purchase full or fractional shares of IBM common stogéytraibdgluctions of up to
10 percent of eligible compensation. Effective July 1, 2000, the ESPP was amended whereby the share price paid by ah@ngeld et 85 percent
of the average market price on the last business day of each pay period, to the lesser of 85 percent of the average amattetfipsicbhusiness day of
each offering period or 85 percent of the average market price on the last business day of each pay period. This chiuage didhaderial impact on the
company's financial condition. The current plan provides semi-annual offerings over the five-year period commencing Qulg3PP0garticipants are
restricted from purchasing more than $25,000 of common stock in one calendar year or 1,000 shares in an offering perioetedpgréxmillion,
16.5 million and 26.3 million reserved unissued shares were available for purchase under the ESPP at December 31, 20@D@)0&smectively. The
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company intends to request stockholder approval of a new ESPP in April 2003. If approved, shares may be issued undertleanplayee participation
would be subject to the terms and conditions of that plan.

Pro Forma Disclosure

See "Stock-Based Compensation" on page 72, in note A, "Significant Accounting Policies," for the pro forma disichetine®me and earnings
per share required under SFAS No. 123.

W Retirement-Related Benefits

IBM offers defined benefit pension plans, defined contribution pension plans and nonpension postretirement ptansomsiating of retiree
medical benefits. These benefits form an important part of the company's total compensation and benefits program tleak is desghand retain
highly skilled and talented employees. The following table provides the total retirement-related benefit plans' impacedrefocerimcome taxes.

R u.s. NON-U.S. total
(dollars in millions)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31: 2002 2001 2000 2002 2001 2000 2002 2001 2000
Total retirement-related plans—income $ (154)$ (256)$ (156)% (17)$ (181)$ (171)% (A71)*$  (437)*$  (327)*
Comprise:
Defined benefit and contribution pension plans—income $ (478)$ (632) $ (530)% (46)$ (209) $ (198)$ (524) $ (841) $ (728)
Nonpension postretirement benefits—cost 324 376 374 29 28 27 353 404 401

* Includes amounts for discontinued operations costs of $77 million, $56 million and $62 million for 2002, 2001 and 206@ehespec

Accounting Policy
DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION AND NONPENSION POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The company accounts for its defined benefit pension plans and its nonpension postretirement benefit plans iadingpdetsaequired by SFAS
No. 87, "Employers' Accounting for Pensions," and SFAS No. 106, "Employers' Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Otlesrsidren"Pespectively.
These models use an attribution approach that generally spreads individual events over the service lives of the emplpj@esbiramples of "events"
are plan amendments and changes in actuarial assumptions such as discount rate, rate of compensation increases aee themaiittyp&ragraph for
information on the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets. The principle underlying the required attributiorisafsiarbetployees render
service over their service lives on a relatively smooth basis and therefore, the income statement effects of pensiorsar posipetirement benefit
plans are earned in, and should follow, the same pattern.

One of the principal components of the net periodic pension (income)/cost calculation is the expected long-teaturateroplan assets. The
required use of expected long-term rate of return on plan assets may result in recognized pension income that is gréaertbelastual returns of
those plan assets in any given year. Over time, however, the expected long-term returns are designed to approximatmntieactuaturns and
therefore result in a pattern of income and expense recognition that more closely matches the pattern of the serviceg fhreddgidoyees. Differences
between actual and expected returns are recognized in the calculation of net periodic pension (income)/cost over fiweyielas fas in the accounting
rules.

The company uses long-term historical actual return information, the expected mix of investments that comprists ptard dsture estimates of
long-term investment returns to develop its expected return on plan assets.

The discount rate assumptions used for pension and nonpension postretirement benefit plan accounting refldaghaf@eeaaailable on
high-quality, fixed-income debt instruments. The rate of compensation increase is another significant assumption useciratimecate| for pension
accounting and is determined by the company, based upon its long-term plans for such increases. For retiree medicatipprilaecoumpany reviews
external data and its own historical trends for health care costs to determine the health care cost trend rates.

As required by SFAS No. 87, for instances in which pension plan assets are less than the accumulated benef{p@iliyasoof the end of the
reporting period (defined as an unfunded ABO position), a minimum liability equal to this difference is established ientteniStéFinancial Position.
The ABO is the present value of the actuarially determined company obligation for pension payments assuming no furtheesaksyor the
employees. The offset to the minimum liability is a charge to equity, net of tax. In addition, any prepaid pension assstoh@x@cognized prior service
cost must be reversed through a net-of-tax charge to equity. The charge to equity is included in the Accumulated gaas)amat @éfecting retained
earnings section of the Stockholders' equity in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.
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DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PENSION PLANS

The company records pension expense for defined contribution plans when the employee renders service to thesamtipiyngpexiding with
the cash contributions to plans.

Defined Benefit and Defined Contribution Plans

The company and its subsidiaries have defined benefit and defined contribution pension plans that cover substmilalyemployees, and
supplemental retirement plans that cover certain executives.

U.S. PLANS

IBM Personal Pension Plan

IBM provides U.S. regular, full-time and part-time employees with nhoncontributory defined benefit pension beniitt Piesonal Pension Plan,
"PPP"). The PPP comprises a tax qualified plan and a non-qualified plan. The qualified plan is funded by company coturésuticexsocable trust fund,
which is held for the sole benefit of participants.

Effective January 1, 2001, the company increased pension benefits to certain recipients who retired before 3&7udiyelintreases ranged from
2.5 percent to 25 percent, and were based on the year of retirement and the pension benefit then being received. Thistireputteehire an additional
cost of $100 million in 2001 as compared to 2000.

The number of individuals receiving benefits from the PPP at December 31, 2002 and 2001, was 136,365 and 134tj0&ly, iBspere-tax net
periodic pension income for the qualified plan for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, was $(917) miipmifithGtd
$(971) million, respectively. The pre-tax net periodic pension cost for the non-qualified plan was $106 million, $118a®#Banillion for the years
ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The costs of the non-qualified plan are reflected in Cost of dtheneféfipians on page 97.

The funded status reconciliation for the qualified plan is on page 98. The benefit obligation of the non-quakfiasl $84® million and $847 million
at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, and the amounts included in Retirement and nonpension postretirementdienefitrothleg Consolidated
Statement of Financial Position at December 31, 2002 and 2001, were liabilities of $798 million and $738 million, respectively.

U.S. regular, full-time and part-time employees are eligible to participate in the IBM Savings Plan, which isléi¢aixdgdfimed contribution plan
under section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. The company matches 50 percent of the employee's contribution tup fetieriirsf the
employee's compensation. All contributions, including the company match, are made in cash, in accordance with the gadéspasts elections.
There are no minimum amounts that must be invested in company stock, and there are no restrictions on transferring afrtbentsrmpany's stock to
another investment choice. The total cost of all of the company's U.S. defined contribution plans was $315 million, $3&8arfi#84 million for the
years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

U.S. Supplemental Executive Retention Plan

The company also has a non-qualified U.S. Supplemental Executive Retention Plan (SERP). The SERP, which is onfdedetkfired benefit
pension benefits in addition to the PPP to eligible executives based on average earnings, years of service and age. &ffetitemdnly 1, 1999, the
company adopted the SERP (which replaced the previous Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan). Some participants &RFevgliatibe
eligible for benefits under that plan, but will not be eligible for the new plan. The total cost of this plan for the yeshBemednber 31, 2002, 2001 and
2000, was $18 million, $23 million and $24 million, respectively. These amounts are reflected in Cost of other defingibinsnaiippage 97. At
December 31, 2002 and 2001, the benefit obligation was $130 million and $166 million, respectively, and the amounts iReltidgdant and
nonpension postretirement benefit obligations in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position at December 31, 200%vearel |2&lities of
$165 million and $151 million, respectively.

NON-U.S. PLANS

Most subsidiaries and branches outside the United States have defined benefit and/or defined contribution ratisethant@ver substantially all
regular employees, under which the company deposits funds under various fiduciary-type arrangements, purchases angudigs aordeacts or
provides reserves. Benefits under the defined benefit plans are typically based either on years of service and the empleysat®n, generally during a
fixed number of years immediately before retirement, or on annual credits. The range of assumptions that are used fostlefioedbenefit plans
reflect the different economic environments within various countries. The total non-U.S. retirement plan income of tHesehglamsmrs ended
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, was $46 million, $209 million and $198 million, respectively.
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(INCOME)/COST OF PENSION PLANS

R U.S. PLANS NON-U.S. PLANS
(dollars in millions)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31: 2002 2001* 2000* 2002 2001 2000
Service cost $ 650 $ 647 % 586 $ 505 $ 429 $ 445
Interest cost 2,591 2,560 2,485 1,270 1,214 1,234
Expected return on plan assets (4,121) (4,202) (3,902) (2,132) (2,062) (2,042)
Amortization of transition assets (144) (143) (144) (12) (10) (10)
Amortization of prior service cost 61 52 4 28 28 24
Recognized actuarial losses/(gains) — — — 33 (12) 4
Divestitures/settlement losses/(gains) 46 — — 26 (12) (25)
Net periodic pension income—U.S. Plan and material non-U.S. Plans (917)** (1,086 )** (971)* (282) (425) (370)
Cost of other defined benefit plans 124 141 147 58 54 23
Total net periodic pension income for all defined benefit plans (793) (945) (824) (224) (371) (347)
Cost of defined contribution plans 315 313 294 178 162 149
Total retirement plan income recognized in the Consolidated Statement of
Earnings $ (478) $ (632) $ (530) $ (46) $ (209) $ (198)

* Reclassified to conform with 2002 presentation.

**  Represents the qualified portion of the PPP.

See beginning of note W, "Retirement—Related Benefits," on page 95 for the company's total retirement-relatéithdemejitsost.
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The changes in the benefit obligations and plan assets of the qualified portion of the PPP and the significamtefimedJt@nefit plans for 2002 and
2001 were as follows:

PPP-QUALIFIED

PORTION NON-U.S. PLANS
(dollars in millions) 2002 2001* 2002 2001*
Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 37,762 % 36620% 21,801 $ 21,150
Service cost 650 647 505 429
Interest cost 2,591 2,560 1,270 1,214
Plan participants' contributions — — 34 27
Acquisitions/divestitures, net 32 (29) 246 22
Amendments 18 99 (280) 8
Actuarial losses 47 460 80 1,101
Benefits paid from trust (2,743) (2,595) (866) (748)
Direct benefit payments — — (221) (198)
Foreign exchange impact — — 3,104 (1,184)
Plan curtailments/settlements/termination benefits — — 26 (20)
Benefit obligation at end of year 38,357 37,762 25,699 21,801
Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 39,565 44,594 21,531 24,833
Actual return on plan assets (3,801) (2,405) (3,135) (1,559)
Employer contribution 3,963 — 225 417
Acquisitions/divestitures, net — (29) 191 —
Plan participants' contributions — — 34 27
Benefits paid from trust (2,743) (2,595) (866) (748)
Foreign exchange impact — — 2,657 (1,376)
Settlements — — — (63)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year** 36,984 39,565 20,637 21,531
Fair value of plan assets in excess of benefit obligation (1,373) 1,803 (5,062) (270)
Unrecognized net actuarial losses 12,187 4,218 8,991 2,871
Unrecognized prior service costs 584 641 (187) 140
Unrecognized net transition asset (216) (360) (36) (42)

Net prepaid pension asset recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Positior$ 11,182 $ 6,302 $ 3,706 $ 2,699

Amounts recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position captions include:

Prepaid pension assets $ 11,182 $ 6,302 $ 4,397 $ 4,576
Intangible asset — — 54 56
Total prepaid pension assets 11,182 6,302 4,451 4,632
Retirement and nonpension postretirement benefit obligation — — (5,865) (2,669)
Accumulated gains and (losses) not affecting retained earnings — — 3,277 462
Deferred tax assets (investments and sundry assets) — — 1,843 274
Net amount recognized $ 11,182 % 6,302 $ 3,706 $ 2,699
Accumulated benefit obligation $ 36738 % 35134 % 24186 $ 20,202

* Reclassified to conform with 2002 presentation.

**  The amount of IBM stock represented 5 percent and 1 percent of the total plan assets for the U.S. Plan at DecembearB202@02apectively.

Differences between the aggregate balance sheet amounts listed above (material pension plans) and on page a60demsierigbostretirement
plan) and the totals listed in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and Consolidated Statement of Stocklityldeist&tpthe non-material
plans. The increase in the company's Prepaid pension asset balance from 2001 to 2002 was primarily attributable to iHio$3@®pany contribution
to the PPP in the fourth quarter of 2002. The increase in the company's Retirement and nonpension postretirement biefitazbpganarily
attributable to the required accounting for the unfunded status of the non-U.S. pension plans as discussed on page 99.

Assumptions used to determine costs and benefit obligations for principal pension plans follow:

WEIGHTED-AVERAGE U.S. PLAN NON-U.S. PLANS
ASSUMPTIONS AS OF DECEMBER 31: 2002 2001 2000 2002 2000 2001
Discount rate 6.75% 70% 7.25% 4.2565% 45-7.1% 457.1%
Expected long-term return on plan assets 9.5%* 10.0% 10.0% 5.0-9.25% 5.0-10.0% 5.0-11.0%
Rate of compensation increase 4.0% 6.0% 6.0% 2.2-50% 2.0-6.1% 2.6-6.1%

* The company lowered its expected long-term return on plan assets assumption for 2003 to 8 percent.
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Changes in the discount rate assumptions and rate of compensation increase assumptions since 2000 have natl rapacimatetie company's
Consolidated Financial Statements. The changes in the expected long-term return on plan assets assumption in the U.S. éomd2082-tkduced the
2002 income from retirement-related plans by approximately $375 million as compared to 2001.

FUNDED STATUS FOR DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS

It is the company's practice to fund amounts for pensions sufficient to meet the minimum requirements set fictibla eppiloyee benefits laws
and local tax laws. From time to time, the company contributes additional amounts as it deems appropriate. The assetsisfhesaclude corporate
equities, government securities, corporate debt securities and real estate. In the fourth quarter of 2002, the compiynyulgltumtaed the qualified
portion of the PPP, as measured by its ABO, through a total contribution of $3,963 million. The contribution comprisedil@r0@2cash and
$1,871 million, or 24,037,354, shares, of IBM stock.

In contrast, the company's plan assets were less than the ABO in certain non-U.S. countries, and the compangrithdtedtieds up to the ABO
level. As a result and consistent with the accounting rules for these "unfunded" positions as described on page 58, thecoydgzhay additional
minimum liability of $2,676 million and a reduction to stockholders' equity of $2,765 million as of December 31, 2002.0tmsractransaction does not
impact 2003 retirement-related plans income.

The company's Benefit Obligation (BO) for its significant plans is disclosed at the top of page 98. BO is cahnillalgdsiABO except for the fact
that BO includes an estimate for future salary increases. SFAS No. 132, "Employers' Disclosures about Pensions and (Déme ftdBaecfits,"
requires that companies disclose the aggregate BO and plan assets of all plans in which the BO exceeds plan assetoSirgilarraiguired for all
plans in which the ABO exceeds plan assets. The aggregate BO and plan assets are also disclosed for plans in whichtthexglesdatsee BO. The
following table excludes the U.S. plans due to the fact that these plans' BO and plan assets, if any, appear eithetivetba page 96 or the table on
page 98.

2002 2001*
BENEFIT PLAN BENEFIT PLAN
(dollars in millions) OBLIGATION ASSETS OBLIGATION ASSETS
Plans with BO in excess of plan assets $ 20,212 $ 13,132 $ 14757  $ 10,929
Plans with ABO in excess of plan assets $ 15978 $ 10,086 $ 5305 $ 2,636
Plans with assets in excess of BO $ 5487 $ 7,505 $ 7,044 $ 10,602

* Reclassified to conform with 2002 presentation.

Nonpension Postretirement Benefits

The total cost of the company's nonpension postretirement benefits for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2Q0tcaa$2580nillion,
$404 million and $401 million, respectively. The company has a defined benefit postretirement plan that provides mediaad tfeniasurance for U.S.
retirees and eligible dependents. The total cost of this plan for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, liias $324 million and
$374 million, respectively. The changes in the benefit obligation and plan assets for this plan are presented on pagavEQQulifte 1999, the company
established a "Future Health Account" (FHA) for employees who were more than five years away from retirement eligibilipeeSmpio were within
five years of retirement eligibility are covered under the company's prior retiree health benefits arrangements. Unlklerithartthe preexisting plan,
there is a maximum cost to the company for retiree health benefits. For employees who retired before January 1, 1998uthdienarie effective in
2001. For all other employees, the maximum is effective upon retirement.

Certain of the company's non-U.S. subsidiaries have similar plans for retirees. However, most of the retiree tingite $tates are covered by
government-sponsored and administered programs. The total cost of these plans for the years ended December 31, 200)®004sab2O2million,
$28 million and $27 million, respectively. At December 31, 2002 and 2001, Other liabilities in the Consolidated Statememtiaf Fosition include
non-U.S. postretirement benefit liabilities of $211 million and $200 million, respectively.

The net periodic postretirement benefit cost for the U.S. plan for the years ended December 31 include the fallpariegtso

(dollars in millions) 2002 2001 2000
Service cost $ 49 $ 65 $ 50
Interest cost 421 437 449
Expected return on plan assets — — 2)
Amortization of prior service costs (247) (148) (247)
Recognized actuarial losses 30 22 24
Divestiture (29) — —
Net periodic post-retirement benefit cost $ 324 $ 376 $ 374
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The changes in the benefit obligation and plan assets of the U.S. plan for 2002 and 2001 are as follows:

(dollars in millions) 2002 2001
Change in benefit obligation:

Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 6,148 $ 6,443
Service cost 49 65
Interest cost 421 437
Actuarial gains (170) (283)
Participant contributions — 71
Benefits paid from trust — (68)
Direct benefit payments (566) (617)
Benefit obligation at end of year 5,882 6,148

Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at

beginning of year 8 4
Actual return on plan assets 2 i
Participant contributions 119 71
Benefits paid (119) (68)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year 10 8

Benefit obligation in excess

of plan assets (5,872) (6,140)
Unrecognized net actuarial losses 595 781

Unrecognized prior service costs (493) (653)
Accrued postretirement benefit liability recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position $ (5,770) $ (6,012)

The plan assets primarily comprise short-term fixed-income investments.

The benefit obligation was determined by applying the terms of medical, dental and life insurance plans, incéffiots thieestablished maximums
on covered costs, together with relevant actuarial assumptions. These actuarial assumptions include a projected heattndarateas 10 percent. The
projected health care cost trend rate assumption is projected to be 10 percent in 2003, and is assumed to decreasd §raduzdiyttby 2008 and
remain constant thereafter.

WEIGHTED-AVERAGE
ASSUMPTIONS FOR NONPENSION
POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

AS OF DECEMBER 31: 2002 2001 2000
Discount rate 7.00% 7.00% 7.25%
Expected return on plan assets 5.0% 5.0% 5.0%

The company evaluates its actuarial assumptions on an annual basis and considers changes in these long-teed fgomnbaeet conditions and
the requirements of SFAS No. 106, "Employers' Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions." The discamgesatéctchot have a
material effect on net postretirement benefit cost for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000.

The health care cost trend rate has an insignificant effect on plan costs and obligations. A one-percentageguoirthetessumed health care cost
trend rate would have the following effects as of December 31, 2002:

ONE-PERCENTAGE- ONE-PERCENTAGE-
(dollars in millions) POINT INCREASE POINT DECREASE
Effect on total service and interest cost $ 5 $ 4)
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation $ 32 3% (38)

X Segment Information

IBM uses advanced IT to provide customer solutions. The company operates primarily in a single industry usiregsesetsltisat create value by
offering a variety of solutions that include, either singularly or in some combination, technologies, systems, produess sedtwire and financing.

Organizationally, the company's major operations comprise a Global Services segment; three hardware product segemes(Sre8y, Personal
Systems Group and Technology Group; a Software segment; a Global Financing segment; and an Enterprise Investments segmemtsTare
determined based on several factors, including customer base, homogeneity of products, technology and delivery channels.

Information about each segment's business and the products and services that generate each segment's revanubes'estegtion of
Business" sections of the Management Discussion on pages 44 through 50 and page 60.

In the first quarter of 2001, the company reorganized the Personal Systems segment and renamed it the Perstmg/SysiePmsrsegment. In
accordance with the organizational change, the company transferred the Printing Systems Division from the Technology thegherabtal and
Printing Systems segment. At the same time, the xSeries servers were transferred to the Enterprise Systems segmensdrahSkst@as segment.

In 2003, the company renamed all of its hardware segments without changing the organization of these segmenjziseh€ySitens segment was
renamed the Systems Group segment, the Personal and Printing Systems segment was renamed the Personal Systems Grotipes€gonerat agyl
segment was renamed the Technology Group segment.

Due to the sale of the HDD business as described in note C, "Acquisitions/Divestitures," on pages 78 to 80 artdrittntistéBasis of
Presentation” discussed in note A, "Significant Accounting Policies," on page 70, the income statement and cash flovindtateatmt for the
Technology Group segment has been reclassified to exclude or to separate the results of the discontinued HDD business.

Segment revenue and pre-tax income include transactions between the segments that are intended to reflect #mtemseteurice. Specifically,
semiconductors are
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sourced internally from the Technology Group segment for use in the manufacture of the Systems Group segment and PensdBed§ysegment
products. In addition, hardware and software that are used by the Global Services segment in outsourcing engagementoareadastgrnally from
the Systems Group, Personal Systems Group and Software segments. For the internal use of IT services, the Global Setviees\sgmest, as well
as a reasonable fee, reflecting the arm's-length value of providing the services. The Global Services segment entetsngth &rasss at prices
equivalent to market rates with the Global Financing segment to facilitate the acquisition of equipment used in servioenéndageerally, all internal
transaction prices are reviewed and reset annually if appropriate.

The company uses shared-resources concepts to realize economies of scale and efficient use of resources. Ehalsleaarnositt of expense is
shared by all of the company's segments. This expense represents sales coverage, marketing and support functions stioly,asréasonn
Procurement, Legal, Human Resources, and Billing and Collections. Where practical, shared expenses are allocated bassul@dnaeesof expense,
e.g., headcount. When a clear and measurable driver cannot be identified, shared expenses are allocated on a finatésat basistéimt with the
company's management system; e.g., image advertising is allocated based on the gross profit of the segments. The upallamtdamts arising
from certain acquisitions, indirect infrastructure reductions, certain IP income, miscellaneous tax items, HDD intemlantsdéntinuing operations
and the unallocated corporate expense pool are recorded in net income but are not allocated to the segments.

The following tables reflect the results of continuing operations of the segments consistent with the company'smbagagem These results are
not necessarily a depiction that is in conformity with GAAP; e.g., employee retirement plan costs are developed usingsstioggi@ns on a
country-by-country basis and allocated to the segments on headcount. Different amounts could result if actuarial assainaptieamsdghe to the segment
were used. Performance measurement is based on income before income taxes (pre-tax income). These results are usednageareily both in
evaluating the performance of, and in allocating resources to, each of the segments. The results for 2000 have beertaoeelissiftae organizational
changes and product transfers made in 2001.

MANAGEMENT SYSTEM SEGMENT VIEW

HARDWARE
(dollars in millions)
FOR THE YEAR PERSONAL
ENDED GLOBAL SYSTEMS SYSTEMS TECHNOLOGY GLOBAL ENTERPRISE TOTAL
DECEMBER 31: SERVICES GROUP GROUP GROUP SOFTWARE  FINANCING INVESTMENTS SEGMENTS
2002:
External revenue $ 36360 $ 12646 $ 11,049 $ 393 $ 13,074 $ 3,203 % 1,022 $ 81,289
Internal revenue 2,854 659 139 877 1,225 939 4 6,697
Total revenue $ 39214 $ 13305 $ 11,188 $ 4812 % 14299 $ 4142 $ 1,026 $ 87,986
Pre-tax income/(loss) $ 3657 $ 1561 $ 57 §$ (1,057) $ 3,556 $ 955 $ (293) $ 8,436
Revenue year-to-year
change 4.3% (7.9)% (7.2)% (27.1)% 2.7% (2.4)% (8.6)% (2.2)%
Pre-tax income
year-to-year change (29.1)% (14.7)% 137.3% (697.2)% 12.2% (16.4)% 7.6% (23.4)%
Pre-tax income margin 9.3% 11.7% 0.5% (22.0)% 24.9% 23.1% (28.6)% 9.6%
2001:
External revenue $ 34956 $ 13743 % 11982 $ 5149 $ 12,939 $ 3407 $ 1,118  $ 83,294
Internal revenue 2,647 710 73 1,451 981 836 4 6,702
Total revenue $ 37603 $ 14453 $ 12,055 $ 6,600 $ 13920 $ 4243  $ 1,122 $ 89,996
Pre-tax income/(loss)  $ 5161 $ 1830 $ (153) $ 177 $ 3168 $ 1,143  $ (317) $ 11,009
Revenue year-to-year
change 5.7% (2.6)% (20.5)% (8.0)% 3.7% (4.5)% (18.2)% (2.2)%
Pre-tax income
year-to-year change 14.3% (4.8)% (251.5)% (74.6)% 13.4% (2.8)% (6.7)% 0.9%
Pre-tax income margin 13.7% 12.7% (1.3)% 2.7% 22.8% 26.9% (28.3)% 12.2%
2000:
External revenue $ 33152 $ 14194 % 15098 $ 5184 % 12598 $ 3500 $ 1369 $ 85,095
Internal revenue 2,439 649 70 1,987 828 944 3 6,920
Total revenue $ 35591 $ 14843 3 15,168 $ 7171 $ 13426 $ 4444 % 1372 $ 92,015
Pre-tax income/(loss)  $ 4517 $ 1922 $ 101 $ 696 $ 2793 $ 1,176 $ (297) $ 10,908
Revenue year-to-year
change 2.2% 3.1% (3.0)% 8.9% 0.0% 9.6% (17.8)% 1.6%
Pre-tax income
year-to-year change 1.2% 21.3% 304.0% 205.3% (9.9)% 12.3% 57.4% 11.9%
Pre-tax income margin 12.7% 12.9% 0.7% 9.7% 20.8% 26.5% (21.6)% 11.9%
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RECONCILIATIONS TO IBM AS REPORTED

(dollars in millions) 2002 2001 2000
REVENUE:

Total reportable segments $ 87986 $ 8999% $ 92,015
Other revenue and adjustments (203) (227) 6)
Elimination of internal revenue (6,697) (6,702) (6,920)
Total IBM consolidated $ 81,186 $ 83067 $ 85,089
(dollars in millions) 2002 2001 2000
PRE-TAX INCOME:

Total reportable segments $ 8436 $ 11,009 $ 10,908
Elimination of internal transactions (164) 108 62
Unallocated corporate amounts (748) 333 441
Total IBM consolidated $ 7524 $ 11,450 $ 11411

Immaterial ltems

INVESTMENT IN EQUITY ALLIANCES AND EQUITY ALLIANCES GAINS/(LOSSES)

The investments in equity alliances and the resulting gains and (losses) from these investments that are attlieutablménts do not have a
material effect on the financial position or the financial results of the segments.

Segment Assets and Other ltems

The Global Services assets primarily are accounts receivable, maintenance inventory, and plant, property andnetudimyethbse associated with
the segment's outsourcing business. The assets of the Hardware segments primarily are inventory and plant, propertyrend ez @pftveare segment
assets mainly are plant, property and equipment, and investment in capitalized software. The assets of the Global Fmanteg gegnarily financing
receivables and fixed assets under operating leases.

To accomplish the efficient use of the company's space and equipment, it usually is necessary for several segrequitmto goperty and
equipment assets. Where assets are shared, landlord ownership of the assets is assigned to one segment and is rexdilosatestgment. This is
consistent with the company's management system and is reflected accordingly in the schedule on page 103. In thosenthses ber@recise
correlation between segment pre-tax income and segment assets.

Similarly, the depreciation amounts reported by each segment are based on the assigned landlord ownership aadonajstetttwith the amounts
that are included in the segments' pre-tax income. The amounts that are included in pre-tax income reflect occupanoncttadasdiord segment and
are not specifically identified by the management reporting system. Capital expenditures that are reported by each segeieniraseith the landlord
ownership basis of asset assignment.

The Global Financing segment amounts on page 103 for Interest income and Cost of Global Financing interest erpéresatefest income and
interest expense associated with the Global Financing business, including the intercompany financing activities discgesg@ as\pall as the income
from the investment in cash and marketable securities. The explanation of the difference between Cost of Global Finarenegtapense for segment
presentation versus presentation in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings is included on page 63 of the Management Discussion.
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MANAGEMENT SYSTEM SEGMENT VIEW
HARDWARE
PERSONAL
GLOBAL  SYSTEMS SYSTEMS TECHNOLOGY GLOBAL ENTERPRISE TOTAL
(dollars in millions) SERVICES  GROUP GROUP GROUP SOFTWARE FINANCING INVESTMENTS SEGMENTS
2002:
Assets $ 14,462 $ 3124 $ 1,776 $ 5771 $ 3,361 $ 35,242 $ 88 $ 63,824
Depreciation/amortization:
Continuing operations 1,213 335 116 1,167 809 2,413 8 6,061
Discontinued operations — — — 617 — — — 617
Capital
expenditures/investment in
software:
Continuing operations 1,294 307 96 1,365 687 2,561 9 6,319
Discontinued operations — — — 323 — — — 323
Interest income — — — — — 2,703 — 2,703
Interest expense — — — — — 825 — 825
2001:
Assets $ 10,340 $ 3,208 $ 1,904 $ 9,136 $ 3,356 $ 36,670 $ 106 $ 64,720
Depreciation/amortization:
Continuing operations 1,219 308 131 676 782 2,476 8 5,600
Discontinued operations — — — 429 — — — 429
Capital
expenditures/investment in
software:
Continuing operations 1,519 390 128 1,495 839 3,143 7 7,521
Discontinued operations — — — 360 — — — 360
Interest income — — — — — 2,941 — 2,941
Interest expense — — — — — 1,140 — 1,140
2000:
Assets $ 10,492 $ 3451 $ 2,448 $ 9,316 $ 2,488 $ 40,822 $ 246 $ 69,263
Depreciation/amortization:
Continuing operations 1,243 425 154 649 665 2,696 12 5,844
Discontinued operations — — — 411 — — — 411
Capital
expenditures/investment in
software:
Continuing operations 1,311 325 180 1,326 770 2,898 9 6,819
Discontinued operations — — — 418 — — — 418
Interest income — — — — — 3,051 — 3,051
Interest expense — — — — — 1,319 — 1,319
RECONCILIATIONS TO IBM AS REPORTED
(dollars in millions) 2002 2001* 2000*
Assets:
Total reportable segments $ 63824 $ 64720 $ 69,263
Elimination of internal transactions (5,061) (4,884) (5,300)
Unallocated amounts:
Cash and marketable securities 4,568 DRI 2,268
Notes and accounts receivable 3,553 2,810 3,145
Deferred tax assets 6,631 4,624 5,498
Plant, other property and equipment 3,239 3,260 3,798
Pension assets 15,996 11,398 8,872
Other 3,734 3,062 2,868
Total IBM consolidated $ 96,484 $ 90,303 $ 90,412

* Reclassified to conform with 2002 presentation.
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Revenue by Classes of Similar Products or Services

For the Personal Systems Group, Software and Global Financing segments, the segment data on page 101 repesesisoifieibetions from the
products that are contained in the segments and that are basically similar in nature. The following table provides exteerfalremilar classes of
products within the Technology Group, Systems Group, Global Services and Enterprise Investments segments. The TechnekEgyétsI@EM
hardware comprises revenue primarily from the sale of semiconductors and display devices. Technology services compmegatine Gamlp's existing
circuit design business for its OEM customers and the new component design services, strategic outsourcing of custoreens deslgrand technology
and manufacturing consulting services associated with the new Engineering and Technology Services Division. The Systemsi&risigterage
comprises revenue from the Enterprise Storage Server, other disk storage products and tape subsystems. Enterprisedfivesemenensie is
primarily from product life-cycle management products. The following table on the right is presented on a continuing dpasations

CONSOLIDATED

(dollars in millions) 2002 2001* 2000*
Technology Group:
OEM $ 3612 $ 4805 $ 4,900
Technology services 323 344 284
Systems Group:
Servers $ 10,047 $ 10,947 $ 11,497
Storage 2,581 2,755 2,539
Networking products 18 41 158
Global Services:
Services $ 31,290 $ 29,953 $ 28,036
Maintenance 5,070 5,003 5,116
Enterprise Investments:
Software $ 916 $ 913 % 1,077
Hardware 95 181 238
Others 11 24 54

* Reclassified to conform with 2002 presentation.

Major Customers
No single customer represents 10 percent or more of the company's total revenue.

Geographic Information

REVENUE* LONG-LIVED ASSETS**
(dollars in millions) 2002 2001 2000 2002 2001+ 2000+
United States $ 32,759 $ 34233 $ 35713 $ 27,889 $ 22,800 $ 21,449
Japan 10,939 11,512 12,122 2,814 4,034 4,319
Other countries 37,488 37,322 37,254 13,027 11,560 12,092
Total $ 8118 $ 83067 $ 85089 $ 43730 $ 38394 $ 37,860

* Revenues are attributed to countries based on location of customer and are for continuing operations.
** |Includes all non-current assets except non-current financial instruments and deferred tax assets.

+ Reclassified to conform with 2002 presentation.

Y Subsequent Events

On January 21, 2003, the company filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission a shelf registration to peribdicail{s20 billion in debt
securities, preferred and capital stock, depositary shares and warrants. The company may sell securities in one or enofieseganaith the size, price
and terms to be determined at the time of sale. The net proceeds from the sale of the securities will be used for geaterplcooges, which may
include debt repayment, investments in or extensions of credit to its subsidiaries, redemption of any preferred stockthmagpisgae, or financing of
possible acquisitions or business expansion. The net proceeds may be invested temporarily or applied to repay shoriéthegetrewsed for their
stated purpose.

Consistent with the company's strategy to concentrate borrowing at the IBM level, this shelf registration elimimegelsftin a shelf registration
associated with its U.S. financing subsidiary, IBM Credit Corporation (ICC). The ICC shelf will be terminated shortly effective date of the new
IBM shelf.

On February 21, 2003, the company purchased the outstanding stock of Rational Software Corp. (Rational) for dp@@Jirpidiien in cash.
Rational provides open, industry standard tools, best practices and services for developing business applications auftwaildipgpducts and systems.
The Rational acquisition provides the company with the ability to offer a complete software development environment fos clibowmpany intends
to merge Rational's business operations and employees into the IBM Software Group as a new division and brand. TheeestittssobbRational will
be included in the company's Consolidated Financial Statements as of February 21, 2003. The company has not completazhtbéthkboourchase
price related to the Rational acquisition as it is in the process of identifying and determining the fair value of algassgtsaad liabilities assumed.
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Five-Year Comparison of Selected Financial Data
(dollars in millions except per share amounts)
FOR THE YEAR: 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
Revenue $ 81186 $ 83,067 $ 85,089 $ 83334 $ 77,548
Income from continuing operations 5,334 8,146 7,874 7,359 5,469
(Loss)/income from discontinued operations (1,755) (423) 219 353 859
Net income 3,579 7,723 8,093 7,712 6,328
Earnings/(loss) per share of common stock:
Assuming dilution:
Continuing operations 3.07 4.59 4.32 3.93 2.84
Discontinued operations (1.01) (0.24) 0.12 0.19 0.45
Total 2.06 4.35 4.44 4.12 3.29
Basic:
Continuing operations 3.13 4.69 4.45 4.06 2.92
Discontinued operations (1.03) (0.24) 0.12 0.20 0.46
Total 2.10 4.45 4.58* 4.25* 3.38
Cash dividends paid on common stock 1,005 956 909 859 814
Per share of common stock 0.59 0.55 0.51 0.47 0.43
Investment in plant, rental machines and other property 5,022 5,660 5,616 5,959 6,520
Return on stockholders' equity 15.5% 35.3%** 40.0%** 39.1%** 32.7 %**
AT END OF YEAR:
Total assets $ 96484 $ 90,303* $ 90,412** $ 89,571** $  88,160*
Net investment in plant, rental machines and other property 14,440 16,504 16,714 17,590 19,631
Working capital 7,102 7,342 7,474 3,577 5,533
Total debt 26,017 27,151 28,576 28,354 29,413
Stockholders' equity 22,782 23,448** 20,550** 20,426** 19,383 **

* Does not total due to rounding.

**  Reclassified to conform with 2002 presentation.
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Selected Quarterly Data

(dollars in millions except per share amounts and stock prices) FIRST SECOND THIRD FOURTH FULL

2002: QUARTER QUARTER QUARTER YEAR QUARTER
Revenue $ 18,030 $ 19,651 $ 19,821 $ 23,684 $ 81,186
Gross profit 6,500 7,270 7,323 9,191 30,284
Income from continuing operations 1,284 445* 1,694 1,911* 5,334
Loss from discontinued operations (92) (389) (381) (893) (1,755)
Netincome 1,192 56 1,313 1,018 3,579

Earnings/(loss) per share of common stock:

Assuming dilution:

Continuing operations 0.73 0.25 0.99 1.11 3.07*
Discontinued operations (0.05) (0.22) (0.22) (0.52) (1.01)
Total 0.68 0.03 0.76+ 0.59 2.06
Basic:
Continuing operations 0.75 0.26 1.00 1.12 3.13
Discontinued operations (0.05) (0.23) (0.23) (0.53) (1.03)**
Total 0.69+ 0.03 0.78+ 0.60+ 2.10
Dividends per share of common stock 0.14 0.15 0.15 0.15 0.59
Stock prices:++
High $ 126.39 $ 104.00 $ 82.85 $ 89.46
Low 95.76 66.10 57.99 54.01
FIRST SECOND THIRD FOURTH FULL
2001: QUARTER QUARTER QUARTER YEAR QUARTER
Revenue $ 20,309 $ 20,834 $ 19,783 $ 22,141 $ 83,067
Gross profit 7,535 7,987 7,434 8,933 31,889
Income from continuing operations 1,777 2,091 1,713 2,565 8,146
Loss from discontinued operations (27) (46) (118) (232) (423)
Net income 1,750 2,045 1,595 2,333 7,723

Earnings/(loss) per share of common stock:

Assuming dilution:

Continuing operations 1.00 117 0.97 1.46 4.59**
Discontinued operations (0.02) (0.03) (0.07) (0.13) (0.24)*
Total 0.98 1.15+ 0.90 1.33 4.35%*
Basic:
Continuing operations 1.02 1.20 0.99 1.49 4.69**
Discontinued operations (0.02) (0.03) (0.07) (0.14) (0.24)*
Total 1.00 1.17 0.92 1.35 4.45*
Dividends per share of common stock 0.13 0.14 0.14 0.14 0.55
Stock prices:++
High $ 118.64 $ 119.90 $ 11540 $ 124.70
Low 83.75 90.05 87.49 91.34

*%

++

The company executed special actions in the second and fourth quarter of 2002 recording charges of $1,727 million alon$322pmdtively.
See note S, "2002 Actions" on pages 90 through 92 for additional information regarding these actions.

Earnings Per Share (EPS) in each quarter is computed using the weighted-average number of shares outstanding dutergithée GRS for the
full year is computed using the weighted-average number of shares outstanding during the year. Thus, the sum of thesfdtiP §udots not equal
the full-year EPS.

Does not total due to rounding.

The stock prices reflect the high and low prices for IBM's common stock on the New York Stock Exchange composite tépst foralyears.
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Stockholder Information

IBM Stockholder Services

Stockholders with questions about their accounts should contact:

EquiServe Trust Company, N.A.

P.O. Box 43072

Providence, Rhode Island 02940-3072
(888) IBM-6700

Investors residing outside the United States, Canada and Puerto Rico should call (781) 575-2727.
Stockholders can also reach EquiServe Trust Company, N.A. via e-mail at: ibm@equiserve.com

Hearing-impaired stockholders with access to a telecommunications device (TDD) can communicate directly with EmsS€ompany, N.A., by
calling (800) 490-1493. Stockholders residing outside the United States, Canada and Puerto Rico should call (781) 575-2694.

IBM on the Internet
Topics featured in this Annual Report can be found via the IBM home page on the Internet (www.ibm.com). Finatsciaeresin IBM products,

services and other activities can also be found via that address. Stockholders of record can receive online account amm@natiars to frequently
asked questions regarding stockholder accounts via the internet (www.ibm.com/investor).

Stockholders of record can also consent to receive future IBM Annual Reports and Proxy Statements online thrteugét thiethis site.

IBM files reports with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), including annual reports on Form 10-K, gpartsrnrForm 10-Q,
current reports on Form 8-K and any other filings required by the SEC.

IBM's website (www.ibm.com) contains a significant amount of information about IBM, including our annual report a0Rgrquarterly reports

on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and all amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably practicable eftél ssehettadnically filed
with or furnished to the SEC (http://www.ibm.com/investor/). These materials are available free of charge on or througtiteur web

The public may read and copy any materials we file with the SEC at the SEC's Public Reference Room at 450 Mifil, Sifasijngton, DC20549.
The public may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. ahea®tCamIinternet
site (http://www.sec.gov) that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding isdeelethanically with the

SEC.

IBM Investor Services Program

The Investor Services Program brochure outlines a number of services provided for IBM stockholders and potentestt®$/ imcluding the
reinvestment of dividends, direct purchase and the deposit of IBM stock certificates for safekeeping. Call (888) 421-8869 €ditlae brochure.
Investors residing outside the United States, Canada and Puerto Rico should call (781) 575-2727.

Investors with other requests may write to:

IBM Corporation
Stockholder Relations
New Orchard Road
Armonk, New York 10504

IBM Stock

IBM common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange and on other exchanges in the United States and arddnd the wo

Annual Meeting

The IBM Annual Meeting of Stockholders will be held on Tuesday, April 29, 2003, at 10 a.m. at the Kansas City GdDeetaip201 West 14th
Street, Kansas City, Missouri.

Stockholder Communications
Stockholders in the United States and Canada can get quarterly financial results, listen to a summary of the Anguahiddes and hear voting

results from the meeting by calling (800) IBM-7800. Callers can also request printed copies of the information via m&itamkfaolders residing outside
the United States, Canada and Puerto Rico should call (402) 573-9861.

Literature for IBM Stockholders

The following literature on IBM is available without charge from:

EquiServe Trust Company, N.A.

P.O. Box 43072

Providence, Rhode Island 02940-3072
(888) IBM-6700

Investors residing outside the United States, Canada and Puerto Rico should call (781) 575-2727.
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The Form 10-K Annual Report and Form 10-Q Quarterly Reports to the SEC provide additional information on IBM's Bosihi®ds report is
released in March; 10-Q reports are released in May, August and November.

An audio cassette recording of the 2002 Annual Report will be available for sight-impaired stockholders in June.
"A Blueprint, IBM Corporate Citizenship" reports on IBM's community relations programs around the world and IBMsmesrhtaieducation.
"IBM Environment and Well-Being: Progress Report" reports on IBM's health and safety, environmental and energy programs

"Valuing Diversity: An Ongoing Commitment" communicates to the company's entire community of employees, custokhetdesspwendors,
suppliers, business partners and employment applicants the importance IBM places on the diversity of the company's vebniptietphate.

General Information

For answers to general questions about IBM from within the continental United States, call (800) IBM-4YOU. Frortheutsided States, call
(404) 238-1234.

Corporate Offices

International Business Machines Corporation
New Orchard Road

Armonk, New York 10504

(914) 499-1900

©' The IBM Annual Report is printed on recycled paper and is recyclable.

DB2, e-business on demand, eServer, IBM, iSeries, Selectric, System/360, ThinkVantage, WebSphere, xSeriesaardrafernewks of
International Business Machines Corporation or its wholly owned subsidiaries. Intel is a trademark of Intel Corporatisraltiaghemark of Linus
Torvalds. Lotus is a trademark of Lotus Development Corporation. Tivoli is a trademark of Tivoli Systems, Inc. Microsadeinark of Microsoft
Corporation. UNIX is a registered trademark of The Open Group in the United States and other countries. Other compaapdmeduct names may

be trademarks or service marks of others.

Printed in U.S. G507-0501-08
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Board of Directors and Senior Executive Officers

Cathleen Black
President
Hearst Magazines

Kenneth |. Chenault
Chairman and

Chief Executive Officer
American Express Company

Juergen Dormann*
Chairman of the Board
President and

Chief Executive Officer
ABB Ltd.

Nannerl O. Keohane
President
Duke University

Charles F. Knight
Chairman of the Board
Emerson Electric Company

Nicholas M. Donofrio
Senior Vice President
Technology and
Manufacturing

Douglas T. Elix
Senior Vice President
and Group Executive
Global Services

Jesse J. Greene, Jr.
Vice President and
Treasurer

J. Bruce Harreld
Senior Vice President
Strategy

Paul M. Horn
Senior Vice President
Research

Jon C. lwata
Senior Vice President
Communications

John R. Joyce
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

Board of Directors

Minoru Makihara*
Chairman of the Board
Mitsubishi Corporation

Lucio A. Noto
Managing Partner
Midstream Partners LLC

Samuel J. Palmisano
Chairman of the Board
President and

Chief Executive Officer
IBM

John B. Slaughter

President and

Chief Executive Officer
National Action Council for
Minorities in Engineering, Inc.

Senior Executive Officers

John E. Kelly Il
Senior Vice President
and Group Executive
Technology Group

Abby F. Kohnstamm
Senior Vice President
Marketing

J. Michael Lawrie

Senior Vice President
and Group Executive
Sales and Distribution

Edward M. Lineen
Senior Vice President
and General Counsel

Mark Loughridge
Senior Vice President
and General Manager
Global Financing

J. Randall MacDonald
Senior Vice President
Human Resources

Steven A. Mills
Senior Vice President
and Group Executive
Software Group

Robert W. Moffat, Jr.
Senior Vice President
Integrated Supply Chain

Sidney Taurel
Chairman of the Board
President and

Chief Executive Officer
Eli Lilly and Company

Alex Trotman
Chairman of the Board
Imperial Chemical
Industries PLC

Charles M. Vest
President
Massachusetts Institute
of Technology

* Retiring effective April 29, 2003

Daniel E. O'Donnell

Vice President

Assistant General Counsel
and Secretary

Samuel J. Palmisano
Chairman of the Board
President and

Chief Executive Officer

Linda S. Sanford
Senior Vice President
Enterprise On Demand
Transformation and
Information Technology

Stephen M. Ward, Jr.
Senior Vice President
and General Manager
Personal Systems Group

Robert F. Woods
Vice President and
Controller

William M. Zeitler
Senior Vice President
and Group Executive
Systems Group
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EXHIBIT 21
PARENTS AND SUBSIDIARIES
As of December 31, 2002
State or country Percentage of
of incorporation voting securities owned
or organization by its immediate parent
Registrant:
International Business Machines Corporation New York
Subsidiaries:
IBM Credit Corporation Delaware 100
Lotus Development Corporation Delaware 100
Tivoli Systems Inc. Delaware 100
IBM World Trade Corporation Delaware 100
IBM Central and Eastern Europe/ Middle
East/Africa, Inc Delaware 100
IBM Plans Management Corporation New York 88(A)
IBM World Trade Asia Corporation Delaware 100
IBM World Trade Holding LLC Delaware 100
WTC Insurance Corporation, Ltd. Bermuda 100
IBM Argentina, S.A. Argentina 100(A)
IBM Australia Ltd. Australia 100
IBM Bahamas Ltd. Bahamas 100
IBM de Bolivia, S.A. Bolivia 100
IBM Americas Holding Limited Bermuda 100
IBM Brasil Industria, Maquinas e Servicos
Ltda Brazil 100(A)
Donelly Financial Inc. British V.I. 100
IBM Foreign Sales Corporation Barbados 100
Fitzal Capital Inc. British V.I. 100
IBM Canada Credit Services Company Canada 100
IBM Canada Limited—IBM Canada Limitee =~ Canada 100
IBM China Company Limited China 100
IBM China/Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong 100
IBM de Chile, S.A.C. Chile 100(A)
IBM de Colombia, S.A. Colombia 90(A)
IBM Middle East FZE United Arab Emirates 100
IBM Middle East FZ-LLC United Arab Emirates 100
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IBM del Ecuador, S.A. Ecuador 100
IBM Global Services India Pvt. Ltd. India 90(A/B)
IBM India Ltd. India 100
YK IBM AP Holdings Japan 100
IBM Japan, Ltd. Japan 100
IBM Asia Pacific Service Corporation Japan 100
IBM Business Consulting Services KK Japan 100
Display Technologies, Inc. Japan 100
IBM Korea, Inc. Korea (South) 100
PT IBM Indonesia Indonesia 99
IBM Malaysia Sdn. Bhd Malaysia 100
Financiera de Tecnologia e Informatica S.A.
de C.V., Sociedad Financiera del Objecto
Limitado Filial Mexico 99(A)
Grupo IBM Mexico, S.A. de C.V. Mexico 100(B)
IBM de Mexico, S.A. Mexico 100(B)
IBM New Zealand Ltd. New Zealand 100
IBM del Peru, S.A. Peru 100
IBM Philippines, Incorporated Philippines 100(B)
IBM Romania Srl Romania 100
IBM Taiwan Corporation Taiwan 100(A)
IBM Thailand Company Ltd. Thailand 100(B)
IBM del Uruguay, S.A. Uruguay 100
IBM de Venezuela, S.A. Venezuela 100
IBM Vietham Company Viethnam 100
International Business Machines of Belgium
S.A Belgium 100(A)
IBM Bulgaria Ltd. Bulgaria 100
IBM Croatia Ltd./ IBM Hrvatska d.o.o. Croatia 100
IBM Global Services Delivery Center Czech
Republic s.r.o. Czech Republic 100
IBM Business Consulting Services s.r.o. Czech Republic 100
IBM Eesti Osauhing (IBM Estonia Ou) Estonia 100
Compagnie IBM France, S.A. France 100(B)
IBM Eurocoordination France 96 (A)
Tunisian Business Machines (TBM) Tunisia 83(B)
IBM Europe Middle East Africa France 100(A)
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IBM International Treasury Services Company Ireland —(C)
IBM lItalia S.p.A. Italy 100
IBM Hellas Information Handling Systems
S.A. Greece 100(A)
IBM lIsrael Ltd. Israel 100(A)
Companhia IBM Portuguesa, S.A. Portugal 100
IBM (International Business Machines) Turk
Ltd. Sirketi Turkey 98(A)
IBM South Africa (Pty) Ltd. South Africa 100
IBM East Africa Limited Kenya 67(A)
Sabiedriba ar irobezotu atbildibu IBM Latvija Latvia 100
IBM Lietuva Lithuania 100
IBM Business Consulting Services Limited Lebanon 98(A)
IBM BTO Global Holdings B.V. Netherlands 100
IBM Business Consulting Services Eastern
Europe B.V. Netherlands 100
IBM Far East Holdings B.V. Netherlands 100
International Information Products (Shenzhen)
Co., Ltd. China 80
IBM Holdings B.V. Netherlands 100
IBM Global Holdings B.V Netherlands 65(A)
IBM Central Holdings GmbH Germany 100
IBM Ceskra Republika spol.s.r.o. Czech Republic 100
IBM Deutschland GmbH Germany 100
IBM Oesterreich Internationale
Bueromaschinen Gesellschaft m.b.H. Austria 100
IBM (Schweiz)—IBM (Suisse)—IBM
(Swizzera)—IBM (Switzerland) Suitzerland 100
IBM East Europe/Asia Ltd. Russia 100
IBM Polska Sp. z.0.0. Poland 100
International Business Machines
Corporation Magysrorssyagi Kft. Hungary 100(A)
IBM Eastern Europe Holdings B.V. Netherlands 100(A)
IBM Global Services Kift. Hungary 100
IBM International Holdings B.V. Netherlands 100
IBM Ireland Limited Ireland 100
IBM Singapore Pte. Ltd. Singapore 100
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IBM Storage Products Kft.
IBM North Region Holdings

IBM Nederland N.V.

IBM United Kingdom Holdings Limited

IBM United Kingdom Limited

Hungary

United Kingdom
Netherlands
United Kingdom

United Kingdom

IBM International Centre for Asset Management

N.V.
International Business Machines A/S
IBM West Africa Limited
IBM Slovensko spol.s.r.o.
IBM Slovenija d.o.o.
International Business Machines, S.A.
IBM Nordic Aktiebolag
IBM Danmark A/S
Oy International Business Machines AB
IBM Svenska Aktiebolag
IBM Business Consulting Services Limited

IBM (International Business Machines) Is
Danismanlik Hizmetleri Limited

Netherlands
Norway
Nigeria
Slovak Republic
Slovenia
Spain
Sweden
Denmark
Finland
Sweden

United Kingdom

Turkey

(A) Remaining percentage owned by other wholly-owned IBM company(s).

(B) Minor percentage held by other IBM shareholders, subject to repurchase option.

100
100(B)
100
100

100

100
60(A)
100
100
100
100(A)
100
100
100
100

98(B)

100

(C) IBM Germany owns 33.7%, IBM France owns 13.5%, IBM Finland owns 10.1%, IBM Denmark owns 18.0% and IBM
Switzerland owns 24.7% of IBM International Treasury Services Company.
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EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (Nos. 2-77235, 33-29022,
33-33458, 33-34406, 33-53777, 33-60225, 33-60227, 33-60237, 33-60815, 33-01411, 33-52931, 33-33590, 333-76914,
333-87708, 333-09055, 333-23315, 333-31305, 333-41813, 333-44981, 333-48435, 333-81157, 333-87751, 333-87859,
333-87925, 333-30424, 333-33692, 333-36510, 333-102872, 333-102870 and 333-103471) and the Registration Statements
on Form S-3 (Nos. 33-49475(1), 33-31732, 33-50537, 33-65119, 33-65119(1), 333-03763, 333-21073, 333-27669,
333-40669, 333-70521, 333-32690, 33-102603, 333-37034 and 333-101034) of International Business Machines Corporation
of our report dated January 16, 2003, except for note Y, as to which the date is February 21, 2003, appearing on page 42 of
the 2002 Annual Report to Stockholders which is incorporated in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We also consent to the
incorporation by reference of our report dated January 16, 2003, except for note Y, as to which the date is February 21, 2003,
on the Financial Statement Schedule, which appears on page 13 of this Form 10-K.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
New York, New York
March 10, 2003
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Exhibit 23.2

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements (Form S-8 Nos. 2-77235, 33-29022, 33-33458,
33-34406, 33-53777, 33-60225, 33-60227, 33-60237, 33-60815, 33-01411, 33-52931, 33-33590, 333-76914, 333-87708,
333-09055, 333-23315, 333-31305, 333-41813, 333-44981, 333-48435, 333-81157, 333-87751, 333-87859, 333-87925,
333-30424, 333-33692, 333-36510, 333-102872, 333-102870 and 333-103471) and the Registration Statements (Form S-3
Nos. 33-49475(1), 33-31732, 33-50537, 33-65119, 33-65119(1), 333-03763, 333-21073, 333-27669, 333-40669, 333-70521,
333-32690, 33-102603, 333-37034 and 333-101034) of International Business Machines Corporation and in the related
Prospectuses of our report dated January 16, 2003, included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended
December 31, 2002, with respect to the statement of assets and liabilities and statement of revenues and expenses of the
Business Consulting Services Reporting Unit of International Business Machines Corporation (not included therein).

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

New York, New York
March 10, 2003
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Exhibit 24.1

POWER OF ATTORNEY OF SAMUEL J. PALMISANO

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned Chairman of the Board, President and Chief
Executive Officer of International Business Machines Corporation, a New York corporation, which will file with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, Washington, D.C., under the provisions of the Securities Law, an Annual Report for
2002 on Form 10-K, hereby constitutes and appoints, John R. Joyce, Edward M. Lineen, Robert F. Woods, Jesse J. Greene,
Jr., Daniel E. O'Donnell, and Andrew Bonzani his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them with full
power to act without the others, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacitied to sign sai
10-K Annual Report and any and all amendments thereto, and any and all other documents in connection therewith, with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power
and authority to do and perform any and all acts and things requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as
fully to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said
attorneys-in-fact and agents or any of them may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Power of Attorney this 25th day of February 2003.

/sl SAMUEL J. PALMISANO

Samuel J. Palmisano
Chairman of the Board, President
and Chief Executive Officer
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POWER OF ATTORNEY OF JOHN R. JOYCE

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned Senior Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer of International Business Machines Corporation, a New York corporation, which will file with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, Washington, D.C., under the provisions of the Securities Law, an Annual Report for 2002 on
Form 10-K, hereby constitutes and appoints Samuel J. Palmisano, Edward M. Lineen, Robert F. Woods, Jesse J. Greene, Jr.,
Daniel E. O'Donnell and Andrew Bonzani his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them with full power
to act without the others, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign said 10-K
Annual Report and any and all amendments thereto, and any and all other documents in connection therewith, with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power
and authority to do and perform any and all acts and things requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as
fully to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said
attorneys-in-fact and agents or any of them may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Power of Attorney this 25th day of February 2003.

/sl JOHN R. JOYCE

John R. Joyce
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
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POWER OF ATTORNEY OF ROBERT F. WOODS

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned Vice President and Controller of International
Business Machines Corporation, a New York corporation, which will file with the Securities and Exchange Commission,
Washington, D.C., under the provisions of the Securities Law, an Annual Report for 2002 on Form 10-K, hereby constitutes
and appoints Samuel J. Palmisano, John R. Joyce, Edward M. Lineen, Jesse J. Greene, Jr., Daniel E. O'Donnell and Andrew
Bonzani his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them with full power to act without the others, for him
or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign said 10-K Annual Report and any and all
amendments thereto, and any and all other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, hereby granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and
perform any and all acts and things requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and
purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents
or any of them may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Power of Attorney this 25th day of February 2003.

/sl ROBERT F. WOODS

Robert F. Woods
Vice President and Controller
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POWER OF ATTORNEY OF IBM DIRECTOR

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned Director of International Business Machines
Corporation, a New York corporation, which will file with the Securities and Exchange Commission, Washington, D.C.,
under the provisions of the Securities Law, an Annual Report for 2002 on Form 10-K, hereby constitutes and appoints
Samuel J. Palmisano, John R. Joyce, Edward M. Lineen, Robert F. Woods, Jesse J. Greene, Jr., Daniel E. O'Donnell and
Andrew Bonzani his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them with full power to act without the others,
for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign said 10-K Annual Report and any and
all amendments thereto, and any and all other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, hereby granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and
perform any and all acts and things requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and
purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents
or any of them may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Power of Attorney this 25th day of February 2003.

/sl CATHLEEN BLACK

Director
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POWER OF ATTORNEY OF IBM DIRECTOR

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned Director of International Business Machines
Corporation, a New York corporation, which will file with the Securities and Exchange Commission, Washington, D.C.,
under the provisions of the Securities Law, an Annual Report for 2002 on Form 10-K, hereby constitutes and appoints
Samuel J. Palmisano, John R. Joyce, Edward M. Lineen, Robert F. Woods, Jesse J. Greene, Jr., Daniel E. O'Donnell and
Andrew Bonzani his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them with full power to act without the others,
for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign said 10-K Annual Report and any and
all amendments thereto, and any and all other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, hereby granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and
perform any and all acts and things requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and
purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents
or any of them may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Power of Attorney this 25th day of February 2003.

/s/ KENNETH I. CHENAULT

Director
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POWER OF ATTORNEY OF IBM DIRECTOR

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned Director of International Business Machines
Corporation, a New York corporation, which will file with the Securities and Exchange Commission, Washington, D.C.,
under the provisions of the Securities Law, an Annual Report for 2002 on Form 10-K, hereby constitutes and appoints
Samuel J. Palmisano, John R. Joyce, Edward M. Lineen, Robert F. Woods, Jesse J. Greene, Jr., Daniel E. O'Donnell and
Andrew Bonzani his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them with full power to act without the others,
for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign said 10-K Annual Report and any and
all amendments thereto, and any and all other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, hereby granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and
perform any and all acts and things requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and
purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents
or any of them may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Power of Attorney this 25th day of February 2003.

/s/ NANNERL O. KEOHANE

Director
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POWER OF ATTORNEY OF IBM DIRECTOR

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned Director of International Business Machines
Corporation, a New York corporation, which will file with the Securities and Exchange Commission, Washington, D.C.,
under the provisions of the Securities Law, an Annual Report for 2002 on Form 10-K, hereby constitutes and appoints
Samuel J. Palmisano, John R. Joyce, Edward M. Lineen, Robert F. Woods, Jesse J. Greene, Jr., Daniel E. O'Donnell and
Andrew Bonzani his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them with full power to act without the others,
for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign said 10-K Annual Report and any and
all amendments thereto, and any and all other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, hereby granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and
perform any and all acts and things requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and
purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents
or any of them may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Power of Attorney this 25th day of February 2003.

Is/ CHARLES F. KNIGHT

Director
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POWER OF ATTORNEY OF IBM DIRECTOR

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned Director of International Business Machines
Corporation, a New York corporation, which will file with the Securities and Exchange Commission, Washington, D.C.,
under the provisions of the Securities Law, an Annual Report for 2002 on Form 10-K, hereby constitutes and appoints
Samuel J. Palmisano, John R. Joyce, Edward M. Lineen, Robert F. Woods, Jesse J. Greene, Jr., Daniel E. O'Donnell and
Andrew Bonzani his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them with full power to act without the others,
for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign said 10-K Annual Report and any and
all amendments thereto, and any and all other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, hereby granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and
perform any and all acts and things requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and
purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents
or any of them may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Power of Attorney this 25th day of February 2003.

/sl LUCIO A. NOTO

Director
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POWER OF ATTORNEY OF IBM DIRECTOR

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned Director of International Business Machines
Corporation, a New York corporation, which will file with the Securities and Exchange Commission, Washington, D.C.,
under the provisions of the Securities Law, an Annual Report for 2002 on Form 10-K, hereby constitutes and appoints
Samuel J. Palmisano, John R. Joyce, Edward M. Lineen, Robert F. Woods, Jesse J. Greene, Jr., Daniel E. O'Donnell and
Andrew Bonzani his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them with full power to act without the others,
for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign said 10-K Annual Report and any and
all amendments thereto, and any and all other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, hereby granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and
perform any and all acts and things requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and
purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents
or any of them may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Power of Attorney this 25th day of February 2003.

/s/ JOHN B. SLAUGHTER

Director
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POWER OF ATTORNEY OF IBM DIRECTOR

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned Director of International Business Machines
Corporation, a New York corporation, which will file with the Securities and Exchange Commission, Washington, D.C.,
under the provisions of the Securities Law, an Annual Report for 2002 on Form 10-K, hereby constitutes and appoints
Samuel J. Palmisano, John R. Joyce, Edward M. Lineen, Robert F. Woods, Jesse J. Greene, Jr., Daniel E. O'Donnell and
Andrew Bonzani his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them with full power to act without the others,
for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign said 10-K Annual Report and any and
all amendments thereto, and any and all other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, hereby granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and
perform any and all acts and things requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and
purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents
or any of them may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Power of Attorney this 25th day of February 2003.

/s/ SIDNEY TAUREL

Director
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POWER OF ATTORNEY OF IBM DIRECTOR

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned Director of International Business Machines
Corporation, a New York corporation, which will file with the Securities and Exchange Commission, Washington, D.C.,
under the provisions of the Securities Law, an Annual Report for 2002 on Form 10-K, hereby constitutes and appoints
Samuel J. Palmisano, John R. Joyce, Edward M. Lineen, Robert F. Woods, Jesse J. Greene, Jr., Daniel E. O'Donnell and
Andrew Bonzani his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them with full power to act without the others,
for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign said 10-K Annual Report and any and
all amendments thereto, and any and all other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, hereby granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and
perform any and all acts and things requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and
purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents
or any of them may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Power of Attorney this 25th day of February 2003.

/sl ALEX TROTMAN

Director
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POWER OF ATTORNEY OF IBM DIRECTOR

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned Director of International Business Machines
Corporation, a New York corporation, which will file with the Securities and Exchange Commission, Washington, D.C.,
under the provisions of the Securities Law, an Annual Report for 2002 on Form 10-K, hereby constitutes and appoints
Samuel J. Palmisano, John R. Joyce, Edward M. Lineen, Robert F. Woods, Jesse J. Greene, Jr., Daniel E. O'Donnell and
Andrew Bonzani his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them with full power to act without the others,
for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign said 10-K Annual Report and any and
all amendments thereto, and any and all other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, hereby granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and
perform any and all acts and things requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and
purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents
or any of them may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Power of Attorney this 25th day of February 2003.

/sl CHARLES M. VEST

Director




Prepared by Merrill Corporation at www.edgaradvantage.com Printed: 10-Mar-2003;14:03:30 (v1.37) HTML Page:
File: QUICKLINK
User: SGUNTHE EFW: 2102367 Client: 1BM CORPORATION Doc# 7

QuickLinks
POWEROF ATTORNEY OF SAMUEL J.PALMISANO

POWEROFATTORNEY OFJOHNR.JOYCE

POWEROFATTORNEY OF ROBERTF. WOODS

POWEROFATTORNEY OFIBM DIRECTOR

POWEROFATTORNEY OFIBM DIRECTOR

POWEROFATTORNEY OFIBM DIRECTOR

POWEROFATTORNEY OFIBM DIRECTOR

POWEROFATTORNEY OFIBM DIRECTOR

POWEROFATTORNEY OFIBM DIRECTOR

POWEROFATTORNEY OFIBM DIRECTOR

POWEROFATTORNEY OFIBM DIRECTOR

POWEROFATTORNEY OFIBM DIRECTOR




Prepared by Merrill Corporation at www.edgaradvantage.com Printed: 10-Mar-2003;14:03:30 (v1.37) HTML Page:
File: [03NYC1807]DOCUMENT-END
EFW: 2102367 Doc# 7

</TEXT>
</DOCUMENT>



Prepared by Merrill Corporation at www.edgaradvantage.com Printed: 10-Mar-2003;14:03:30 (v1.37) HTML Page:
File: [03NYC1807)]DOCUMENT-START

EFW: 2102367

Doc# 8
<DOCUMENT>

<TYPE> EX-24.2
<DESCRIPTION> Exhibit 24.2
<FILENAME>
a2102367zex-24_2.htm
<TEXT>



Prepared by Merrill Corporation at www.edgaradvantage.com Printed: 10-Mar-2003;14:03:30 (v1.37) HTML Page: 1

File: DISK038:[03NYC7.03NY C1807]KL1807A.;3 Created: ;8-MAR-2003;20:35 Chksum: 500983 Folio: BLANK
User: JLAWRENA — EFW: 2102367 Client: 1BM CORPORATION Doc# 8
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RESOLUTION REGARDING FILING FORM 10-K ANNUAL REPORT

RESOLVED, that the Board of Directors authorizes the Officers of the Corporation to execute by powers of attorney
and file the Form 10-K Annual Report for the year 2002 with the Securities and Exchange Commission, and to make any
such changes as such Officers may deem necessary or advisable.
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Exhibit 99.1

INTERNATIONAL BUSINESS MACHINES CORPORATION

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of International Business Machines Corporation (the "Company") on Form 10-K
for the period ending December 31, 2002 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the
"Report"), I, Samuel J. Palmisano, Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. ss. 1350, as adopted pursuant to ss. 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934;
and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial conditiartand res
of operations of the Company.

/sl SAMUEL J. PALMISANO

Samuel J. Palmisano

Chairman, President and Chief Executive
Officer

March 7, 2003
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Exhibit 99.2

INTERNATIONAL BUSINESS MACHINES CORPORATION

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of International Business Machines Corporation (the "Company") on Form 10-K
for the period ending September 30, 2002 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the
"Report"), I, John R. Joyce, Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. ss. 1350das adopte
pursuant to ss. 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial conditiartand res
of operations of the Company.

/s/ JOHN R. JOYCE

John R. Joyce
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
March 6, 2003
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